# APPETITE MEASUREMENT AND INTERINDIVIDUAL VARIABILITY

by

**Eunjin Cheon** 

# **A Dissertation**

Submitted to the Faculty of Purdue University In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the degree of

**Doctor of Philosophy** 



Department of Nutrition Science West Lafayette, Indiana December 2022

# THE PURDUE UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL STATEMENT OF COMMITTEE APPROVAL

# Dr. Richard D. Mattes, Chair

Department of Nutrition Science

**Dr. Cordelia A. Running** Department of Nutrition Science

# **Dr. Nilupa S. Gunaratna** Department of Public Health

# Dr. Bruce R. Hamaker

Department of Food Science

# Approved by:

Dr. Laura E. Murray-Kolb

To my dear husband, Jin-Myoung, and my fur baby, CoCo, who have lovingly supported me through this long journey, and my friends, family, and everyone who helped me along the way.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my advisor Dr. Richard Mattes for his guidance and support throughout my doctoral training. You show a perfect example of a great scientist and mentor. Your constructive and insightful advice promotes my critical thinking skills, and your scientific passion motivates me to be a better scientist. Even when I fell into a slump, your positive energy and thoughtful words encouraged me to overcome the hardship. It was my honor to have learned from you and I hope I can impart what you've taught me to others.

I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to my committee members, Dr. Bruce Hamaker, Dr. Nilupa Gunaratna, and Dr. Cordelia Running for providing their insights and supporting me with thoughtful words. Your profound comments and suggestions broadened my perspectives and enabled me to complete my dissertation successfully.

I am also very grateful to all of my participants. Thank you for baring my emails and following study instructions. My research wouldn't have been possible without you.

I also sincerely thanks to all of the past and present INP faculties for training me with challenging coursework and encourage me to overcome my limitations. Especially, I would like to thank Dr. James Fleet who helped me to move forward when I lost my way.

Special thanks to my wonderful lab members and office mates past and present: Judy George, Jasmine (Li-Chu) Huang, Kelly Higgins, Stephanie Hunger, Evan Reister, Breanna McArthur, Lissa Davis, Olivia Coelho, and Kirsten Rhine who were willing to participate in my pilot studies and shared a lot of delicious and fun memories. Thank you for being willing to taste fatty acid solutions, sharing your thoughts, and making my graduate life full of fun and delicious memories.

I also cannot express my thanks enough to all my friend at Purdue, and especially my Korean friends: Sonya (Sunhye) Shin, Chae Hyun Yum, Shinyoung Jun, Suji Im, Sora Kim, Julia (Mun Sun) Choi, Daehan Lee, Eunjin Kim, Sooyeon Choi, Soo Won Shim, Wan Hee Kim, Yeolhong Kim, Somin Hu, Paul Lee, Father Jinsung Park and Father Jiho Son who care me with genuine empathy and prayers. Thank you for helping me to get used to the new environment and to overcome many hardships during my PhD. I really appreciate our friendship and memories we shared together. I'm deeply indebted to my family. My dear husband, Jin-Myoung, and my fur-baby, CoCo: you make me smile, laugh, and happy. Thank you for driving many hours from Texas to see me every two weeks and standing by my side through all the highs and lows. I can't wait for the next journey with you. My parents, grandparents, Eunjeong, and Eunhyeop: your unconditional love and countless prayers cheer me up to complete my doctoral degree. Thank you for believing in my abilities even when I didn't. Last, but not least, thank you, dear God as always!

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
ABSTRACT
CHAPTER1. LITERATURE REVIEW
1.1 Appetite and Ingestive Behavior
1.1.1 Definition of Appetitive Sensations
a. Hunger Sensations
b. Fullness Sensations14
c. Thirst Sensations14
d. Other Appetitive Sensations15
1.1.2 Appetitive Sensations and Energy Intake15
1.2 Appetite Determinants
1.2.1. Biological Determinants
a. Obesity17
b. Gender
c. Age
d. Gastrointestinal peptides19
e. Genetic Influences
1.2.2. Environmental & Psychological Determinants
a. Diet (Macronutrient Composition)
b. Eating pattern (eating frequency and portion size)
c. Psychological Influences
1.3 Appetite Measurements
1.3.1. Methods of Appetite Measurements
1.3.1. Methodological Limitations
1.4 Intra- and Inter-individual Variability of Appetitive Sensations
CHAPTER 2. STUDY RATIONALE
CHAPTER 3. METHODS
3.1 Participants

3.2 Protocol
3.3 Anthropometrics
3.4 Appetite Lexicon Training
3.5 Appetite Sensation Assessment
3.6 Physical Activity Assessment
3.7 Dietary Assessment
CHAPTER 4. APPETITE VARIABILITY, EATING PATTERN, AND ENERGY INTAKE 35
4.1 Footnotes
4.2 Abstract
4.3 Introduction
4.4 Methods
4.4.1 Participants
4.4.2 Protocol
4.4.3 Anthropometrics
4.4.4 Appetite Lexicon Training
4.4.5 Appetite Sensation Assessment
4.4.6 Physical Activity Assessment
4.4.7 Dietary Assessment
4.4.8 Data Analysis
Aim1: Determine the magnitude and consistency of appetitive sensations (hunger, fullness,
and thirst) between individuals
Aim2: Relationships between AS and energy intake and between AS and eating patterns.40
Aim3: Individuals characteristics (sex, age, BMI) among AS tertiles
4.5 Results
4.5.1 Participants
4.5.2 Appetite Variation Within and Between Individuals
4.5.3 Relationship between Appetitive Sensations and Energy Intake
4.5.4 Appetitive Sensations and Energy intake
4.5.5 Relationship between Eating Patterns (Eating Frequency / Portion Size) and Appetitive
Sensations
4.6 Discussion

4.7 Supplementary Tables and Figures	
CHAPTER 5. APPETITE CONCEPT TRAINING AND VALIDITY OF APPET	TTE
MEASUREMENT	
5.1 Footnotes	
5.2 Introduction	
5.3 Methods	69
5.3.1 Participants	69
5.3.2 Protocol	69
5.3.3 Anthropometrics	
5.3.4 Appetite Lexicon Training	
5.3.5 Appetite Ratings	71
5.3.6 Statistical analysis	71
5.4 Results	71
5.4.1 Participants	71
5.4.2 Confusions on appetite concepts	
5.4.3 Correlation between appetitive sensations before and after training	
5.4.4 Repeatability ratings before and after training	74
5.4.5 Preload effect on appetitive sensations	75
5.5 Discussion	
CHAPTER 6. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTION	
6.1 Summary and Conclusions	
6.2 Future Directions	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX A. Study materials of appetite variability study	
APPENDIX B. Study materials of appetite training study	
APPENDIX C. Perceptual Quality of Non-Esterified Fatty Acids Varies with Fat	ty Acid Chain
Length	
Footnotes	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and methods	

Participants	
Procedures	
Samples	
Statistical Analysis	
Results	
Overall Taste Intensity Ratings	
Text Quality Description	190
Location of Taste Sensations	191
Discussion	
VITA	

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Characteristics of participants
Table 2. Demographic characteristics of appetite tertile groups
Table 3. Mean appetite changes 1-hour before and after Meals (%) 49
Table 4. Energy intake of appetite tertile groups 53
Table 5. Regression analysis between energy intake and BMI of appetite tertile groups    53
Table S 1. Characteristics of clusters for each appetitive sensation    64
Table 6. Characteristics of participants
Table 7. Pearson's correlation coefficients between appetitive sensations before and after training      74      74
Table 8. Test-retest repeatability in appetitive sensations with a mixed meal before and after a concept training
Table F 1. Concentrations of fatty acids for liquid samples.    191

# LIST OF FIGURES

# ABSTRACT

Appetitive sensations are widely viewed as important signals for eating decisions. Intraand inter-individual variability have been reported in short-term studies, but it is still unknown whether individual differences are consistent over time and, whether individuals at the appetite extremes vary in energy intake. Therefore, a seventeen-week observational study was conducted to examine the stability of appetitive sensations (hunger, fullness, and thirst), implications of individual differences in appetite on energy intake and eating patterns, as well as associations between appetitive sensations and selected individual characteristics (age, gender, BMI). Ninetyseven (90 completers) healthy adults recorded the intensity of their hunger, fullness, and thirst hourly during all waking hours for three days at weeks 1, 9 and 17. There were marked and stable inter-individual differences for each sensation over the 17 weeks: hunger (ANOVA, p<0.001, correlation coefficients of ratings between weeks: week 1 vs week 9, r=0.72 (p<0.001), week 1 vs week 17, r=0.67 (p<0.001), week 9 vs week 17, r=0.77 (p<0.001)), fullness (ANOVA, p<0.001, correlation coefficients of ratings between weeks: week 1 vs week 9 r=0.74 (p<0.001), week 1 vs week 17, r=0.71 (p<0.001), week 9 vs week 17, r=0.81 (p<0.001)), and thirst (ANOVA, p<0.001, correlation coefficients of ratings between weeks: week 1 vs week 9 r=0.82 (p<0.001), week 1 vs week 17, r=0.81 (p<0.001), week 9 vs week 17, r=0.88 (p<0.001)). Cross-correlation functions revealed energy intake and eating pattern exerted stronger effects on appetitive sensations than the reverse. However, the absolute effect sizes of the directional effects were small. No robust effects of the studied individual characteristics (gender, age, BMI) were observed. The primary finding is that acute and chronic sensations of hunger, fullness and thirst are stable across individuals, but are poor predictors of energy intake.

# CHAPTER1. LITERATURE REVIEW

#### **1.1 Appetite and Ingestive Behavior**

Appetitive sensations and ingestive behavior are functionally related. It is assumed that when food is accessible, these sensations are important drivers of food choice and energy intake with implications for health and well-being. In addition to high intra-individual variability, there are marked inter-individual differences in appetitive sensations (1-3). This is attributable to biological (e.g., energy, endocrine, metabolic status) (4–6) and environmental (e.g., sensory cues, time, social custom) (7–10) determinants. Thus, understanding the nature of appetitive sensations, what influences them and their impact on ingestive behavior is vital for management of energy balance. These issues will be critically reviewed below focusing on intra- and inter individual variability of specific appetitive sensations (hunger, fullness, and thirst).

#### **1.1.1 Definition of Appetitive Sensations**

#### a. Hunger Sensations

Hunger is a sensation that motivates the initiation of food intake and stems from energy needs. Bodily sensations of hunger are generally unpleasant and when sufficiently strong, trigger eating. Though universally experienced and quantifiable at any point in time, the nature of the sensation is poorly characterized. Traditionally, hunger sensations have been localized to the stomach, but hunger is not lost or even markedly altered following gastrectomy (11). In fact, based on selfreports, hunger sensations have also been attributed to other body sites (11–14). In one study using a preset checklist of sensations (11), 800 participants described their physical sensations of hunger under hypothetical fasting conditions with varying durations. Ninety percent of participants who imagined being extremely hungry identified primarily gastric sensations while thirty percent of participants experienced two or more bodily sensations in the mouth, throat, and/or head (11). Similarly, in another trial using open-ended questionnaires instead of a preset checklist (12,13), 83 participants marked where they felt hunger on a human body (male or female) illustration under hypothetical conditions of mild to intense hunger. Participants reported fifteen sensations including stomach growls, stomach aches, weakness, headaches, pain, dizziness, and anxiety (12). While the abdominal area was the most commonly cited area regardless of degree of hunger (about 48 - 87 % of responses), the proportion of other body areas increased, especially head (about 12 - 24 % of responses), as hunger increased. Some studies report that restlessness and excitability accompany gastric sensations (11), but this was not supported in other work (15). Psychological components such as anxiety, dizziness, lack of concentration on tasks are also described as hunger sensations (11,13–15). Therefore, feeling "hunger" embodies multiple physical and psychological sensations.

### **b.** Fullness Sensations

Fullness is a sensation that contributes to the termination of eating. Gastric distention and feelings of satisfaction and relaxation are reported to be the primary symptoms of the fullness sensation (11,14,16). One study developed subjective terms to define fullness symptoms with eighteen participants and all agreed that fullness sensations are mainly physical sensations (16). Under increasingly intense conditions, fullness is rated as gastric stretch to stomach pain and under intense conditions respiratory sensations emerge with comments of difficulty breathing (14). Psychological sensations of fullness were more positive (satisfaction, comfortable, happiness, reenergized, ability to focus on tasks) under typical fullness. However, participants reported negative psychological sensations (sick of food, feeling of disgust with self, regret) under extreme fullness (14). In some work, psychological feelings of fullness after a large meal differed in men and women (14). Women felt regret and disgust towards themselves for having consumed so much food while men felt achievement and satisfaction from finishing a large meal (14). However, other work failed to confirm this (17). Satisfaction is a term that relates to fullness and is expected to be associated with eating termination, but its meaning is vague. For example, satisfaction has been characterized as an indication of physical fullness, while some consider pleasure as a more appropriate descriptor (18,19).

### c. Thirst Sensations

Thirst is also considered as one of the main appetitive sensations. Thirst is mainly related to the hydrational status of the body and motivates drinking through negative symptoms including mouth dryness, and bodily fatigue (20–22). People become thirsty in response to declining

hydration level, which leads to drinking before body fluid deficits develop (23). These sensations motivate drinking fluids and drinking beverages other than water or diet soda can contribute to energy intake (24–26). The proportion of the energy intake from caloric beverages is substantive (about 13% of energy) although energy intake from beverages has declined in both the US and Canada (27,28). Moreover, there has been an argument that thirst is associated with hunger (1) and food intake (27,28). Therefore, measuring and managing thirst is also important.

### d. Other Appetitive Sensations

In addition to hunger and fullness, desire to eat and prospective consumption are major components of appetitive sensations. Desire to eat is also an index of motivation to initiate an eating event but stems more from cognitive and sensory cues. Unlike hunger, desire to eat is sensitive to food related cues (e.g., appetizing aroma and appearance of foods) and often explains eating without hunger (29,30). Thus, desire to eat may stimulate consumption of more calories than necessary (30) but other work has failed to support this (31). Prospective consumption refers to the anticipated portion that may be consumed. It is often related to food serving size. Prospective consumption and serving size are positively associated in several studies (26,32) but not others (33,34).

#### **1.1.2** Appetitive Sensations and Energy Intake

Appetitive sensations are generally assumed to be associated with food intake. This was evaluated in a meta-analysis that combined appetite ratings and subsequent energy intake data from twenty- three randomized controlled trials (RCT). They examined the relationship between appetite and energy intake using correlation analysis, energy intake prediction equations, and minimum differences in visual analogue scale (VAS) scores impacting energy intake (35). Correlation coefficients differed markedly between studies. Median correlation coefficients for each pre-meal appetitive sensation and subsequent *ab libitum* energy intake showed only weak-moderate strength (hunger and energy intake:  $r \approx 0.25$ , fullness and energy intake:  $r \approx -0.25$ ). The best fit model for energy intake prediction included pre-meal hunger ratings, basal metabolic rate, body weight, gender, and age. Estimated energy intake increased by 5.3% for each 10 mm increases in pre-meal hunger ratings. This predictive model accounted for 25% of the total

variability in EI (kcal) and 19% of the variability without hunger ratings. Lastly, minimum differences in pre-meal hunger ratings impacting *ab libitum* EI were calculated. Rating intervals were grouped into either 5, 10, 15, 20, and 25 mm. For each grouped interval, corresponding mean energy intakes were compared using the least significant difference test (e.g., energy intake of 0-5 mm, 5-10 mm, 10-15 mm etc.). An interval of appetite difference of at least 15 mm in hunger ratings was required to yield a statistically significant impact on energy intake. Overall, results from this study proposed that hunger ratings can be a weak proxy for energy intake. However, it was a secondary analysis with different preload-test meals. Also, it is unclear whether higher hunger caused greater energy intake or is a result of less energy intake at the previous eating event because there is a lack of information on fasting status before administration of the pre-load-test meals.

However, a recent systematic literature review reported that appetite ratings are not a good proxy of energy intake (36). The review identified 462 studies that assessed energy intake and appetite ratings. 49% of studies demonstrated an association between self-reported appetite ratings and energy intake while 51% of the studies there was no significant association between appetite scores and energy intake. Among the studies showing a link between appetite ratings and energy intake, 24% reported both appetite ratings and energy intake were not changed from the baseline. Since this double negative does not always imply both measures are correlated, if double negative studies are excluded, the number of studies with a significant correlation decline to 37%. Inconsistent results may stem from multiple variables, including cognitive and environmental factors other than appetite sensations, that guide eating decisions (37–40).

In one study participants recorded hunger ratings every waking hour and daily energy intake for 7 consecutive days (41). Correlations between hunger ratings and energy intake were significant, albeit moderate (range of r: 0.44 - 0.7) during weekdays. However, correlations were not significant during weekends when the normal structure of the work week was not guiding eating patterns. No significant correlations were observed within individuals between absolute or change of hunger over 1, 2 or 3 hours and energy intake nor for the number of eating occasions. Indeed, eating occurred more often when hunger was low or eating did not occur when hunger was high more often than when the expected relationship (e.g., high hunger led to intake) was observed. Moreover, hunger sensations seem to adapt to changed eating patterns or energy balance. Hunger signals do not continuously increase with long-periods of energy deficit (42). Even though hunger increased for few days after energy restriction, hunger sensations returned to baseline levels within 4-8 weeks (42). Alternatively, when a snack was provided outside of regular meal times for five days, hunger ratings around the snaking time increased compared to hunger ratings prior to the intervention (43). Further research on appetite adaptation variability between individuals is required. Another explanation may be that individuals have different orientations to appetitive sensations (14). For example, one may enjoy fullness and decide to keep eating even though one feels high fullness. Also, one may strongly dislike fullness and decide to stop eating even though one feels only slight fullness. A qualitative study on attitudes towards appetitive sensations will allow the discovery of meaning beyond the number of appetite ratings.

#### **1.2** Appetite Determinants

A robust literature exists for identification of factors that may influence appetitive sensations. The suggestive determinants are broadly divided into internal and external factors. Here, biological and environmental/psychological determinants will be reviewed followed by a consideration of next steps to understand appetite variability within and between individuals.

#### **1.2.1. Biological Determinants**

### a. Obesity

Reports of associations between appetitive sensations and obesity are mixed (4,44,45). Some reports indicate individuals with obesity experience greater hunger and less fullness compared to individuals who are lean (44,45), but others do not support this finding (2,4,46). In addition, psychological traits such as impulsivity (47) and high disinhibition (48) rather than hunger may better explain BMI trajectories. The impact of BMI on desire to eat is also unclear (30,49).

Differences in fullness between individuals with varying weight status have been investigated under different levels of energy intake. In overfeeding conditions, individuals with obesity who lost weight but were still overweight reported less reduction in hunger and a lesser increment in fullness compared to controls (50). Alternatively, other works show no significant differences in fullness with normal feeding, overfeeding, or underfeeding between individuals with obesity versus lean individuals (51,52). These mixed results indicate that individuals with obesity

do not experience clearly different fullness sensations compared to those who are lean. Alternatively, these mixed findings may be due to measurement errors that will be discussed in the appetite measurement chapters (chapter 1.3 and chapter 5).

## b. Gender

Some previous studies have suggested that there are differences between men and women in appetitive sensations. Mean fullness ratings of women are reportedly higher than men, and mean hunger, desire to eat, and prospective consumption ratings are lower (5,53,54). In one trial, 50% overfeeding resulted in a significantly greater reduction of pre-meal hunger in women compared to the reduction in men (44). The gender differences may due to the ability to inhibit brain activation by food stimuli (55) or different cognitive and emotional processing of hunger and satiation (54,56,57). Overall, appetitive sensations of women seem to change more markedly in response to a meal. There are nuances to this view in that women in the ovulatory phase felt less hungry than women in the menstrual phase (58,59). In contrast, other studies fail to report sexbased differences in either fasting (53,60) or post-prandial state (3,55,56).

### c. Age

It has been also suggested that ageing is associated with early fullness and there is a biological basis for a decline in hunger and meal intake (5,61–63). According to a meta-analysis, older adults (aged 60–88 years) rated their hunger 25% and 39% lower after overnight fasting and in a postprandial state, respectively, and their fullness 39% and 37% greater after overnight fasting and in a postprandial state, respectively, than younger adults (aged 22-50 years) (61). Physiological changes that occur with ageing can cause difference in appetitive sensations including changes to the digestive system (64), hormonal changes (65), disease (64,66–69), pain (70), changes to the sense of smell, taste and vision (66,68), medication use (71) and a decreased need for energy (72–74). While these changes may be responsible for the declining appetite with ageing, the changes attributable to ageing itself remain equivocal and inconsistent (64,66,68,75,76). Most of the findings are based on one-day observations or short-term assessments. Long-term studies are required to confirm the impact of ageing on appetitive sensations.

#### d. Gastrointestinal peptides

Endocrine processes in the GI tract may also be involved in appetite regulation. Multiple peptides are secreted in the GI tract following nutrient stimulation and reportedly modulate appetite. Cholecystokinin (CCK), Peptide tyrosine tyrosine (PYY), and Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) are related to fullness, and ghrelin is the only gut peptide that purportedly triggers a hunger cue (6,77). These gut peptides may work by paracrine and/or endocrine mechanisms.

CCK was the first discovered gut peptide related to appetite regulation and it reportedly functions primarily as a fullness signal (78). CCK is secreted from the endocrine I cells throughout the small intestine but mostly in the duodenum in response to nutrients (79,80). Circulating CCK activates the hindbrain by binding to vagal neurons, which integrates fullness sensations as well as hedonic signals, and other signals from different parts of the brain including the hypothalamus, where appetite signals are regulated (81,82). CCK also delays gastric emptying (83–85). However, the effect of CCK on appetitive sensations are unclear. Several studies report CCK infusion at greater than physiology doses are related to reduced hunger, increased fullness, and reduced food intake (86-88), while other studies revealed lowered meal sizes without influencing appetitive feelings (89-91). Interestingly, few reported that injected CCK did not augment plasma level in human while food intake was reduced (91,92). In addition, the roles of CCK in mediating appetite under physiological conditions are questionable (85). There is marked interindividual variation in appetite sensations corresponding to plasma CCK level (85). Only three out of nine individuals showed negative a correlations with hunger and plasma CCK levels and only four out of nine had positive correlations with fullness and plasma CCK levels (85). This may be due to contributions of other peptides affecting appetite like PYY and GLP-1 which have a role in stimulating fullness signals. The endocrine controls of appetite are highly integrated and redundant. Further studies involving co-administration of CCK with other gut peptides at physiological levels are required to strengthen the existing.

GLP-1 is another gut peptide associated with the sensation of fullness. It is released from L-cells located in both small and large intestine in response to all macronutrients (93–95). GLP-1 infusion at physiological doses enhance fullness and reduce energy intake (96,97). In addition, differences in plasma GLP-1 concentrations were related to differences in fullness (r=0.38, p<0.05), but not hunger (p>0.05) and *ab libitum* energy intake (97). However, other studies failed to find an effect of GLP-1 on fullness or energy intake (89,98). One potential mechanism by which

GLP-1 regulates appetite and food intake is by slowing gastric emptying and inhibiting gastric acid secretion (99,100). However, appetite reduction induced by GLP-1 administration is also observed in fasting state, which contradicts this potential mechanism (101). The role of GLP-1 on fluid intake by increasing sodium excretion has been suggested (102,103), but further studies with larger sample sizes are required to confirm this potential role.

Like GLP-1, PYY is synthesized by a posttranslational modification in L-cells and binds to Y receptors on afferent neurons inducing satiety (Michel 1998). PYY infusion at supraphysiologic levels reduces hunger and food intake (104). However, this effect was not found with physiological infusions of PYY as measured by meal size as well as fullness and hunger sensations (105,106). In addition, average baseline PYY levels were not significantly correlated with either *ab libitum* meal intake, fullness, or hunger ratings regardless of the macronutrient compositions of meals (107). Similarly, the reported effect of PYY is to reduce gastric emptying at supraphysiologic doses but not at physiological doses (108). Thus, current evidence does not consistently support the effect of GLP-1 on energy intake and appetitive sensations.

To date, ghrelin is the only known gut peptide that purportedly stimulates hunger sensations (6). Enteroendocrine cells in stomach produce ghrelin (109) and there are two forms of ghrelin: acylated ghrelin (active form) and non-acylated ghrelin (inactivate form) (110). Acylated ghrelin reportedly works as hunger stimulus via the vagus nerve (110,111). The level of the ghrelin rises sharply before a meal and falls within one hour of meal completion, indicating its effect is initiation of a meal rather than controlling meal size (112). However, like other peptides, the effect of ghrelin on food intake was only significant with injection of supraphysiologic doses. Other work indicates ghrelin injection does not affect hunger ratings at either physiological or supraphysiological doses (113,114). It has been suggested that supraphysiologic ghrelin infusion may enhance food hedonics rather than hunger (115). Moreover, ghrelin also increases GI motility in the fasting state (116,117) and the rate of gastric emptying in rats (117). Whether these effects are relevant in humans is uncertain.

Taken together, manipulation of gut peptides can affect appetitive sensations and food intake by supraphysiological dosing. However, it is still unclear whether gut peptides alone under physiological conditions exert an essential role in appetite regulation and food intake. In addition, gut peptides might reflect expected portion size and/or fullness based on previous experiences rather than gut peptides modulate energy intake or appetitive sensations (118–120). Further

research on the relationship between learning and gut peptides with human is required to confirm this hypothesis.

#### e. Genetic Influences

The heritability of appetite sensations or appetite traits has been investigated in studies with twins. A prospective study compared appetitive traits between monozygotic and dizygotic twin infants using the baby eating behavior questionnaire revealed a higher correlation in satiety responses, slowness in eating, and food responsiveness between monozygotic infants compared to dizygotic infants suggesting a genetic contribution to appetitive sensations (121). Specific genetic variants have been associated with appetite variability (122–126). The FTO gene is one prominent gene reportedly related to appetite regulation. Several studies report that a genetic polymorphism in FTO is associated with satiety sensitivity (124,125), hunger (123) and energy intake (122,126) in both children and adults. However, recent findings fail to confirm a contribution of FTO gene variants to appetite variability in healthy adults (2,51). Even though fasting and postprandial appetite variation was observed between individuals who were lean or had obesity, there was no association between variations in FTO gene expression and appetite. Taken together, the role of the FTO gene in appetite sensations is still not clear and further elucidation on specific genes influencing appetite variability between individuals should be examined. However, given the small contribution of genetics to obesity (5-10% of variance in adiposity) (127), any genetic effect on appetitive sensation would likely be small.

Any genetic predispositions may be reshaped by individual environmental influences (128–132). At childhood, genetic influences outweigh environmental influences (131,133). A twin study investigated appetite traits of 5435 twin pairs 8 - 11 years of age using Child Eating Behavior Questionnaire (CEBQ) (131). Genetic influences on appetite traits (in contrast to direct assessments) were greater (63% for satiety responsiveness, 75% for food cue responsiveness (enjoyment of food)) than shared (21% for satiety responsiveness and 10% for enjoyment of food) and non-shared environmental influences (16% for satiety responsiveness and 15% for enjoyment of food) on appetite traits (131). In contrast, environmental influences were greater over time (128,134). Parenting style in childhood was associated with eating behavior and appetite traits (135). A one-year longitudinal study examined the association between parenting styles of 1275 children (mean age = 9 years) and their appetitive traits measured by questionnaire. They

constructed five parenting styles: the authoritative (high support, high behavioral control, low psychological control), permissive (high support, low behavioral control, low psychological control), authoritarian (low support, high behavioral control, low psychological control), rejecting (low support, low behavioral control, high psychological control) and neglecting (low support, low behavioral control, low psychological control) parenting styles. There was a negative association between food-avoidant appetitive traits and child BMI only in children of permissive parents, while neglecting parenting strengthened the positive association between food-approaching appetitive traits and weight gain (135). In addition, one trial with adults (34 – 78 years) collected Eating Inventory Questionnaire data, including disinhibition, hunger, and restraint from female monozygotic twins (n=129) and female dizygotic twins (n=81). They reported that specific environmental influences were greater than genetic influences for hunger (76% and 8%, respectively), disinhibition (55% and 45%, respectively), and restraint (69% and 0%, respectively) (128). Therefore, while appetite traits are heritable, those inherent traits are modified by environment factors over time.

### 1.2.2. Environmental & Psychological Determinants

### a. Diet (Macronutrient Composition)

Macronutrients are the source of dietary energy, and each has a unique metabolism that could theoretically differentially influence appetite. One mechanism entails modulation of gut peptides related to appetite regulation (such as CCK, GLP-1, PYY, and ghrelin). For example, carbohydrate and protein suppress ghrelin levels more effectively than fat in adults (8,136). However, hunger and fullness do not differ following ingestion of predominantly protein-, carbohydrate-, or fat-containing foods (8) or beverages (136). Alternatively, it has been proposed that supplementing a meal with fat can lower hunger and elevated fullness (137), but this also has not supported by other studies (138). Protein has often been thought as the most satiating macronutrient but a thorough review revealed that higher-protein interventions reduced hunger and promoted fullness in only 35% and 55% of acute feeding studies in humans, respectively (139). Taken together, cumulative evidence fails to support a robust role of diet composition in modulating appetitive sensations.

### b. Eating pattern (eating frequency and portion size)

The interaction between the total number of eating events (eating frequency) and the energy per eating event (portion size) determines total energy intake. Without precise reciprocal compensation, increases or decreases in either component can lead to energy imbalance and weight change (140–142). Thus, both components are important targets for interventions to manage body weight (143–148).

Intuitively, larger portion sizes lead to greater fullness. However, empirical evidence for this is inconsistent (32,149–151). Although individuals generally consume more energy with larger portion sizes, there often are no differences in hunger and fullness ratings after relatively larger and smaller meal sizes (32,150–152). In addition, either reducing or increasing portion size does not consistently evoke compensatory eating (32,152) indicating modified portion size and appetitive sensations are not reliably linked to energy intake. Thus, the effect of portion size on appetitive sensations is vague and the effect of chronic inter-individual appetite differences on portion size is still unknown.

It is also not clear whether different eating frequencies lead to reliable differences of appetite sensations or regulation of energy intake. Some studies show that increased eating frequency more than 3 meals per day lowers the peak of hunger and greater fullness in some studies (153). Contradictory result have been obtained from another study where eating six times per day increased hunger ratings and decreased fullness ratings compared with 2 meals per day (154). Similarly, reducing eating frequency increased hunger and lowered fullness in some studies (147,155) but not others (148,156,157). Compensatory eating also was not observed with modified eating frequency (158,159). Food forms (solid liquid) (140,149) or habitual or social environments (160–162), rather than appetitive sensation, may mediate the effects of eating frequency or portion size on energy intake. Though a convincing case may be made that frequency of eating is directly related to energy intake and BMI (163,164), it is not clear that this can be attributed to a contribution of appetitive sensations. It could be true that there is no association between appetitive sensations and eating patterns or a current limitation in appetite measurement (detail discussion in chapter 5) may hamper collecting reliable data to determine a genuine relationship between appetitive sensations and eating patterns.

## c. Psychological Influences

Previous eating experiences build expectation about appetite sensations. These expectations can modulate appetite ratings with the isocaloric foods (38,165,166). For example, in one trial, a plate of fruit was shown to participants telling them how much fruit is included in a fruit smoothie (165). Half of the participants saw a large portion of fruit and the other half saw a small portion of fruit (165). Even though the same amount of fruits was used and consumed, participants who saw the large portion of fruits had greater expected satiety, lower hunger, and greater fullness over time (165). Similar results have been found in other studies with food label information (167,168). Actual or expected physical properties of foods (e.g., beverage viscosity (169,170), and food form (38,149)) can affect appetitive sensations regardless of the energy content of foods. Given that every individual will have different food experiences and, as a consequence, different expectations about the post-ingestive effects of consuming an item, the importance of this is a source of variation on ingestive behavior will likely require individualized assessment.

#### **1.3 Appetite Measurements**

#### **1.3.1.** Methods of Appetite Measurements

Each appetitive sensation comprises multiple bodily sensations and these vary between individuals. Subjective measurements are taken of individualized bodily sensations and are expressed numerically (171). Most commonly, participants are asked to mark the strength of their appetitive sensations by answering questions such as: 'how hungry do you feel now?' for hunger, 'how full do you feel now?' for fullness, 'how strong is your desire to eat now?' for desire to eat, 'how much do you think you can eat now?' for prospective consumption, and 'how thirsty do you feel now?' for thirst (172).

Various types of response scales and questionnaires have been used for measuring subjective appetitive sensations. Visual analogue scales (VAS) are most widely used. VAS is a continuous line scale with end anchors of descriptors such as 'not at all' to 'extremely'. Ratings are interpreted by measuring the distance from one anchor to the respondent's mark. Recently, online software has reduced the researchers' coding burden and error rate by measuring the distance electronically. The validity of electronic recordings have been established (172,173). The strength of VAS is that they provide convenient, and rapidly administered measurement. The weakness is that respondents

must understand the line that represents a personal perception of an abstract concept (174). Thus, clear, and careful definition of measuring concepts and repeated measurement are important for using VAS. However, the most common method of measuring appetite is to ask untrained individuals to self-report appetitive sensations under the premise that they comprehend the concept of appetitive sensations. Alternatively, categorical scales comprised of a limited number of response options ranging from two to many categories may be used. Compared to VAS, categorical scales are easy and familiar response scales so requires less cognitive burden while the categorical interval may have too small number of options to capture actual level of perception (175). Thus it is hard to discriminate perceptual difference between two sequential categories at the low and high ends of the scale (175). Response scales may be monotonic or bipolar with a neutral point in the middle. The latter are most often used when there are an odd number of categories. Open-ended questionnaires may also be used to explore qualitative aspects of appetitive sensations such as bodily sensations (12,14,15). There have been attempts to identify biomarkers as more objective indices (e.g., gut peptides) while, as discussed above, most of biomarkers have not proven successfully (176,177).

#### **1.3.1.** Methodological Limitations

A fundamental limitation of measuring subjective appetitive sensations is relying on untrained respondents who may lack understanding of appetite concepts and terminology (178). One common confusion is that respondents view hunger and fullness as opposite sensations on a single continuum (1,14,156). That is, as one's hunger decreases, their fullness increases, and vice versa. Thus, the sum of hunger ratings and fullness ratings is approximately 100 % of the scale (1,156). However, this is not because they are causally reciprocally associated, but because both sensations usually fluctuate in opposite directions with food intake (179). They are independent sensations, driven by different physiological and behavioral processes and serv different purposes (i.e., hunger drive eating frequency while fullness influence portion size). For example, when people are hungry and drink a glass of water, their fullness increases but hunger may not be diminished (26). Indeed, individuals may report they sometimes felt both high hunger and fullness sensations at the same time (14). Another common confusion of appetite concepts is that hunger and desire to eat are similar sensations (156,180). Desire to eat can be stable or fluctuate when hunger decreases. Common experience indicates snacking and eating in the absence of hunger are

common (181). These underlying confusions challenge the validity of appetite ratings obtained from naïve study participants as well as the interpretation from the ratings. Better understanding of appetitive terms through concept training may improve the validity of appetite ratings but this remains to be demonstrated.

Another primary limitation of subjective ratings are underlying assumptions about temporal changes (178). It is often assumed that in the absence of eating/drinking, appetitive sensations increase in a predictable way over time. However, the overnight fast is typically the longest interval between eating events and peak daily hunger is rarely reported at this time (182). Further, knowledge of food portions (small versus large portion), and food forms (thin versus thick liquid, solid verses liquid), at the last eating event may alter responses over time (38,165,183). Expectations of the effects of upcoming meals may also alter sensations (182,184).

To overcome the limitations of subjective ratings, more objective biomarkers of appetitive sensations have been explored (178,185). Several metabolites have been proposed as biomarkers for appetitive sensations including glucose, fatty acids and amino acids (186–188). Endocrine indices have also been proposed as objective markers of appetite. Considerable attention has been focused on insulin, and gut peptides (185,189). The carbohydrate-insulin model postulates that a high carbohydrate diet promotes fat storing through elevated insulin concentrations, and this induces energy intake, in part, by increasing hunger (190). The carbohydrate-insulin hypothesis holds that there is a negative correlation between blood glucose concentration and hunger (186), or positive correlation between glucose level and fullness ratings (187) and positive correlation between insulin level and hunger ratings (191,192). However, there is no difference in hunger or fullness following independent modulation of either glucose or insulin during euglycemic clamp studies (193,194), indicating the relationships are not casual but associative.

As discussed above, nutrient signaling in the gastrointestinal (GI) tract stimulates the release of a wide array of peptides that have been linked to appetite (195). The question is whether they are simply associated with appetitive sensations or play a causal role and how robust are the relationships. Most studies explore these hormones by injecting them, often in non-physiological does or temporal patterns, and monitor appetitive sensations. However, findings are inconsistent and it is unclear whether such non-physiological conditions reveal effects that would occur under naturalistic conditions (77,189,195). The relationships between gut peptide levels and appetite ratings are inconsistent. Further, they are known to interact with other hormones, such as insulin (196), and are sensitive to diet composition (107). While the high-protein diet induced higher PYY and GLP-1 secretion compared to the isocaloric high-carbohydrate and high-fat diets, appetitive sensations or subsequent energy intake were not different among the diet conditions (176,177). These findings indicate that assessing one or two measurable biomarkers is not sufficient to fully explain the complexity of appetite regulation based on current evidence.

#### 1.4 Intra- and Inter-individual Variability of Appetitive Sensations

Marked intra- and inter-individual variations have been documented in self-reported appetite ratings (1–3,197). In one observational study (1), participants (39 Female, 11 Male; mean  $\pm$  SD age 30±11 years; BMI 26.3±5.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) recorded hunger and thirst ratings hourly throughout the day for seven consecutive days. As expected, hunger and thirst ratings fluctuated over the day within individuals (about 30 - 85 mm, and about 15 -60 mm on a 100 mm scale, respectively), but the variations of mean hunger and thirst ratings were lower (about 15 - 50 mm, and about 10 - 50mm on a 100 mm scale, respectively) (1). There were also large variations in mean ratings between individuals (maximum difference is about 50 mm on a 100 mm-scale) (1). Some individuals reported a 7-day mean daily hunger rating over 50 mm and a mean daily thirst ratings over 80 mm (on a 100 mm scale) while others reported values below 20 mm (1). These interindividual differences in appetitive sensations were consistent (correlation coefficients between days: hunger, r=0.52; thirst, r=0.78). A one-day observational study also reported variability in mean thirst ratings between 120 women (mean  $\pm$  SD : age 20 $\pm$ 2 years; height 165 $\pm$ 7 cm; weight 62.1 $\pm$ 11kg) (198). Some individuals had a mean thirst sensation greater than 7 on 9-categorical scale while some reported thirst less than 2 on 9-categorical scale over a day (198). Feeding and exercise trials also reported intra- and inter-individual variability in appetite responses. A randomized controlled trial provided two-repeated standardized meals and two repeated unstandardized meals (ab libitum meal) and measured hunger and fullness in response to the meals in eighteen healthy men (mean  $\pm$  SD: age 28.5  $\pm$  9.8 years; BMI: 27.0  $\pm$  5.0 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) (2). The appetitive sensations of participants were consistent between the two repeated measurements regardless of meal types (correlation coefficients between days: hunger, r=0.59; fullness, r=0.41; satisfaction, r=0.74; prospective consumption, r=0.65) (2). Differences between post and pre-meal appetitive sensations varied between individuals (2). The changes of hunger and fullness were more than 70 mm in some participants and less than 20 mm in others (2). One study conducted secondary analysis on changes

of hunger ratings in response to exercise interventions in 17 trials (192 healthy male with  $22.3 \pm 2.7$  years (mean±SD) (199). Healthy men  $22.3\pm2.7$  of age and  $23.4\pm2.2$  kg/m<sup>2</sup> of BMI involved in the trials and there was interindividual variation in hunger responses to exercise intervention (199). Mean hunger ratings during and after exercise were suppressed in 78% of the individuals while they were augmented in 19 % of the individuals or were not changed in 2% of the individuals (199). However, these heterogeneous responses were concealed when the changes were averaged out (199). Taken together, intra- and inter-individual variability in appetitive sensations have been reported but it is still unknown whether this variability persists in the longer-term and what the dietary implications may be.

# **CHAPTER 2. STUDY RATIONALE**

Appetitive sensations have been considered as important modulators of food intake and weight management. Marked intra- and inter-individual variability in appetitive sensations have been reported, but the consistency and implications of this variability on long-term energy intake and eating pattern are not well understood. If appetitive sensations are effective modulators of energy intake, those who have relatively higher hunger, higher thirst, and lower fullness should be more susceptible to over-consumption with food exposure and may have higher risk of obesity. Similarly, knowing whether eating patterns (eating frequency vs portion size) are driven by appetitive sensations will provide beneficial insights on weight management strategies. In addition, there are multiple explanations for intra- and inter-individual differences in appetitive sensations since appetitive sensations are affected not only by what is ingested but also by biological, psychological, and environmental factors. If there are consistent differences within and between individuals, understanding the causes and implications could be of great clinical value. Therefore, the purpose of this research was to explore intra- and inter-individual variability in appetitive sensations, to determine directionalities between appetitive sensations and energy intake and between appetitive sensations and eating patterns, and to investigate characteristics of individuals at the extremes of chronic appetitive sensations.

This dissertation focuses on the questions above, but as part of the training experience, two additional studies were conducted. One entailed appetite concept training to improve the validity of appetite measurements. A potential barrier to accurate appetite measurement is low conceptual understanding by study participants and resulting poor sensitivity and accuracy of responses. While each appetitive sensation is independent and has a unique definition, reported similar patterns between appetitive sensations in multiple studies raise questions about whether participants fully comprehend appetite concepts and provide accurate responses. To overcome this potential limitation, appetite concept materials were developed, and two groups of individuals were provided training either with these materials or unrelated sensory information followed by measurement of appetite responses to five different pre-loads. This work will be discussed in Chapter 5.

A second study sought to gain insights on the sensory qualities of fatty acids as part of an effort to determine if oral fat detection is based, in part, on gustatory cues. It has been argued that

if fat taste is a primary, the sensations imparted by fats should yield unique percepts and these may be determined by fatty acid chain length. In particular, because acids impart a sour taste, free fatty acids may simply be detected as sour. The fat taste study entailed measurement of intensity ratings with or without sour adaptation (to assess sour notes), tongue locations of taste detection, and subjective descriptors of fatty acids. The work is included as Appendix C.

## **CHAPTER 3. METHODS**

### **3.1 Participants**

Participants were recruited through public announcements including flyers (Appendix A), online advertisements (Purdue Today, social media) (Appendix A), and verbal advertisements (Appendix A) from April 2021 to March 2022. Eligibility criteria included healthy men and women, 18-64 years of age, body weight fluctuation < 2.5 kg in the 3 months prior to the start of the study, not taking medication known to affect appetite, and not planning to change lifestyle behaviors that could affect energy balance. All procedures involving human subjects were approved by the Purdue University Institutional Review Board. Written informed consent (Appendix A) was obtained from participants who met eligibility criteria. This study is registered in clinicaltrials.gov (NCT04836416).

#### **3.2 Protocol**

This was a 17-week observational study. At screening, participants reported demographic information including age, biological sex and race/ethnicity. This information was collected via questionnaire (Appendix A). Weight, height and BMI were measured once at the screening meeting. They also completed a battery of questionnaires addressing selected eating traits (Appendix A). The Meal Pattern Questionnaire (200) assessed an overall picture of each participant's eating pattern. The Power of Food Scale (201) assessed the psychological impact of living in food-abundant environments by measuring appetite for palatable foods at three levels of food proximity (food available, food present, and food tasted). The Emotional Eating Scale (202) identified eating in response to three negative emotions: anger, anxiety, and depression. The Eating Inventory (203) measured three dimensions of eating behavior: cognitive restraint, uncontrolled eating, and emotional eating. The Food Craving Inventory (204) measured general and specific food cravings: high fat foods, sweets, carbohydrate-starchy foods, and fast-food/high fat foods. The Adult Eating Behavior Scales (205) assessed food approach and avoidance traits by measuring eight traits: hunger, food responsiveness, emotional over-eating, enjoyment of food, satiety responsiveness, emotional under-eating, food fussiness, and slowness in eating. The Self-Regulation of Eating Behavior Questionnaire (206) assessed self-regulatory capacity for eating.

The Barratt Impulsiveness Scale (207) assessed the personality and behavioral constructs of impulsiveness. Lastly, participants completed a working environment questionnaire before and during/after the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak to understand the effects of the pandemic on ingestive behavior.

In addition, participants received appetite lexicon training (Appendix A) to increase the validity of their appetite ratings as well as general instructions on study activities including how to complete hourly appetite ratings, daily dietary recalls, and daily physical activity forms. After the screening visit (week 0), participants participated in the study virtually at study weeks 1, 9, and 17. At each of these timepoints, data were collected on three randomly selected days. Two days were non-consecutive weekdays and one day was a weekend day. For each day, participants self-reported their appetite sensations (hunger, fullness, and thirst) hourly during their waking hours on a visual analog scale (VAS) using online survey software (Qualtrics) (Appendix A). The physical activities of participants were automatically recorded using an app (ActivityTracker Pedometer, Bits&Coffee LLC) on the same day that appetite ratings were recorded. Participants took a screenshot of the physical activity record and submitted the screenshot via Qualtrics on the following days. Participant dietary intake was recorded using the ASA24 system (online dietary recall system) (208) on a day after an hourly appetite rating day. Participants attended a virtual meeting one week before weeks 9 and 17 to remind them of study activities. During the reminder meetings, participants were informed that three days would be randomly selected for the upcoming week, and what study procedures they would be expected to follow on each of the selected days. The definitions of hunger and fullness were explained again and any questions were addressed.

#### **3.3 Anthropometrics**

Height and weight were measured once at the screening meeting. Participants were asked to remove shoes and socks and heavy jackets or coats and to empty their pockets. A medical wall-mounted stadiometer (Seca, Chino, CA) was used to measure height, and a Tanita Body Composition Analyzer (Model TBF-410GS, Tanita Inc., Arlington Heights, IL) was used to measure weight to permit calculation of BMI.

For those who were not able to visit the laboratory (e.g., due to geographical distance), height and weight were measured during a virtual meeting through Zoom. Participants were asked to join the meeting with a third party who was able to measure their weight and height at the beginning of the meeting. Before measuring weight and height, a participant was asked to remove shoes and socks and heavy jackets or coats and to empty their pockets. The participant stood straight against the wall, and the third party measured height from the floor to the highest point of the head using an augmented reality technology-based app (either one of the following: Measure app by Apple, AR Ruler App by Google Play, Quick Measure by Samsung). Weight was measured on a scale available to each participant. Participants stood on the scale, and a third party took a picture of the weight measurement when the number had not changed for three seconds. Both height and weight measurements were repeated three-times and the average of three values was used for the study estimate. All the measurements were consistent within  $\pm 1$  inch for height and  $\pm 0.5$  lbs for weight. A photo of the weight measurement and a screenshot of the height measurement were submitted through Qualtrics.

## 3.4 Appetite Lexicon Training

Participants watched a basic concept training video defining four appetitive sensations (hunger, fullness, desire to eat, and prospective consumption) (Appendix B) and a series of video tutorials about common confusions among appetite concepts. After they completed the training, participants took an online quiz to confirm their understanding of the concepts. A score of at least 90% correct responses was required to pass the appetite lexicon training. Failure to satisfactorily demonstrate an understanding of the concepts resulted in an offer to repeat the training up to two additional times with required testing to document satisfactory understanding after each attempt. Failure to meet training criteria resulted in disqualification from the study.

## 3.5 Appetite Sensation Assessment

Participants rated their perceived hunger, fullness, and thirst on their cell phones/computers via a web based Qualtrics survey every waking hour on three days that were randomly selected at weeks 1, 9, and 17. Two days were non-consecutive weekdays and one day was a weekend day. The questions for appetite sensations (hunger, fullness, and thirst) were "how hungry do you feel", "how full do you feel?", and "how thirsty do you feel?", all rated from "not at all" anchored at the 0-% to "extremely" anchored at the 100% (171,209). Responses were provided on visual analog

scales (VAS). All entries were time and date stamped to ensure the ratings were made at the intended times.

#### **3.6 Physical Activity Assessment**

Free-living energy expenditure was measured using an app (ActivityTracker Pedometer, Bits&Coffee LLC) on the same days that appetite ratings were recorded. Participants were asked to download the app at the screening visit and complete the app settings with their gender, weight and height. Participants were asked to carry their phones throughout the days they recorded hourly appetite ratings. They reported their recorded energy expenditure by submitting a screenshot of the records on the following day through the web-based survey (Qualtrics).

### **3.7 Dietary Assessment**

Dietary intake was recorded by a dietary recall method using the automated selfadministered 24-hour dietary recall (ASA24- version 2020-2022) system (208) of the same days that appetite ratings were reported. Participants recalled what they ate and drank over the prior 24 hours. The plausibility of the data was assessed using the Goldberg formula (Black, 2000) (Appendix A).

# CHAPTER 4. APPETITE VARIABILITY, EATING PATTERN, AND ENERGY INTAKE

Eunjin Cheon, Richard D. Mattes

## 4.1 Footnotes

This is a manuscript about a long-term observational study investigating intra- and interindividual variability in appetitive sensations (hunger, fullness, and thirst), directionalities between appetitive sensations, energy intake and eating pattern, and associations appetitive sensations and selected individual characteristics.

Abbreviations: AS, appetitive sensations; BMI, body mass index; EF, eating frequency; EI, energy intake; PS, portion size; VAS, visual analogue scale, CCF, cross-correlation function, DTW, dynamic time warping. WSR, Wilcoxon signed-rank test

### 4.2 Abstract

Appetitive sensations are signals that guide eating behaviors. Marked short-term interindividual variability in appetitive sensations has been reported but the long-term stability of individual ratings and their dietary implications are not well characterized. This study explored the stability of inter-individual ratings of hunger, fullness and thirst for 17 weeks; determined the relationships between these sensations, eating patterns and energy intake; as well as the associations between ratings and selected individual characteristics (age, gender, BMI). Ninetyseven (90 completers) healthy adults recorded the intensity of their hunger, fullness, and thirst hourly during all waking hours for three days at weeks 1, 9 and 17. There were marked and stable inter-individual differences for each sensation over the 17 weeks: hunger (ANOVA, p<0.001, correlation coefficients of ratings between weeks: week 1 vs week 9, r=0.72 (p<0.001), week 1 vs week 17, r=0.67 (p<0.001), week 9 vs week 17, r=0.77 (p<0.001)), fullness (ANOVA, p<0.001, correlation coefficients of ratings between weeks: week 1 vs week 9 r=0.74 (p<0.001), week 1 vs week 17, r=0.71 (p<0.001), week 9 vs week 17, r=0.81 (p<0.001)), and thirst (ANOVA, p<0.001, correlation coefficients of ratings between weeks: week 1 vs week 9 r=0.82 (p<0.001), week 1 vs week 17, r=0.81 (p<0.001), week 9 vs week 17, r=0.88 (p<0.001)). Cross-correlation functions
revealed energy intake and eating pattern exerted stronger effects on appetitive sensations than the reverse. However, the absolute effect sizes were small. No robust effects of the studied individual characteristics were observed. The primary finding is that acute and chronic sensations of hunger, fullness and thirst are stable across individuals, but are poor predictors of ingestive behavior.

### **4.3 Introduction**

Weight gain stems from sustained positive energy balance (i.e., over days, weeks, months and years). Appetitive sensations (AS) are viewed as drivers of energy intake (179,210). They oscillate markedly over hours. If they do so in ways that result in energy balance, no change of body weight would be predicted over time. However, if there is a sustained bias towards higher or lower motivation to eat, this may predispose individuals toward positive or negative energy balance and weight change. As both low and high body weight (adiposity) holds health risk, a key question is whether there are reliable inter-individual differences in the mean daily level of AS that may account for differences in longer-term energy intake and risk of unhealthy weight. Prior shorter-term studies with limited sample sizes suggest there are reliable inter-individual differences in AS (2,211). The first aim of this study was to more rigorously explore daily AS ratings over time to determine their stability and the magnitude of individual differences. Various hypotheses could be proposed to link AS to adiposity status. One holds that individuals with high chronic hunger or low chronic fullness will consume more energy to mitigate these unpleasant sensations and thereby be at increased risk of higher adiposity. Alternatively, high chronic hunger or low fullness may be the result of low energy intake, a condition likely to be associated with low adiposity. The counter arguments would apply at the other end of the appetitive scale (i.e., low chronic hunger and high chronic fullness). To clarify this issue (aim 2), we explored the directionality of the relationships between AS and energy intake and between AS and eating patterns. Multiple individual characteristics (e.g., BMI (body mass index) (212), age (213), gender (53,213)) have been hypothesized to modify appetite-diet associations and risk for obesity. A third aim was to determine whether these selected individual characteristics mapped onto patterns of AS intensity over time.

### 4.4 Methods

# 4.4.1 Participants

Participants were recruited through public announcements. Eligibility criteria included 1) healthy (e.g., no history of chronic disease such diabetes, hypertension, etc.), 2) 18-64 years of age, 3) weight stable (body weight fluctuation < 2.5 kg over the prior 3 months), 4) not taking medication known to affect appetite, and 5) not planning to change lifestyle behaviors that could affect energy balance. All procedures involving human subjects were approved by the Purdue University Institutional Review Board and this study was registered in clinicaltrials.gov (NCT04836416). (Appendix A)

### 4.4.2 Protocol

This was a 17-week observational study. At screening, participants reported demographic information including age, biological sex, and race/ethnicity; completed a battery of questionnaires addressing selected eating traits; and weight and height were measured. In addition, participants received appetite lexicon training to increase the validity of their appetite ratings as well as general instructions on study activities including how to complete hourly appetite ratings, daily dietary recalls, and daily physical activity forms. After the screening visit (week 0), participation was virtual at study weeks 1, 9, and 17 (Figure 1). At each of these timepoints, data were collected on three randomly selected days. Two days were non-consecutive weekdays and one day was a weekend day. For each day, participants self-reported their appetite sensations (hunger, fullness, and thirst) hourly during their waking hours on a visual analog scale (VAS) using online survey software (Qualtrics). The physical activities of participants were automatically recorded using an app (ActivityTracker Pedometer, Bits&Coffee LLC) on the same day that appetite ratings were recorded. Participants took a screenshot of the physical activity record and submitted the screenshot via Qualtrics on the days following recording. Dietary intake, 24-hour recall, was recorded using the ASA24 system (online dietary recall system). The dietary intake and appetite rating data were recorded on the same days. Participants attended a virtual meeting one week before weeks 9 and 17 to remind them that three days would be randomly selected during the upcoming week, and what study procedures they would be expected to follow on each of the

selected days. The definitions of hunger and fullness were explained again, and any questions were addressed.



Figure 1. Study timeline

# 4.4.3 Anthropometrics

Height and weight were measured after participants removed their shoes, socks and coats and emptied their pockets. A wall-mounted stadiometer (Seca, Chino, CA) was used to measure height, and a Tanita Body Composition Analyzer (Model TBF-410GS, Tanita Inc., Arlington Heights, IL) was used to measure weight to permit calculation of BMI. For those unable to visit the laboratory due to geographical location (n=12), height and weight were measured during a virtual meeting through Zoom. Participants were asked to join the meeting with a third party who was able to measure their weight and height. Participants stood straight against the wall, and the third party measured height from the floor to the highest point of the head using an augmented reality technology-based app (Measure app by Apple, AR Ruler App by Google Play or Quick Measure by Samsung). Weight was measured on a scale available to each participant. Participants stood on the scale, and a third party took a picture of the scale reading. Both height and weight measurements were repeated three-times and the average of three values was used for the study estimate. All the measurements were consistent within  $\pm 1$  inch for height and  $\pm 0.5$  lbs for weight. A photo of the weight measurement and a screenshot of the height measurement were submitted through Qualtrics.

# 4.4.4 Appetite Lexicon Training

Participants watched a training video defining four AS (hunger, fullness, desire to eat, and prospective consumption) and a series of video tutorials about common confusions among appetite concepts. After they completed the training, participants took an online quiz to confirm their understanding of the concepts. A score of at least 90% correct responses was required to pass the appetite lexicon training. Failure to satisfactorily demonstrate an understanding of the concepts resulted in an offer to repeat the training up to two additional times with required testing to document satisfactory understanding after each attempt. Failure to meet training criteria resulted in disqualification from the study. All participants passed the quiz on their first attempt.

### 4.4.5 Appetite Sensation Assessment

Participants rated their perceived hunger, fullness, and thirst on their cell phones/computers via a web based Qualtrics survey every waking hour on three days that were randomly selected at weeks 1, 9, and 17. Two days were non-consecutive weekdays and one day was a weekend day. The questions for appetite sensations (hunger, fullness, and thirst) were "how hungry do you feel", "how full do you feel?", and "how thirsty do you feel?", all rated from "not at all" anchored at the 0-% to "extremely" anchored at the 100% (171,209). Responses were provided on visual analog scales (VAS). All entries were time and date stamped to ensure the ratings were made at the intended times.

### 4.4.6 Physical Activity Assessment

Free-living energy expenditure was measured using an app (ActivityTracker Pedometer, Bits&Coffee LLC) on the same days that appetite ratings were recorded. Participants were asked to download the app at the screening visit and complete the app settings with their sex, weight, and height. Participants were asked to carry their phones throughout the days they recorded hourly appetite ratings. They reported their recorded energy expenditure by submitting a screenshot of the records on the following day through the web-based survey (Qualtrics).

### 4.4.7 Dietary Assessment

Dietary intake was recorded on the same days that appetite ratings were recorded. Data was obtained by a dietary recall method using the automated self-administered 24-hour dietary recall (ASA24- version 2020-2022) system. Because the intake data were based on recall of the prior day, it was collected the day after appetite logs were completed. The plausibility of the data was assessed using the Goldberg formula (Black, 2000).

### 4.4.8 Data Analysis

# Aim1: Determine the magnitude and consistency of appetitive sensations (hunger, fullness, and thirst) between individuals.

One-way ANOVA was used to investigate within and between individual variance of each AS (hunger, fullness, and thirst). Pearson's correlation coefficients were calculated to examine the relationships between daily mean AS ratings; weekly mean appetite ratings across weeks (week 1, week 9, and week 17). A generalized regression model was used to explore the difference of total mean AS of the nine days (3 days X 3 weeks) and between weekdays and weekends. A linear mixed model was used with the Kenward-Roger approximation for degrees of freedom. Week was set as random effect and individual was nested within the week.

### Aim2: Relationships between AS and energy intake and between AS and eating patterns.

Pearson's correlation coefficients were calculated to examine the relationships between daily mean AS and energy intake, portion size, and BMI. Spearman's correlation coefficients were calculated to investigate the relationship between daily mean AS and eating frequency (eating frequency was coded categorically).

A generalized linear regression model was used to determine the relationship between the total mean AS of the nine days (3 days X 3 weeks) and energy intake. Age, gender, BMI, and physical activity were included as covariates. Mean AS changes one-hour before and after meals was compared using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (WSR).

The directionality of relationships between hourly energy intake and hourly appetite ratings and between hourly drinking events and hourly thirst ratings were determined using crosscorrelation function (CCF) analysis. All data from time-series analyses of energy intake, drinking event, and AS were pre-whitened to reduce bias from autocorrelations. Hourly data of each variable (the original data) was regressed onto the 1 hour-lagged data. The unstandardized residuals of the regression were used as pre-whitened data. The largest correlation coefficients were used for the interpretation of the possible directionality between appetitive sensations and energy intake. If the largest correlation coefficient was significant at lag 0, it was concluded there was no clear directionality. If the largest correlation coefficient was significant at a positive lag, it was concluded that there was a possible directionality that appetitive sensations lead energy intake. If the largest correlation coefficient at a negative lag, it was concluded that there was a possible directionality that appetitive sensations lead energy intake. If the largest correlation coefficient at a negative lag, it was concluded that there was a possible directionality that appetitive sensations lead energy intake.

Time-series analysis of hourly appetitive ratings were clustered using dynamic time warping (DTW) clustering with the partitional method (214,215). The global alignment kernel distance was used for DTW clustering (216). Data were standardized before the DTW clustering. DTW calculated the closest distance between all data points (216,217). Clustering validity indices (CVIs) can be used to evaluate the result of the clustering algorithm. However, CVIs include subjective judgement rather than providing an absolute standard since clustering is an unsupervised procedure (214,218). For this study, we used the Dunn index which calculates the ratio of the smallest inter-cluster distance not in the same cluster to the largest intra-cluster distance (218). Thus, a larger value of the Dunn index represents good separation between clusters and closer intimacy within clusters (Figure S1).

### Aim3: Individuals characteristics (sex, age, BMI) among AS tertiles

Individuals were divided into three groups based on mean of AS over the 17 weeks. Oneway ANOVA was used to investigate differences in energy intake, eating frequency, portion size, age, and BMI between AS tertiles (based on the total mean AS of the nine days (3 days X 3 weeks)), and between the three DTW clusters. The homogeneity of variances were tested using the Levene's test. If the variance was not homogeneous, the Welch's ANOVA p-value was used. Tukey's adjustment was applied to correct for multiple comparisons.

The relationship between AS tertiles and categorical demographic characteristics including sex, age groups (18-30, 31-49, 50-64), and BMI groups (BMI 18.5 – 24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>(normal), 25 – 29.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (overweight), 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> or greater (obese)), and the relationship between the three DTW clusters of each AS and categorical demographic characteristics including sex (male, female), age

groups (18-30, 31-49, 50-64), and BMI groups (normal, overweight, obese) was explored using the contingency test.

Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE. Statistical significance was determined by  $\alpha < 0.05$ , twotailed for all analyses. SAS (version 9.4) software was used for correlation, ANOVA, general linear regression, WSR, and contingency testing. IBM SPSS (version 28<sup>th</sup>) software was used for CCF. R (version 4.2.1) was used for DTW clustering.

# 4.5 Results

# 4.5.1 Participants

A total of 1149 participants were screened, and 109 participants were enrolled in the study. Among them, 90 participants completed the study, 7 participants partially completed the study (Figure 2). Attrition was due to time conflicts in 2 cases, but most commonly, no specific reason was provided. Demographic characteristics of the participants are presented in Table 1. Participants were primarily white, non-Hispanic and female. They ranged in age from 18-64

Characteristic	
Total (n)	97
Sex	
Male (n)	20
Female (n)	77
Age (years) <sup>1</sup>	$33.1 \pm 1.2$
18-30 (n)	48
31-49 (n)	35
50-64 (n)	14
$BMI^{2} (kg/m^{2})^{1}$	$26.8\pm0.6$
Normal weight (n)	48
Overweight (n)	28
Obese (n)	21

Table 1. Characteristics of participants

<sup>1</sup>Values are mean  $\pm$  SE. <sup>2</sup>BMI=Body Mass Index.



Figure 2. Flow diagram of participants

### 4.5.2 Appetite Variation Within and Between Individuals

Pearson's correlation coefficients for each weekly mean AS across weeks are presented in Figure 3. Correlations were strong and positive between weeks 1, 9 and 17 indicating AS ratings of individuals were consistent over time. There was no significant difference in any measured daily mean AS between weekdays and weekend days (hunger: p=0.96, fullness: p=0.92, thirst: p=0.98). The correlation between daily mean hunger ratings and daily mean fullness ratings were weak and statistically significant (r=-0.07, p<0.05). There was a moderate correlation between daily mean hunger ratings (r=0.47, p <0.001).

The ranges of mean AS were large and consistent. Daily mean hunger ratings ranged from 2.9 to 62.5 % across individuals. The values for fullness and thirst were 13.4 to 87.7 % and 2.5 to 87.6 % respectively. Across all appetitive ratings (3 days X 3 weeks), the daily mean variance in ratings between individuals was greater than the mean variance within individuals (hunger: within variance=52.7 (7.3% of variance), between variance =670.1 (92.7% of variance), fullness: within variance = 69.0 (5.1% of variance), between variance = 1285.6 (94.9% of variance), thirst: within variance = 59.4 (3.3% of variance), between variance = 1738.9 (96.7% of variance)) (Figure 4). The demographic characteristics (including age, sex, BMI, and race/ethnicity) of those who reported higher and lower AS strengths, were examined by dividing the sample into tertiles. 1<sup>st</sup> tertiles have the highest mean daily appetitive sensations and 3<sup>rd</sup> tertiles have the lowest mean daily appetitive sensations. The mean age in 3<sup>rd</sup> tertile of hunger was higher than the mean age in 2<sup>nd</sup> tertile of hunger (Table 2). No robust significant differences in other demographic characteristics between the tertiles for the measured AS (Table 2).



Figure 3. Pearson's correlations of weekly mean appetitive sensations between weeks. A: correlations of hunger sensations, B: correlations of fullness sensations, C: correlations of thirst sensations.



Figure 4. Appetitive sensations of participants in ascending order. (upper=hunger ratings, middle = fullness ratings, lower=thirst ratings, • =mean ratings of each week, -: mean of all weeks, |error bars = standard errors)

Characteristic		Hunger			Fullness			Thirst	
	1 <sup>st</sup> Tertile	2 <sup>nd</sup> Tertile	3 <sup>rd</sup> Tertile	1 <sup>st</sup> Tertile	2 <sup>nd</sup> Tertile	3 <sup>rd</sup> Tertile	1 <sup>st</sup> Tertile	2 <sup>nd</sup> Tertile	3 <sup>rd</sup> Tertile
Total (n)	32	33	32	32	33	32	32	33	32
Sex									
Male (n)	$9(28\%)^5$	7 (21%)	4 (12%)	6 (19%)	8 (24%)	6 (19%)	6 (19%)	6 (18%)	8 (25%)
Female (n)	23 (72%)	26 (79%)	28 (88%)	26 (81%)	25 (76%)	26 (81%)	26 (81%)	27 (82%)	24 (75%)
<i>p</i> -value <sup>1</sup>		0.29			0.82			0.75	
Age group									
18-30 (n)	15 (47%) <sup>5</sup>	22 (67%)	11 (34%)	17 (53%)	14 (43%)	17 (53%)	15 (47%)	16 (48%)	17 (53%)
31-49 (n)	13 (41%)	9 (27%)	13 (41%)	11 (34%)	12 (36%)	12 (38%)	12 (38%)	14 (42%)	9 (28%)
50-64 (n)	4 (12%)	2 (6%)	8 (25%)	4 (13%)	7 (21%)	3 (9%)	5 (15%)	3 (9%)	6 (19%)
<i>p-value</i> <sup>1</sup>		0.29			0.69			0.70	
Age (year) <sup>2</sup>	$32.7 \pm 2.0$	$29.1{\pm}1.7^{a}$	$37.8 \pm 2.3^{a}$	32.8±2.2	34.5±2.1	32.1±1.9	33.8±2.3	31.5±1.8	34.2±2.2
<i>p-value</i> <sup>3</sup>		0.01			0.72			0.62	
BMI Category									
Normal weight (n)	19 (59%) <sup>5</sup>	13 (39%)	16 (50%)	12 (38%)	17 (52%)	19 (59%)	13 (41%)	16 (48%)	19 (59%)
Overweight (n)	5 (16%)	13 (39%)	10 (31%)	12 (38%)	9 (27%)	7 (22%)	13 (41%)	8 (24%)	7 (22%)
Obese (n)	8 (25%)	7 (22%)	6 (19%)	8 (24%)	7 (21%)	6 (19%)	6 (18%)	9 (27%)	6 (19%)
<i>p-value</i> <sup>1</sup>		0.07			0.51			0.38	
$BMI^4 (kg/m^2)^2$	26.9±1.2	26.3±0.9	26.9±1.2	28.4±1.3	$26.2 \pm 0.9$	25.6±0.9	27.3±1.0	27.5±1.4	$25.5 \pm 0.8$
<i>p</i> -value <sup>3</sup>		0.89			0.17			0.38	

Table 2. Demographic characteristics of appetite tertile groups

 $\frac{1}{2}\chi^2$  p-value of goodness-of-fit. mean  $\pm$  SE

<sup>3</sup> p-value of one-way ANOVA <sup>4</sup> BMI=Body Mass Index. <sup>5</sup> within group percentage <sup>a</sup> there is significant difference between 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> tertile (p<0.05)

# 4.5.3 Relationship between Appetitive Sensations and Energy Intake

Mean energy intake (EI) was not significantly associated with mean hunger (p=0.64), mean fullness (p=0.29), or mean thirst (p=0.28) for the nine test days (3 days X 3 weeks) in any age, sex, BMI, or physical activity adjusted regression model. Mean changes of AS over the one-hour period before and after meals were compared and are presented in Table 3. The changes 1-hour after meals were greater than the changes 1-hour before meals for all sensations (Table 3). This was especially true for the mean changes of hunger ratings (Wilcoxon signed-rank test (WSR), Hunger changes vs Fullness changes: p <0.0001, Hunger changes vs Thirst changes: p <0.0001). These results are consistent with the results of the CCF analysis and support the finding that the effect of EI on hunger is greater than effect of hunger on EI.

Table 3. Mean appetite changes 1-hour before and after Meals (%)

	Hunger	Fullness	Thirst
Mean Changes Before Meals	4.32	2.63	3.27
Mean Changes After Meals	-9.96	8.06	-5.52
Mean Difference (After – Before)	-14.28 <sup>a, b</sup>	5.43 <sup>a, c</sup>	-8.79 <sup>b, c</sup>
<i>p</i> -value <sup>1</sup>	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001

<sup>1</sup>P-value of Wilcoxon signed-rank test (WSR) between before and after mean changes

<sup>a</sup> WSR between mean differences of hunger and fullness ratings, p <0.0001

<sup>b</sup> WSR between mean differences of hunger and thirst ratings, p <0.0001

<sup>c</sup> WSR between mean differences of fullness and thirst ratings, p <0.0001

To examine the directionality of the relationship between AS and EI, cross-correlation function (CCF) analysis was conducted with a time series of hourly appetite ratings and hourly energy intake records. Overall, EI leads AS at -1 lag (Figure 5) meaning energy intake 1 hour earlier led to significant changes in AS. The most significant and largest coefficient value of CCF with hunger ratings and EI is -0.255 at -1 lag (Figure 5A). This reflects to the ability of EI to reduce hunger ratings. At +1 lag, there is a significant, but much weaker cross correlation between hunger ratings and EI (coefficient = 0.052, p<0.05) describing how hunger ratings influence energy intake (Figure 5A). The largest (and statistically significant) coefficient value of CCF with fullness ratings and EI is 0.228 at -1 lag indicating EI increases fullness ratings (Figure 5B). Again, there is only a weak cross correlation at +1 lag (coefficient = 0.052, p<0.05) (Figure 5B). The largest (and statistically significant) coefficient value of CCF with thirst ratings and EI was only -0.082 at -1 lag, indicating EI only weakly diminished thirst ratings (Figure 5C). CCF with thirst ratings and EI also had a significant, but weak cross correlation at +1 lag (coefficient=0.047, p<0.05) (Figure 5C). CCF with thirst ratings and drinking events at -1 lag was significant with a coefficient value =-0.1 and it was stronger than the correlation with EI at  $+1 \log (\text{coefficient} = -0.001, \text{ p} > 0.05)$ (Figure 5D).



Figure 5. Cross correlation of appetitive sensations and energy intake with hourly time lags. A: hunger ratings with energy intake, B: fullness ratings with energy intake, C: Thirst ratings with energy intake, D: Thirst ratings with drinking event

# 4.5.4 Appetitive Sensations and Energy intake

Mean EI of the nine test days (3 days X 3 weeks) was not statistically different between tertiles of hunger, fullness or thirst groups (Table 4). Regardless of tertiles, within individual variances of EI are smaller than between individual variances of EI for all AS (Table 4). For hunger and thirst ratings, upper tertiles had greater between variance and lower within variance in EI compared to middle and lower tertiles. In contrast, variances of EI were greater in middle tertile compared to upper and lower tertiles for fullness ratings (Table 4). EI and BMI were positively associated (p<0.01). Separate regression analyses were conducted between EI and BMI for each AS tertile (Table 5 and Figure 6). The slope of 1<sup>st</sup> tertile participants is lower compared to the slopes of the 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> tertile participants in hunger and thirst, no significant association was observed between BMI and EI (Table 5). In contrast, among the fullness tertile groups, 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> tertiles had a significant association between EI and BMI, but the 3<sup>rd</sup> tertile did not (Table 5).

TT 1 1 4	<b>T</b>	• . 1	C	. • .	• 1		
Table /	Hnerow	intalze	nt an	netite	tortilo	orolli	nc
	LICIEV	man	v or ap			grou	DS.
	0,			1		0	

	Hunger			Fullness			Thirst		
	1 <sup>st</sup> Tertile	2 <sup>nd</sup> Tertile	3 <sup>rd</sup> Tertile	1 <sup>st</sup> Tertile	2 <sup>nd</sup> Tertile	3 <sup>rd</sup> Tertile	1 <sup>st</sup> Tertile	2 <sup>nd</sup> Tertile	3 <sup>rd</sup> Tertile
Mean Sensation (%)	$41.0 \pm 0.7$	$30.7{\pm}~0.3$	$21.6 \pm 0.9$	$61.8 \pm 1.1$	$48.8 \pm 0.5$	$34.5 \pm 1.2$	$56.5 \pm 1.2$	$39.6 \pm 0.7$	$24.5{\pm}~1.0$
Energy Intake (kcal) <sup>2</sup>	$2098\pm90$	$1888 \pm 65$	$1848 \pm 99$	$1856 \pm 95$	$2107 \pm 92$	$1865 \pm 85$	$1958 \pm 85$	$1915{\pm}93$	1960±101
<i>p</i> -value <sup>3</sup>		0.12			0.09			0.93	
Within ID <sup>4</sup> Variance of EI	411,263	357,196	276,132	342,290	393,077	313,365	370,610	357,992	321,977
Between ID <sup>4</sup> Variance of EI	2,306,323	2,061,648	2,390,401	2,220,820	2,505,646	1,969,888	1,970,709	2,458,850	2,629,089

<sup>1</sup> BMI = body mean index <sup>2</sup> Mean  $\pm$  SE <sup>3</sup> p-value of one-way ANOVA for energy intake between tertiles <sup>4</sup>ID = individual

Table 5.	Regression	analysis	between	energy	intake and	d BMI	of ar	poetite	tertile	grour	)S
1							• <b>•</b> • • •	p		D	~~

	Hunger			Fullness			Thirst		
	1 <sup>st</sup> Tertile	2 <sup>nd</sup> Tertile	3 <sup>rd</sup> Tertile	1 <sup>st</sup> Tertile	2 <sup>nd</sup> Tertile	3 <sup>rd</sup> Tertile	1 <sup>st</sup> Tertile	2 <sup>nd</sup> Tertile	3 <sup>rd</sup> Tertile
Slopes of Regression line <sup>2</sup>	2.21	33.97	37.45	30.96	18.14	18.72	3.96	25.36	48.13
p-value <sup>2</sup>	0.74	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.028	0.24	0.61	< 0.0001	< 0.0001

<sup>1</sup> BMI = body mean index
 <sup>2</sup> Estimates of BMI for energy intake with the linear regression model (model: energy intake = BMI) for each appetite ranking group
 <sup>3</sup> p-value of the general linear regression (model: energy intake = BMI) with each appetite ranking group



Figure 6. 3D scatter plots with regression lines between energy intake and BMI of hunger tertiles (A.), fullness tertiles (B), thirst ranking tertiles (C)

# 4.5.5 Relationship between Eating Patterns (Eating Frequency / Portion Size) and Appetitive Sensations

There were significant, but very weak, correlations between AS and eating patterns (Figure 7). Hunger and thirst ratings had negative correlations with eating frequency (EF) (hunger: r=-0.094, p=0.0066, thirst: r=-0.1, p=0.0037). Hunger and fullness ratings had positive correlations with portion size (PS) (Hunger: r=0.069, p=0.046, Fullness: r=0.092, p=0.0082).



Figure 7. Correlations between eating patterns and appetitive sensations. A-C: Spearman's correlation between eating frequency (EF) and appetitive sensations (A: hunger ratings vs EF, B: fullness ratings vs EF, C: Thirst ratings vs EF), D-F: Pearson's correlation between portion size (PS) and appetitive sensations (D: hunger ratings vs PS, E: fullness ratings vs PS, F: Thirst ratings vs PS)

Hourly time-series analyses of appetitive ratings were conducted using dynamic time warping (DTW) clustering to examine patterns of rating fluctuations as well as the intensity of ratings. Ninety participants had 9 time-series of daily ratings, 1 participant had 6 time-series of daily ratings, and 6 participants had 3 time-series of daily ratings. As a total, 834 daily ratings were analyzed by DTW clustering. DTW calculates the distance between all time-series data points (a one-to-many match) and forms centroids based on the shortest distance between data points. Three clusters were generated for each AS time-series based on the three centroids (Figure S2) The clusters of hunger, fullness, and thirst time-series were independent each other. The characteristics of clusters are presented in Table S1. For clusters of all AS, cluster 1 has the lowest AS ratings and cluster 3 has the highest ratings. Among the hunger clusters, cluster 2 had greater mean hunger ratings and lower EF than cluster 1 (EF of cluster 1:  $5.6 \pm 0.1$  times/day, EF of cluster 2:  $5.1 \pm 0.1$ times/day, p =0.01), but not between cluster 1 and cluster 3. Among the fullness clusters, cluster 3 had greater mean fullness ratings and greater PS compared to cluster 1 (PS of cluster 1: 158.5  $\pm$ 8.9 kcal, PS of cluster 3: 194.2  $\pm$  6.9 kcal, p =0.007). Among the thirst clusters, cluster 2 had greater mean thirst ratings and lower EF than cluster 1 (EF of cluster 1: 5.8 ±0.1 time/day, EF of cluster 2: 5.1  $\pm$ 0.1, p =0.0006), but not between cluster 1 and cluster 3. Overall, the characteristics of appetite clusters are consistent with the correlation findings, except that cluster 3 ratings for all AS were not consistent.

#### 4.6 Discussion

Ingestive decisions are guided by a myriad of environmental and biological inputs. However, both external and internal cues manifest cognitively as AS. These sensations reportedly play multiple pivotal roles. AS may: 1) influence adherence to dietary regimens intended to achieve some preventive or therapeutic goal thereby supporting or undermining the efficacy of the dietary regimens (219–221); 2) be the primary effector of efforts to manage body weight (220,222,223); 3) contribute positively or negatively to the quality of life (220); and 4) serve as predictors of diet and weight change (219,224–232). Consequently, AS have been the target of considerable study. Behavioral, dietary, pharmacological and surgical approaches are all employed to modulate AS to correct energy imbalances. Yet, the ability to harness these sensations to achieve desired health effects has proven elusive. This may reflect inadequacies in appetite measurement and/or incomplete understanding of the nature and magnitude of AS contributions to intake. The primary

aim of the present work was to gain new insights on inter-individual variability in AS and its stability over the long term, and the implications of these sensations under naturalistic conditions for eating patterns and energy intake using multiple data analytical approaches.

A key assumption in the study of AS is that they are reliable (i.e., under roughly similar conditions self-ratings will be stable). The present work revealed marked and sustained interindividual differences in hunger, fullness, and thirst sensations. The stability of AS was strong across seventeen weeks (correlation coefficients between weeks were: weekly mean hunger (week 1 vs week 9: r=0.72, p<0.001; week 1 vs week 17: r=0.67, p<0.001; week 9 vs week 17: r=0.77, p<0.001), weekly mean fullness (week 1 vs week 9: r=0.74, p<0.001; week 1 vs wee 17: r=0.71, p<0.001; week 9 vs week 17: r=0.81, p<0.001), and weekly mean thirst (week 1 vs week 9: r=0.82, p<0.001; week 1 vs wee 17: r=0.81, p<0.001; week 9 vs week 17: r=0.88, p<0.001). This larger trial (N=90) conducted over a longer time period (17 weeks) and with participants representing a range of body mass indices and age confirms reports from several prior studies documenting consistent interindividual differences in AS (1-3). One observational trial collected appetite ratings from fifty free-living adults in good health and stable body weight (39 Female, 11 Male; Age  $30\pm11$  years; BMI 26.3 $\pm5.9$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>) over a one-week period (1). They observed a distinct and consistent distribution of inter-individual mean daily hunger and thirst ratings that were comparable in magnitude to our findings (correlation coefficients between days: hunger, r=0.52; thirst, r=0.78) (1). Similar results are reported from intervention trials. One study measured AS including hunger, fullness, and desire to eat hourly for 10 hours with six different pre-meals in nineteen healthy and weight stable adults (10 males with BMI  $22.7 - 34.5 \text{ kg/m}^2$  and 9 females with BMI  $21.2 - 32.6 \text{ kg/m}^2$  (3). The procedure was repeated on two different days. AS changes were not significantly different between meals nor between days (3). Notably, sex had no significant effect on fasting, intra-meal change, or postprandial appetitive score (3). An additional randomized controlled trial involving eighteen healthy men (mean  $\pm$  SD age: 28.5  $\pm$  9.8 y; BMI:  $27.0 \pm 5.0$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>) measured postprandial changes of hunger, satisfaction, fullness, and prospective consumption in response to two-repeated standardized meals and two repeated unstandardized meals (ab libitum meal) (2). The AS of participants were consistent between the two repeated measurements regardless of meal types (correlation coefficients between days: hunger, r=0.59; fullness, r=0.41; satisfaction, r=0.74; prospective consumption, r=0.65)(2). The strong consistency of inter-individual responses across these studies may reflect both genetic and behavioral

contributions. A twin study involving 5435 twin pairs 8 - 11 years of age reported high heritability of appetite traits (63% for satiety responsiveness, 75% for food cue responsiveness (enjoyment of food)) as well as shared (21% for satiety responsiveness and 10% for enjoyment of food) and non-shared environmental influences (16% for satiety responsiveness and 15% for enjoyment of food) (131).

Documentation of large, stable differences in AS naturally raises questions about their dietary and health implications (129,130). Do individuals at the low and high ends of the distribution have lower or higher energy intake and/or unique eating patterns that explain their weight/adiposity status and do their appetitive ratings provide predictive power for ingestive behaviors? It is presumed that high hunger drives the initiation of eating and lower fullness facilitates the ingestion of larger portions. The present findings highlight a different interpretation. In the CCF analysis, energy intake precedes changes of AS more often than AS changes determine energy intake. Additionally, the mean changes of AS one-hour after an eating event were significantly greater than the mean changes of AS one-hour before an eating event (Table 3). The CCF analysis of hunger coefficients also showed a correlation of -0.255 at -1 lag: and only 0.052, at +1 lag meaning energy intake 1 hour earlier leads hunger reductions. Mean changes of hunger after eating dropped in 96.9 % (94 out of 97 participants) of individuals while only 77% of individual reported a rise in hunger sensation before eating. These findings are also consistent with an earlier cross-sectional study that noted the length of post-meal intervals was consistently positively correlated with energy intake (r=0.41-0.5, p<0.05) but not significantly correlated with premeal intervals (233). This association may also hold over longer time intervals as another trial reported prior day energy intake was negatively correlated with fasting hunger and fullness (r=-0.56, r=0.5, respectively, p<0.05) the following day (3). However, postprandial daily mean hunger and mean fullness ratings were not significantly correlated with prior day energy intake (3). Similarly, mean hunger and mean fullness were not changed with either increment or reduction of ab libitum energy intake in a 16-week study (234). Considering appetitive sensations are episodic rather than cumulative (158), fasting appetitive sensations may represent the effect of previous energy intake on AS better than daily averages. The present data suggests this directionality also holds for thirst and drinking (CCF coefficients: r = -0.1 at -1 lag, r = -0.001 at +1 lag, respectively) that drinking or eating 1-hour earlier leads thirst reduction. These outcomes indicate that AS are not good predictors of energy intake. Rather, they more strongly reflect the consequence of energy

or fluid intake. The importance of this asymmetrical relationship has not been examined but may hold clinical significance. With respect to energy balance, it has been argued that an eating pattern of multiple smaller eating events, versus fewer larger eating events, will aid weight management (235). However, data from NHANES (236), the Seventh Day Adventist Trial (237) and others (238–241) indicate this is not the case. Failure to sufficiently reduce the drive to eat after an eating event may result in greater overall daily hunger (242) and thereby enable more unplanned eating events and greater daily energy intake.

The association noted between AS and energy intake was weak in this trial of individuals in relative energy balance, but the applicability of these findings to conditions of marked positive or negative energy balance is less clear. It may be hypothesized that at the extremes of energy balance, appetite holds a more important role in eating and weight management. In the larger literature, there are reports of augmented AS following weight loss (243); diminished AS (244) and uncoupling of appetite with intake (245). There are conflicting findings with overfeeding as well, with rapid accommodation of AS to elevated energy intake (246) and either uncoupling of AS or their ineffectiveness to drive compensation to marked stepwise increments in positive energy balance (197). This is an area that warrants further study. If AS are weak modulators of energy intake even under strong energy imbalance conditions, their role in guiding ingestive behavior and body weight to healthful levels is questionable.

There has been and continues to be great interest in the effects of eating frequency, eating timing and portion size on body weight (142,247,248). In the present trial, there was marginal or no significant correlation between AS and frequency of eating or between AS and portion size. Hunger and thirst ratings were significantly, but only very weakly related to eating frequency (hunger: r=-0.09, thirst: r=-0.1) while hunger and fullness ratings were significantly, but only very weakly related to portion size (hunger: r=0.07, fullness: r=0.09). This finding is consistent with prior work reporting that changes in thirst and hunger 1 - 3 hours prior to a drinking or eating event were only weakly correlated (r=-0.06 to -0.09) (211). A review of controlled-feeding studies showed that eating frequency more than three times per day reduced peaks of hunger and desire to eat sensations while reduced eating frequency to less than 3 times per day increased hunger and desire to eating frequency reported conflicting results (249). In contrast, the effect of portion size on AS in

RCTs have generally been nonsignificant (150,250,251). Other work indicates AS may be affected, but not dramatically, by variations in portion sizes of eating events distribution over the day (252).

Individual characteristics such as BMI, age and sex have been proposed to influence AS, but with varying levels of experimental support. With respect to BMI, multiple RCTs and crosssectional studies have compared fasting and/or postprandial appetitive ratings between people who are lean or have obesity and observed no significant group differences regardless of meal macronutrient composition (e.g., high fat vs low fat diet) or food form (e.g., liquid vs solid) (4,46,213,253–255). Where positive associations have been noted, they are not robust. For example, a significant correlation with BMI may be noted for one index (e.g., hunger but not fullness, desire to eat or prospective consumption) in one study (2); but a different index in another (49,253). Other work has failed to note a significant association between the FTO gene and postprandial appetitive responses (2). Among the tertiles of hunger and fullness sensations in the present study, there was no difference in energy intake, BMI or BMI category. There is a substantial literature suggesting macronutrient effects on appetite and corollary expectations that could influence adherence to different weight management approaches (256). However, strong evidence documents that energy content, rather than the source of energy (256–260) is the primary determinant of weight outcomes to dietary interventions. Macronutrient influences on AS over the longer term is uncertain and how or whether they manifest may be idiosyncratic (i.e., reflecting individual food preferences). Because thirst motivates/facilitates drinking, energy-yielding beverages are readily available and there is evidence individuals with obesity consume higher quantities of beverages (261,262), we hypothesized that higher thirst would be positively correlated with BMI. However, neither BMI nor BMI category was associated with thirst tertiles in this study. Some previous studies of free-living individuals also reported no associations between BMI and thirst ratings (1) or thirst sensations were even lower in dehydrated individuals with obesity (263). Many influences may mitigate appetite-BMI associations. For example, hunger, as measured globally by the Three-Factor Eating Questionnaire is consistently less strongly associated with BMI than disinhibition (48,49,264,265).

Some evidence suggests males and females differ in AS (e.g., Bédard et al., 2015; Gregersen et al., 2011; Leone et al., 2022) (53,60,213) but the preponderance of evidence indicates hunger and fullness ratings are not significantly different between men and women in either the fasting (3,60) or post-prandial state (3,53,55,56). Thirst was also similar between free-living males

and females (1) and after endurance exercise (266). The current study also did not find sex differences in AS.

Inconsistent findings have been reported on the effects of age on AS by multiple small trials (76,267,268). Our somewhat larger sample of healthy individuals failed to reveal significant differences. A meta-analysis reported that the hunger ratings of older adults (aged 60 – 88 years) were 25% and 39% lower after overnight fasting or in a postprandial state, respectively, compared to younger adults (22-50 years old) and fullness ratings of older adults were 39% and 37% greater after overnight fasting or in a postprandial state, respectively, than younger adults (61). However, these findings may reflect deteriorating health (269), medication use (71) and reduced physical activity (270,271) rather than the aging process. Mixed findings are also reported on the relationship between thirst and fluid intake in older adults (272–277) that may, again, be related more to medication use and disease burden (278,279). Thus, the largely negative findings on associations between AS and BMI, sex and age are generally in line with the literature. It is not argued that these individual characteristics are unrelated to AS, but rather that they are often superseded by other factors, especially environmental influences (161,245,280).

This study has several strengths. Much effort was made to improve data validity. All participants received appetitive training to resolve any confusion on appetitive sensations they might have. There has been an issue in measuring appetitive sensations with untrained respondents (281). Even though hunger and fullness are independent sensations, reciprocal relationships between the two sensations are commonly found in multiple studies (156,281). The potential confounding factor was eliminated by training participants on the appetite concepts in this study. In addition, the hourly appetite ratings were time-stamped to make sure the ratings data were collected on time. Compared to previous studies (1,2,41), data were collected from larger sample size for a longer duration. Also, for each week 1, 9, and 17, non-consecutive three days (two weekdays and one weekend day) were randomly selected to collect representative data.

Some limitations are inherent in this study. Due to the nature of observational study, there are many unknown factors that might affect appetite ratings such as relative energy balance of participants, environmental factors (e.g., social and cultural environment, and food accessibility and food exposure). Moreover, we did not measure desire to eat and prospective consumption to reduce the respondents' burden. These two sensations are also unique appetitive sensations and further research with these sensations will shed light on further insights. In addition, only 10 % of

the reported energy intakes fell within the Goldberg cutoffs, which often happen in clinical studies and underreporting is prevalent (282,283). Although this may give a room for the weak relationship between appetitive sensations and energy intake, overall directionality of the relationship was supported by multiple analyses including CCF, and correlation.

In summary, this study discovered marked and consistent inter-individual differences in hunger, fullness, and thirst sensations. While the implications for quality-of-life issues were not explored, the associations between AS and dietary patterns and energy intake were very weak across the range of AS ratings. Stronger associations were observed for the effect of intake on AS than the reverse. If true, this suggests AS hold limited impact on or predictive power for intake. Further, no robust associations between AS and age, BMI, or sex were observed. However, importantly, participants in this trial were in relative energy balance. Whether the relationships between AS and ingestive behaviors differs under more extreme conditions of energy balance warrants further study. We also did not assess desire to eat ratings and the role these sensations hold is also important to examine.

		Hunger			Fullness			Thirst	
Characteristic	Cluster 1	Cluster 2	Cluster3	Cluster 1	Cluster 2	Cluster3	Cluster 1	Cluster2	Cluster 3
Total (n)	362	297	175	135	322	377	254	375	205
Mean Sensations (%) <sup>1</sup>	$21.7\pm0.3^{ab}$	$34.7\pm0.3^{\text{ac}}$	$45.8\pm0.5^{\text{bc}}$	$25.9\pm0.5^{ab}$	$42.5\pm0.3^{\text{ac}}$	$60.4\pm0.4^{\text{bc}}$	$22.3\pm0.5^{ab}$	$41.7\pm0.4^{\rm ac}$	$60.6\pm0.5^{\text{bc}}$
p-value <sup>2</sup>		<0.0001			<0.0001			<0.0001	
Eating Pattern									
Eating Frequency (times/day)	$5.6\pm0.1^{\rm a}$	$5.1\pm0.1^{\rm a}$	$5.4\pm0.1$	$5.1\pm0.2$	$5.4\pm0.1$	$5.5\pm0.1$	$5.8\pm0.1^{a}$	$5.1\pm0.1^{\rm a}$	$5.4\pm0.1$
p-value <sup>2</sup>		0.01			0.14			0.0006	
Portion Size (kcal)	$177.9\pm5.8$	$180.5\pm6.3$	$202.8\pm11.9$	$158.5\pm8.9^{\text{b}}$	$182.8\pm6.2$	$194.2\pm6.9^{\text{b}}$	$190.2\pm8.4$	$185.5\pm6.0$	$173.8\pm7.9$
p-value <sup>2</sup>		0.07			0.007			0.34	
Energy Intake (kcal)	$1912\pm40^{\text{b}}$	$1897\pm43^{\rm c}$	$2100\pm 60^{\text{b,c}}$	$1717\pm\!\!56^{ab}$	$1960\pm 39^{a}$	$2016 \pm 42^{\text{b}}$	$1958\pm47$	$1923\pm40$	$1973{\pm}~53$
p-value <sup>2</sup>		0.01			<0.0001			0.72	
Sex									
Male (n)	58 (16%) <sup>5</sup>	66 (22.2%)	56 (32%)	66 (11.1%)	56 (25.5%)	58 (22%)	61 (24%)	77 (20%)	42 (20%)
Female (n)	304 (84%)	231 (77.8%)	119 (68%)	231 (88.9%)	119 (74.5%)	304 (78%)	193 (76%)	298 (80%)	163 (80%)
p-value <sup>3</sup>		0.0001			0.003			0.53	
Age group									
18-30 (n)	168 (46%) <sup>5</sup>	171 (58%)	72 (41%)	60 (44%)	177 (55%)	174 (46%)	131 (51%)	193 (52%)	87 (42%)
31-49 (n)	125 (35%)	98 (33%)	74 (42%)	54 (40%)	105 (33%)	138 (37%)	78 (31%)	131 (35%)	88 (43%)
50-64 (n)	69 (19%)	28 (9%)	29 (17%)	21 (16%)	40 (12%)	65 (17%)	45 (18%)	51 (13%)	30 (15%)
p-value <sup>3</sup>		0.0004			0.10			0.10	
Age (year) <sup>1</sup>	$34.7\pm0.7^{\rm a}$	$30.6\pm0.6^{\rm a,c}$	$34.9\pm0.9^{\rm c}$	$33.4 \pm 1.1$	32.2±0.6	$34.2\pm\!\!0.6$	$34\pm0.7$	$32.3\pm0.6$	$34.2\pm0.9$
p-value <sup>2</sup>		<0.0001			0.09			0.11	

# 4.7 Supplementary Tables and Figures

Table S 1. Characteristics of clusters for each appetitive sensation

Charactoristic -		Hunger			Fullness			Thirst	
Characteristic	Cluster 1	Cluster 2	Cluster3	Cluster 1	Cluster 2	Cluster3	Cluster 1	Cluster2	Cluster 3
<b>BMI</b> Category									
Normal weight (n)	171 (47%) <sup>5</sup>	157 (53%)	98 (56%)	76 (56%)	174 (54%)	176 (47%)	163 (64%)	160 (43%)	103 (50%)
Overweight (n)	123 (34%)	83 (28%)	28 (16%)	44 (33%)	77 (24%)	113 (30%)	45 (18%)	128 (34%)	61 (30%)
Obese (n)	68 (19%)	57 (19%)	49 (28%)	15 (11%)	71 (22%)	88 (23%)	46 (18%)	87 (23%)	41 (20%)
p-value <sup>3</sup>		0.0003			0.009			<0.0001	
BMI <sup>4</sup> (kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) <sup>1</sup>	$26.4\pm0.3$	$26.3 \pm \! 0.3$	$27\pm 0.5$	$25.1\pm0.4^{\rm b}$	$26.2 \pm \! 0.3$	$27.3\pm0.3^{\rm b}$	$25.2\pm0.3^{\text{a,b}}$	$27.2\pm0.3^{\rm a}$	$26.8\pm0.4^{\rm b}$
p-value <sup>2</sup>		0.46			0.0002			<0.0001	

Table S 1. Continued.

 $^{1}$  Mean  $\pm$  SE

<sup>2</sup> Mean ± SE
<sup>2</sup> p-value of one-way ANOVA.
<sup>3</sup> p-value of chi-square test.
<sup>4</sup> BMI=Body Mass Index.
<sup>5</sup> within group percentage
<sup>a</sup> there is a significant difference between cluster 1 and cluster 2 (p<0.05)</li>

<sup>b</sup> there is a significant difference between cluster 1 and cluster 3 (p<0.05) <sup>c</sup> there is a significant difference between cluster 2 and cluster 3 (p<0.05)



Figure S 1. Cluster validity index: Dunn index. A: hunger time-series data, B: fullness time-series data, C: thirst time-series data. (a larger value of the Dunn index represents good separation between clusters and closer intimacy within clusters)



Figure S 2. Cluster centroids of hourly appetite rating time-series. A: clusters of hunger ratings, B: clusters of fullness ratings, C: clusters of thirst ratings.

# CHAPTER 5. APPETITE CONCEPT TRAINING AND VALIDITY OF APPETITE MEASUREMENT

### 5.1 Footnotes

This is a summary of the appetite training project. It was a 9-week parallel-arm study to improve the validity of appetite measurement by training participants on appetite concepts (hunger, fullness, desire to eat, and prospective consumption). Test-retest repeatability and meal-specificity in appetite ratings were tested.

# **5.2 Introduction**

A fundamental limitation to the application of appetitive sensations is how they are measured. Each appetitive sensation has a unique definition, and they are all independent of each other. The most common measurement approach relies on untrained individuals to self-report the sensations they experience under a given set of conditions. However, untrained respondents may not differentiate between similar appetitive sensations (e.g., desire to eat and hunger) or may assume they are interdependent each other (e.g., hunger and fullness). Potential common confusions have been found in numerous studies. For example, hunger and fullness were rated as opposite poles on a common continuum (281,284). Similarly, desire to eat and hunger are assumed to be the same sensations and rated similarly (284,285). However, the distinction between these sensations is clinically important. Hunger and fullness do not always change reciprocally and equally in clinical conditions. Hunger can change without a shift in fullness, and the reverse has also been reported (14). Therefore, we hypothesized that training respondents on the terminology of appetitive sensations prior to testing could improve sensitivity, selectivity, and reliability of measurements. We also hypothesize that different preloads addressing selective properties of each sensation will induce different magnitudes of appetite sensations (hunger, fullness, desire to eat, and prospective consumption). Preloads was water, egg white, peanut butter, and peanut butter with pre-exposure of peanut butter. Water, egg white, and peanut butter represent no, low, and high energy respectively. Consuming water will alter fullness but not hunger because water has no energy. Hunger, fullness, and desire to eat will be altered by consuming egg white and peanut butter while the changes by peanut butter will be more robust compared to the changes by egg whites. Also,

pre-exposure to peanut butter will reduce desire to eat greater compared to peanut butter without pre-exposure due to sensory specific satiety.

### **5.3 Methods**

### **5.3.1** Participants

Participants were recruited through public announcements including flyers, online advertisements (Purdue Today, social media), and verbal advertisements from April 2021 to March 2022 (Appendix B). Eligibility criteria included healthy men and women, 18-60 years of age, 18-25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> of BMI, body weight fluctuation < 2.5 kg in the 3 months prior to the start of the study, not taking medications known to affect appetite, not planning to change lifestyle behaviors that could affect energy balance, having no acute disease or allergies to eggs, peanuts, macaroni, cheeses, and carrots, and willing to eat all test foods. All procedures involving human subjects were approved by the Purdue University Institutional Review Board. Written informed consent (Appendix B) was obtained from participants who met eligibility criteria. This study was registered in clinicaltrials.gov (NCT04576585).

# 5.3.2 Protocol

This was a 9-week parallel trial. At screening, participants reported demographic information including age, biological sex and race/ethnicity. This information was collected via questionnaire (Appendix B). Weight, height and BMI were measured once at the screening meeting. After screening, participants were randomly assigned to one of two groups. One group (appetite group) received training in the lexicon of appetite (Hunger, Fullness, Desire to Eat, and Prospective Consumption), and the other group (taste group) was trained on properties of basic tastes (Sweetness, Sourness, Bitterness, and Saltiness) as an attention control. Participants in taste group were asked to complete an appetite group were asked to complete a taste confusion quiz to collect the baseline understanding on appetitive sensations and participants in appetite group were asked to complete a taste confusion quiz. All participants participated in two preload trials with mixed meals before training and six paired preload trials after training over 9 weeks.

On testing days, participants visited the laboratory the same time of day for each trial. They were asked to refrain from ingesting foods for at least 4 hours prior to arrival. They reported their

appetitive sensations (hunger, fullness, desire to eat, and prospective consumption) on 100-mm visual analogue scales at -15, and 0 minutes before consuming a preload and at 30, 60, 90, 120, 180 minutes after they consumed the preload (Appendix B). At weeks 1,2, 4, and 5, participants consumed a mixed meal consisting of macaroni & cheese (136g, 440 kcal) with carrot sticks (61g, 25 kcal) and water (100ml) (meal = 30% fat, 56% carbohydrate, 14% protein). At week 6, 7, 8, and 9, participants consumed one of the followings: 1 liter of water, 300g (150kcal) of microwaved egg whites, 50 g (300kcal) of peanut butter, and 50 g (300kcal) of peanut butter with pre-exposure to 50 g (300 kcal) of peanut butter three times per day for the two days prior to their test sessions (150 kcal of peanut butter per day as a total for two days). The order of these preloads was randomly assigned.

# 5.3.3 Anthropometrics

Height and weight were measured once at the screening meeting. Participants were asked to remove shoes and socks and heavy jackets or coats and to empty their pockets. A medical wallmounted stadiometer (Seca, Chino, CA) was used to measure height, and a Tanita Body Composition Analyzer (Model TBF-410GS, Tanita Inc., Arlington Heights, IL) was used to measure weight to permit calculation of BMI.

### **5.3.4 Appetite Lexicon Training**

At week 3, appetite group received training on the lexicon of appetite on up to 3 days during the training week. This entailed reading written definitions, watching an instructional video, eating exercises and completing training exams demonstrating they understood the distinctions between appetitive terms (hunger, desire to eat, fullness, and prospective consumption) (Appendix B). To ensure the success of training, participants completed an online quiz with at least 90 % correct responses to confirm their understanding of the concepts (Appendix B). Failure to satisfactorily convey understanding of the concepts resulted in an offer to repeat the training 2 more times or be rejected from the study. Taste group was only trained on the basic tastes (sweetness, sourness, bitterness, and saltiness). Thus, the two groups received equal time and attention for a similar task.

### **5.3.5** Appetite Ratings

Participants rated their perceived hunger, desire to eat, fullness, and prospective consumption on their cell phones/computers via Qualtrics, web-based software (Appendix B). The questions for appetite sensations (hunger, fullness, and thirst) were "how hungry do you feel", "how strong is you desire to eat?", "how full do you feel?", and "How large a portion do you think you could eat now? ," all rated from "not at all" anchored at 0-% to "extremely" anchored at 100-% (171,209). Responses were provided on visual analog scales. All entries were time and date stamped to ensure the ratings were made at the intended times.

### 5.3.6 Statistical analysis

*Correlation* - Pearson's correlation coefficients were calculated to examine the relationships between hunger, fullness, desire to eat, and prospective consumption ratings before and after the concept trainings. In addition, test-retest repeatability was tested by comparing Pearson's correlations between appetitive sensations during week 1 and week2 in response to the mixed meal (before trainings) and correlations between appetitive sensations in week 4 and week5 in response to the mixed meal (after trainings).

*General Linear Regression* - A linear regression model was used to determine the effect of different pre-meals on appetitive sensations between appetite group and taste group.

Statistical significance was determined by  $\alpha < 0.05$ , two-tailed for all analyses. SAS (version 9.4) software was used for correlation, and general linear regression.

### **5.4 Results**

### **5.4.1** Participants

A total of 79 participants were screened, and 29 participants were enrolled in the study. Among them, 20 participants completed the study, and 7 participants withdrew at week 1. Attrition was due to time conflicts in 1 case, but most commonly, no specific reason was provided. Participants ranged in age from 18-31 years and their BMIs ranged from  $19.6 - 24.5 \text{ kg/m}^2$  (Table 6).
Characteristic	Appetite group	Taste group	Total
Total (n)	13	7	20
Sex			
Male (n)	4	2	6
Female (n)	9	5	14
Age (years) <sup>1</sup>	24.8±1.2	24.1±1.9	24.6±1.2
$BMI^2 (kg/m^2)^1$	$21.8\pm0.5$	22.4±0.6	22.0±0.4

Table 6. Characteristics of participants

<sup>1</sup> Values are mean  $\pm$  SE.

<sup>2</sup> BMI=Body Mass Index.

#### 5.4.2 Confusions on appetite concepts

All participants completed a concept training either on appetite lexicon or on taste lexicon at week 3. All participants passed the comprehension test on the first attempt. Before the training, 75% of participants (15 out of 20 participants) were confused with the concept of hunger and energy intake (Question 7: When you are hungry, which food would be the most efficient to reduce your hunger?). The answer to the question is sugar-sweetened beverage (since it contained higher energy), but 10 out of 15 participants chose celery sticks and 5 out of 15 participants chose plain water with lemon slice. 60% of participants were confused with the concepts of hunger and fullness sensations (Question 1: Hunger vs. Fullness: Are they opposite sensations on a single continuum?). 45% of participants were confused with the concepts of hunger and prospective consumption (Question When a person says, " I can eat a horse now." which sensation does this statement reflect?) and those who chose the incorrect answer, chose "hunger" (the sensation that initiates and eating event, not portion size). 40% of participants were confused with the concepts of desire to eat and prospective consumption (Question 3: What is the proper question to measure the sensation that makes you decide to choose a small size popcorn?) and the most frequent answer was "desire to eat". (Figure 8)



Figure 8. Correct and incorrect rate (%) of the appetite confusion quiz. Q1: confusion between hunger and fullness, Q2: confusion between desire to eat and hunger, Q3: confusion between desire to eat and prospective consumption, Q4: confusion between fullness and prospective consumption, Q5: confusion between fullness and desire to eat, Q6: confusion between hunger and prospective consumption, Q7: confusion on hunger and energy intake.

#### 5.4.3 Correlation between appetitive sensations before and after training

All appetitive sensations were significantly correlated before and after trainings in both groups. There were significant negative correlations between hunger and fullness in both groups, but those correlations were reduced after training in both groups (Table 7). In addition, the correlations between hunger and desire to eat were positively correlated before and after training in both groups (Table 7). However, the correlation between hunger and desire to eat was reduced after training in appetite group compared to taste group (Table 7). Similarly, the correlations between desire to eat and prospective consumptions were positive, but after the training, the correlation was reduced in appetite group while the correlation increased in taste group (Table 7).

Appetite group	H & F	H & DE	H & PC	F & DE	F & PC	DE & PC
Before	-0.81 p < 0.0001	0.93 p < 0.0001	0.85 p < 0.0001	-0.79 p < 0.0001	-0.77 p < 0.0001	0.92 p < 0.0001
After	-0.79 p < 0.0001	$0.78 \ p < 0.0001$	0.81 p < 0.0001	-0.62 p < 0.0001	-0.69 p < 0.0001	0.75 p < 0.0001
Taste group	H & F	H & DE	H & PC	F & DE	F & PC	DE & PC
Before	-0.56 p < 0.0001	0.95 p < 0.0001	0.86 p < 0.0001	-0.58 p < 0.0001	-0.46 p = 0.0004	0.82 p < 0.0001
After	-0.41 p=0.0019	0.94 p < 0.0001	0.87 p < 0.0001	-0.27 p=0.05	-0.37 p=0.005	0.90 p < 0.0001
H = Hunger						

Table 7. Pearson's correlation coefficients between appetitive sensations before and after training

H = Hunger

F = Fullness

DE = Desire to Eat

PC = Prospective Consumption

## 5.4.4 Repeatability ratings before and after training

Overall, correlation coefficients were reduced in appetite group after the concept training while correlations were mostly consistent in taste group after the training (Table 8). Correlation coefficients were most markedly reduced for the desire to eat concept in appetite group after the training (Table 8).

		· •			
Appetite group	Hunger	Fullness	DE	РС	
Before (week1 & week2)	0.84 p < 0.0001	0.81 p < 0.0001	0.84 p < 0.0001	0.84 p < 0.0001	
After (week4 & week5)	$0.72 \ p < 0.0001$	$0.74 \ p < 0.0001$	$0.56 \ p < 0.0001$	0.81 p < 0.0001	
Taste group	Hunger	Fullness	DE	РС	
Before (week1 & week2)	0.80 p < 0.0001	$0.79 \ p < 0.0001$	0.66 p < 0.0001	0.69 p < 0.0001	
After (week4 & week5)	0.81 p < 0.0001	0.78 p < 0.0001	0.76 p < 0.0001	0.93 p < 0.0001	
H = Hunger F = Fullness					

Table 8. Test-retest repeatability in appetitive sensations with a mixed meal before and after a concept training

DE = Desire to Eat

PC = Prospective Consumption

#### 5.4.5 Preload effect on appetitive sensations

For all appetitive sensations, there were significant meal and time effects (p<0.0001) (Figure 9-10). Hunger and desire to eat sensations were greatest after consumption of water followed by peanut butter, peanut butter with pre-peanut butter exposure, egg white, and mixed meal. Fullness sensations were greatest following consumption of the mixed meal and egg white followed by peanut butter with pre-exposures, peanut butter, and water. Desire to eat was the highest with water and peanut butter followed by peanut butter pre-peanut butter exposure, egg white, and mixed meal. Prospective consumption was lowest with mixed meal and egg white ingestion followed by peanut butter with pre-exposure, peanut butter, and water. For hunger and prospective consumption sensations, there was no difference between the two groups (p=0.8 and p=0.7, respectively) while there were significant group effects for fullness than taste group with water (p<0.0001), but not difference with other preloads (p>0.05). Taste group reported greater desire to eat than appetite group (p<0.0001) but there was no difference in desire to eat between two groups for each meal types (p>0.05).



Figure 9. Appetite ratings of appetite group in response to different preloads. PB: peanut butter, prePB+PB: pre-exposure to peanut butter and peanut butter preload at a testing day.



Figure 10. Appetite ratings of taste group in response to different preloads. PB: peanut butter, prePB+PB: pre-exposure to peanut butter and peanut butter preload at a testing day.

#### **5.5 Discussion**

As we expected, there were confusions between appetite concepts; especially between hunger and fullness (60%), desire to eat and prospective consumption (40%), hunger and prospective consumption (45%), and hunger and energy intake (75%). However, only a participant had a confusion between hunger and desire to eat (5%), fullness and desire to eat (5%), fullness and prospective consumption (10%). Appetite training did not increase test-retest repeatability. However, there was a trend of reduction in correlations between hunger and desire to eat in appetite group but not taste group, meaning participants distinguished hunger and desire to eat more clearly after the appetite concept training. In addition, appetitive sensations were altered by different meal types, but those changes were not different between appetite group and taste group, indicating the training either did not adequately educate participants on the appetite concepts or the interventions were not sufficient to evoke different appetitive responses. Taken together, there were no robust changes in test-retest repeatability and meal-specificity in appetite ratings with the concept training.

This study had severe limitations. Due to the outbreak of COVID-19 in the middle of study, a limited number of participants were recruited. Thus, the study was under-powered due to premature closure.

### **CHAPTER 6. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTION**

#### 6.1 Summary and Conclusions

Inter-individual differences in self-reported ratings of hunger, fullness and thirst are marked and stable over 17 weeks. However, the implications of these differences for energy balance are limited, at least on a population basis, as no differences in energy intake were observed in the upper and lower tertiles of any of the three appetitive indices studied. Hypotheses for higher and lower intake could be posed for both ends of the appetitive distributions. Examination of these hypotheses revealed no clear trends. The analysis did reveal that energy intake leads changes in appetitive sensations more often than the reverse. This indicates fewer larger eating events will be a better strategy for controlling appetite than multiple smaller eating events that fail to evoke strong reductions in hunger or peaks of fullness. Similarly, the effect of eating patterns on appetitive sensation was greater than the effect of appetitive sensations on eating patterns. However, the overall associations between appetitive sensations and energy intake and between appetitive sensations and eating patterns were weak. No statistically significant association was observed between mean daily appetitive sensations and sex, age, or BMI. Thus, the present findings suggest a limited role for appetitive sensations in ingestive behavior. However, extrapolation of findings must be made with caution as not all appetitive sensations were tested, the sample tested was not representative of any segment of the population and individuals were only assessed under conditions of relative energy balance. These data answer some questions but raise many more that should be pursued in future studies.

#### **6.2 Future Directions**

#### **Appetitive Sensations at Energy Balance Extremes**

We found a weak association between energy intake and appetitive sensations. Whether stronger relationships hold under marked positive or negative energy balance is uncertain. If human physiology is predisposed towards maintenance of energy balance through interactions between energy intake and energy expenditure (286), it may be postulated that at the extremes of energy balance, appetitive sensations may play a more essential role in eating and weight control. However, there are mixed results on appetite responses to either negative or positive energy balance. Appetitive sensations were augmented in weight loss trial (243) while they were reduced in another (244). Additionally, appetitive sensations were not diminished with a overfeeding trial (246) or low physical activity trial (287). Whether appetitive sensations are more important mediators of body weight under negative balance and positive balance requires further investigation.

#### **Additional Indices of Appetite**

People frequently eat when they are not hungry and are reasonably full. They also commonly fail to eat when hungry and are not full. These apparently non-homeostatic behaviors likely reflect a strong influence of other determinants of feeding that overwhelm sensations of hunger, fullness and thirst. Desire to eat refers to a sensation that motivates eating in the absence of hunger. Those who have high desire to eat may consume more calories due to a strong motivational drive. Alternatively, prospective consumption reflects an amount of food they could be eaten, and thus high prospective consumption after a meal may reflect poor inhibition of a motivational drive to eat. Further studies with desire to eat and prospective consumption are required to understand relationship between appetitive sensations and energy intake.

#### **Individual Characteristics**

No association was observed between hunger, fullness or thirst and age, sex, or BMI. Our findings may be true, or this may be attributable to limited statistical power. Even though this study included a larger sample size compared to previous studies, sample sizes were low, especially for males, older adults, and overweight and obese individuals. Larger sample sizes with more power may reveal associations not detected here. Also, speed of aging is relative between individuals. Thus, age may explain within individual variance not between individuals. A longitudinal cohort study would be very informative to investigate the effects of age on changes of appetitive sensations.

Still, it might be because environmental influences were getting more influential in appetitive sensations as getting older. A cross-sectional study with children reported genetic influences were greater than environmental influences (288) while environmental influences were greater than genetic influences in a cross-sectional study with adults (128). Thus, examination on what environmental factors shape appetitive traits and how that impact works in longitudinal study may provide vital insights on regulating appetitive sensations and energy balance.

In part, weights of biological and environmental determinants may vary from person to person because each individual may have different sensitivities to each determinant. For instance, one study divided obese individuals into two groups based on ability to detect the relationship between appetitive sensations and energy intake (49). Individuals who do not detect the relationship had greater prospective consumption compared to those who are able to detect the relationship after fixed-energy breakfast and lunch (49). This study showed that appetitive sensations have more power on some obese individuals than others. Variability in bodily sites for each appetitive sensation has been reported (11,12). Whether certain appetitive sensations are more strongly associated with some patterns of sensation than others has not been studied. This may be especially useful clinically where more extreme sensations may be experienced.

# REFERENCES

- McKiernan F, Houchins JA, Mattes RD. Relationships between human thirst, hunger, drinking, and feeding. Physiology and Behavior [Internet]. 2008 Aug;94(5):700–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18499200 http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=PMC2467458
- Goltz FR, Thackray AE, Atkinson G, Lolli L, King JA, Dorling JL, et al. True Interindividual Variability Exists in Postprandial Appetite Responses in Healthy Men But Is Not Moderated by the FTO Genotype. The Journal of nutrition [Internet]. 2019 Jul;149(7):1159–69. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/jn/article/149/7/1159/5499033 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31132105 http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=PMC6602891
- Ruddick-Collins LC, Byrne NM, King NA. Assessing the influence of fasted and postprandial states on day-to-day variability of appetite and food preferences. Physiology & Behavior [Internet]. 2019 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Oct 14];199:219–28. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0031938418306991
- 4. Clamp L, Hehir APJ, Lambert EV, Beglinger C, Goedecke JH. Lean and obese dietary phenotypes: differences in energy and substrate metabolism and appetite. British Journal of Nutrition [Internet]. 2015 Nov [cited 2021 Aug 17];114(10):1724–33. Available from: https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/british-journal-of-nutrition/article/lean-and-obesedietary-phenotypes-differences-in-energy-and-substrate-metabolism-andappetite/100EE36D7FADFFD0349D73359F9BA216
- 5. Gregersen NT, Møller BK, Raben A, Kristensen ST, Holm L, Flint A, et al. Determinants of appetite ratings: the role of age, gender, BMI, physical activity, smoking habits, and diet/weight concern. Food & nutrition research [Internet]. 2011;55. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21866221 http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=PMC3160809
- Hameed S, Dhillo WS, Bloom SR. Gut hormones and appetite control [Internet]. Vol. 15, Oral Diseases. 2009. p. 18–26. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1601-0825.2008.01492.x
- Cahill S, Tuplin E, Holahan MR. Circannual changes in stress and feeding hormones and their effect on food-seeking behaviors. Front Neurosci [Internet]. 2013 Aug 7 [cited 2022 Jun 7];7:140. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3735984/
- 8. Foster-Schubert KE, Overduin J, Prudom CE, Liu J, Callahan HS, Gaylinn BD, et al. Acyl and total ghrelin are suppressed strongly by ingested proteins, weakly by lipids, and biphasically by carbohydrates. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2008;93(5):1971–9.

- Fuemmeler BF, Lovelady CA, Zucker NL, Østbye T. Parental obesity moderates the relationship between childhood appetitive traits and weight. Obesity. 2013 Apr;21(4):815– 23.
- McCrory MA, Campbell WW. Effects of Eating Frequency, Snacking, and Breakfast Skipping on Energy Regulation: Symposium Overview. The Journal of Nutrition [Internet]. 2011 Jan;141(1):144–7. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/jn/article/141/1/144/4630592
- 11. Monello LF, Mayer J. Hunger and satiety sensations in men, women, boys, and girls. The American journal of clinical nutrition [Internet]. 1967 Mar;20(3):253–61. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6020176
- 12. Friedman MI, Ulrich P, Mattes RD. A Figurative Measure of Subjective Hunger Sensations. Appetite [Internet]. 1999 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Jul 27];32(3):395–404. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195666399902301
- 13. Mattes RD, Friedman MI. Hunger. DDI [Internet]. 1993 [cited 2022 Jul 7];11(2):65–77. Available from: https://www.karger.com/Article/FullText/171402
- 14. Murray M, Vickers Z. Consumer views of hunger and fullness. A qualitative approach. Appetite [Internet]. 2009 Oct 1 [cited 2022 Aug 4];53(2):174–82. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195666309005388
- Hams A, Wardle J. The feeling of hunger. British Journal of Clinical Psychology. 1987 May;26(2):153–4.
- Lesdéma A, Marsset-Baglieri A, Talbot L, Arlotti A, Delarue J, Fromentin G, et al. When satiety evaluation is inspired by sensory analysis: A new approach. 2016 Apr;49(49):106– 18. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2015.11.004 https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0950329315300057
- 17. Westbrook JI, Talley NJ, Westbrook MT. Gender differences in the symptoms and physical and mental well-being of dyspeptics: a population based study. Qual Life Res. 2002 May;11(3):283–91.
- Sørensen LB, Møller P, Flint A, Martens M, Raben A. Effect of sensory perception of foods on appetite and food intake: a review of studies on humans. Int J Obes [Internet]. 2003 Oct [cited 2022 Aug 2];27(10):1152–66. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/0802391
- 19. Yeomans MR, Symes T. Individual Differences in the Use of Pleasantness and Palatability Ratings. Appetite [Internet]. 1999 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Aug 8];32(3):383–94. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195666399902246
- 20. Betley JN, Xu S, Cao ZFH, Gong R, Magnus CJ, Yu Y, et al. Neurons for hunger and thirst transmit a negative-valence teaching signal. Nature. 2015 May;521(7551):180–5.

- 21. Engell DB, Maller O, Sawka MN, Francesconi RN, Drolet L, Young AJ. Thirst and fluid intake following graded hypohydration levels in humans. Physiology and Behavior. 1987;40(2):229–36.
- 22. Leib DE, Zimmerman CA, Poormoghaddam A, Huey EL, Ahn JS, Lin YC, et al. The Forebrain Thirst Circuit Drives Drinking through Negative Reinforcement. Neuron. 2017 Dec;96(6):1272-1281.e4.
- 23. Phillips PA, Rolls BJ, Ledingham JGG, Morton JJ. Body fluid changes, thirst and drinking in man during free access to water. Physiology and Behavior. 1984;33(3):357–63.
- 24. Berkey CS, Rockett HRHH, Field AE, Gillman MW, Colditz GA. Sugar-added beverages and adolescent weight change. 2004 May;12(5). Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15166298
- 25. Schulze MB, Manson JAE, Ludwig DS, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC, et al. Sugar-sweetened beverages, weight gain, and incidence of type 2 diabetes in young and middle-aged women. 2004 Aug;292(8). Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15328324
- DellaValle DM, Roe LS, Rolls BJ. Does the consumption of caloric and non-caloric beverages with a meal affect energy intake? Appetite [Internet]. 2005 Apr 1 [cited 2022 Nov 6];44(2):187–93. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195666305000024
- 27. Jones AC, Kirkpatrick SI, Hammond D. Beverage consumption and energy intake among Canadians: analyses of 2004 and 2015 national dietary intake data. Nutrition journal. 2019 Oct;18(1):60.
- Marriott BP, Hunt KJ, Malek AM, Newman JC. Trends in Intake of Energy and Total Sugar from Sugar-Sweetened Beverages in the United States among Children and Adults, NHANES 2003–2016 [Internet]. Vol. 11, Nutrients. MDPI AG; 2019. p. 2004. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2072-6643/11/9/2004
- 29. Lambert KG, Neal T, Noyes J, Parker C, Worrel P. Food-related stimuli increase desire to eat in hungry and satiated human subjects. Current Psychology [Internet]. 1991 Dec 1 [cited 2022 Aug 4];10(4):297–303. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02686902
- Burger KS, Cornier MA, Ingebrigtsen J, Johnson SL. Assessing food appeal and desire to eat: The effects of portion size & energy density. International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity [Internet]. 2011 Sep;8(1):1–9. Available from: http://www.ijbnpa.org/content/8/1/101
- Ogden J, Coop N, Cousins C, Crump R, Field L, Hughes S, et al. Distraction, the desire to eat and food intake. Towards an expanded model of mindless eating. Appetite [Internet]. 2013 Mar;62:119–26. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23219989 https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0195666312004758

- 32. Kral TV, Roe LS, Rolls BJ. Combined effects of energy density and portion size on energy intake in women. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition [Internet]. 2004 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Nov 6];79(6):962–8. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/79.6.962
- 33. Shah M, Schroeder R, Winn W, Adams-Huet B. A pilot study to investigate the effect of plate size on meal energy intake in normal weight and overweight/obese women. Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2022 Nov 6];24(6):612–5. Available from: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1365-277X.2011.01210.x
- Ayaz A, Akyol A, Cetin C, Besler HT. Effect of plate size on meal energy intake in normal weight women. Nutr Res Pract [Internet]. 2016 Oct [cited 2022 Nov 6];10(5):524–9. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5037070/
- 35. Sadoul BC, Schuring EAH, Mela DJ, Peters HPF. The relationship between appetite scores and subsequent energy intake: An analysis based on 23 randomized controlled studies. Appetite [Internet]. 2014 Dec 1 [cited 2022 Aug 2];83:153–9. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195666314004139
- 36. Holt GM, Owen LJ, Till S, Cheng Y, Grant VA, Harden CJ, et al. Systematic literature review shows that appetite rating does not predict energy intake. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition [Internet]. 2017 Nov;57(16):3577–82. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10408398.2016.1246414
- 37. Braude L, Stevenson RJ. Watching television while eating increases energy intake. Examining the mechanisms in female participants. Appetite [Internet]. 2014 May 1 [cited 2022 Aug 8];76:9–16. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195666314000130
- Cassady BA, Considine RV, Mattes RD. Beverage consumption, appetite, and energy intake: What did you expect? American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2012 Mar;95(3):587– 93.
- Cheon E, Reister EJ, Hunter SR, Mattes RD. Finding the Sweet Spot: Measurement, Modification, and Application of Sweet Hedonics in Humans. Adv Nutr [Internet]. 2021 May 6 [cited 2022 Aug 8];12(6):2358–71. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8634475/
- 40. Ogden J, Roy-Stanley C. How do children make food choices? Using a think-aloud method to explore the role of internal and external factors on eating behaviour. Appetite [Internet]. 2020 Apr 1 [cited 2022 Aug 8];147:104551. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195666319312322
- 41. Mattes R. Hunger ratings are not a valid proxy measure of reported food intake in humans. Appetite. 1990 Oct;15(2):103–13.
- 42. de Graaf C, Jas P, van der Kooy K, Leenen R. Circadian rhythms of appetite at different stages of a weight loss programme. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 1993 Sep;17(9):521–6.

- 43. Finch GM, Day JEL, Razak, Welch DA, Rogers PJ. Appetite Changes Under Free-living Conditions During Ramadan Fasting. Appetite [Internet]. 1998 Oct 1 [cited 2022 Nov 9];31(2):159–70. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195666398901647
- 44. Cornier MA, Grunwald GK, Johnson SL, Bessesen DH. Effects of short-term overfeeding on hunger, satiety, and energy intake in thin and reduced-obese individuals. Appetite. 2004 Dec;43(3):253–9.
- 45. Lindroos AK, Lissner L, Mathiassen ME, Karlsson J, Sullivan M, Bengtsson C, et al. Dietary intake in relation to restrained eating, disinhibition, and hunger in obese and nonobese swedish women. Obesity Research [Internet]. 1997 May;5(3):175–82. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/j.1550-8528.1997.tb00290.x https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/j.1550-8528.1997.tb00290.x https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/j.1550-8528.1997.tb00290.x
- 46. Aukan MI, Nymo S, Haagensli Ollestad K, Akersveen Boyesen G, DeBenedictis JN, Rehfeld JF, et al. Differences in gastrointestinal hormones and appetite ratings among obesity classes. Appetite [Internet]. 2022 Apr 1 [cited 2022 Oct 22];171:105940. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195666322000319
- 47. Nederkoorn C, Guerrieri R, Havermans RC, Roefs A, Jansen A. The interactive effect of hunger and impulsivity on food intake and purchase in a virtual supermarket. International Journal of Obesity [Internet]. 2009 Aug;33(8):905–12. Available from: www.nature.com/ijo
- 48. Brunner EJ, Maruyama K, Shipley M, Cable N, Iso H, Hiyoshi A, et al. Appetite disinhibition rather than hunger explains genetic effects on adult BMI trajectory. International Journal of Obesity [Internet]. 2021;45:758–65. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41366-020-00735-9
- 49. Barkeling B, King NA, Näslund E, Blundell JE. Characterization of obese individuals who claim to detect no relationship between their eating pattern and sensations of hunger or fullness. International Journal of Obesity [Internet]. 2007 Sep;31(3):435–9. Available from: www.nature.com/ijo
- 50. Cornier MA, Grunwald GK, Johnson SL, Bessesen DH. Effects of short-term overfeeding on hunger, satiety, and energy intake in thin and reduced-obese individuals. Appetite. 2004 Dec;43(3):253–9.
- 51. Goltz FR, Thackray AE, Varela-Mato V, King JA, Dorling JL, Dowejko M, et al. Exploration of associations between the FTO rs9939609 genotype, fasting and postprandial appetite-related hormones and perceived appetite in healthy men and women. Appetite [Internet]. 2019 Nov;142:104368. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S019566631930354X http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31310836

- 52. Thomas EA, Bechtell JL, Vestal BE, Johnson SL, Bessesen DH, Tregellas JR, et al. Eatingrelated behaviors and appetite during energy imbalance in obese-prone and obese-resistant individuals. Appetite. 2013 Jun;65:96–102.
- Bédard A, Hudon AM, Drapeau V, Corneau L, Dodin S, Lemieux S. Gender Differences in the Appetite Response to a Satiating Diet. J Obes [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2022 Oct 15];2015:140139. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4579320/
- 54. Cornier MA, Salzberg AK, Endly DC, Bessesen DH, Tregellas JR. Sex-Based Differences in the Behavioral and Neuronal Responses to Food. Physiol Behav [Internet]. 2010 Mar 30 [cited 2022 Jun 26];99(4):538–43. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2826550/
- 55. Wang GJ, Volkow ND, Telang F, Jayne M, Ma Y, Pradhan K, et al. Evidence of gender differences in the ability to inhibit brain activation elicited by food stimulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA [Internet]. 2009 Jan 27 [cited 2022 Jun 26];106(4):1249–54. Available from: https://pnas.org/doi/full/10.1073/pnas.0807423106
- 56. Del Parigi A, Chen K, Gautier JF, Salbe AD, Pratley RE, Ravussin E, et al. Sex differences in the human brain's response to hunger and satiation. Am J Clin Nutr. 2002 Jun;75(6):1017–22.
- 57. Smeets PAM, de Graaf C, Stafleu A, van Osch MJP, Nievelstein RAJ, van der Grond J. Effect of satiety on brain activation during chocolate tasting in men and women. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006 Jun;83(6):1297–305.
- 58. Dye L, Blundell JE. Menstrual cycle and appetite control: implications for weight regulation. Hum Reprod. 1997 Jun;12(6):1142–51.
- 59. Brennan IM, Feltrin KL, Nair NS, Hausken T, Little TJ, Gentilcore D, et al. Effects of the phases of the menstrual cycle on gastric emptying, glycemia, plasma GLP-1 and insulin, and energy intake in healthy lean women. American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology [Internet]. 2009 Sep [cited 2022 Nov 7];297(3):G602–10. Available from: https://journals.physiology.org/doi/full/10.1152/ajpgi.00051.2009
- 60. Leone A, De Amicis R, Pellizzari M, Bertoli S, Ravella S, Battezzati A. Appetite ratings and ghrelin concentrations in young adults after administration of a balanced meal. Does sex matter? Biol Sex Differ [Internet]. 2022 Jun 4 [cited 2022 Oct 25];13:25. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC9167557/
- 61. Giezenaar C, Chapman I, Luscombe-Marsh N, Feinle-Bisset C, Horowitz M, Soenen S. Ageing Is Associated with Decreases in Appetite and Energy Intake—A Meta-Analysis in Healthy Adults. Nutrients [Internet]. 2016 Jan [cited 2022 Oct 22];8(1):28. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2072-6643/8/1/28

- 62. Roberts SB, Fuss P, Heyman MB, Evans WJ, Tsay R, Rasmussen H, et al. Control of Food Intake in Older Men. JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association. 1994;272(20):1601–6.
- 63. Wurtman JJ, Lieberman H, Tsay R, Nader T, Chew B. Calorie and nutrient intakes of elderly and young subjects measured under identical conditions. Journal of gerontology [Internet]. 1988 Nov;43(6):B174-80. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3183304 https://academic.oup.com/geronj/articleabstract/43/6/B174/576987
- 64. Ship JA, Pillemer SR, Baum BJ. Xerostomia and the geriatric patient. Vol. 50, Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2002. p. 535–43.
- 65. Moss C, Dhillo WS, Frost G, Hickson M. Gastrointestinal hormones: The regulation of appetite and the anorexia of ageing. Vol. 25, Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics. 2012. p. 3–15.
- 66. Lee JS, Kritchevsky SB, Tylavsky F, Harris TB, Ayonayon HN, Newman AB. Factors associated with impaired appetite in well-functioning community-dwelling older adults. Journal of Nutrition for the Elderly. 2007 Sep 5;26(1–2):27–43.
- 67. Solemdal K, Sandvik L, Willumsen T, Mowe M, Hummel T. The impact of oral health on taste ability in acutely hospitalized elderly. PLoS ONE. 2012 May 3;7(5).
- 68. Nieuwenhuizen WF, Weenen H, Rigby P, Hetherington MM. Older adults and patients in need of nutritional support: Review of current treatment options and factors influencing nutritional intake. Vol. 29, Clinical Nutrition. 2010. p. 160–9.
- 69. Landi F, Lattanzio F, Dell'Aquila G, Eusebi P, Gasperini B, Liperoti R, et al. Prevalence and potentially reversible factors associated with anorexia among older nursing home residents: Results from the ulisse project. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association. 2013;14(2):119–24.
- 70. Bosley BN, Weiner DK, Rudy TE, Granieri E. Is Chronic Nonmalignant Pain Associated with Decreased Appetite in Older Adults? Preliminary Evidence. Vol. 52, Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2004. p. 247–51.
- Pilgrim AL, Robinson SM, Sayer AA, Roberts HC. An overview of appetite decline in older people. Nursing Older People [Internet]. 2015 May 28 [cited 2022 Oct 25];27(5):29– 35. Available from: http://journals.rcni.com/doi/10.7748/nop.27.5.29.e697
- 72. Campbell WW, Crim MC, Young VR, Evans WJ. Increased energy requirements and changes in body composition with resistance training in older adults. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 1994;60(2):167–75.
- 73. Taylor AH, Cable NT, Faulkner G, Hillsdon M, Narici M, Van der Bij AK. Physical activity and older adults: A review of health benefits and the effectiveness of interventions. Vol. 22, Journal of Sports Sciences. 2004. p. 703–25.

- 74. Goodpaster BH, Park SW, Harris TB, Kritchevsky SB, Nevitt M, Schwartz A V., et al. The loss of skeletal muscle strength, mass, and quality in older adults: The Health, Aging and Body Composition Study. Journals of Gerontology - Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences. 2006;61(10):1059–64.
- 75. Moss C, Dhillo WS, Frost G, Hickson M. Gastrointestinal hormones: The regulation of appetite and the anorexia of ageing. Vol. 25, Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics. 2012. p. 3–15.
- 76. Apolzan JW, Carnell NS, Mattes RD, Campbell WW. Inadequate Dietary Protein Increases Hunger and Desire to Eat in Younger and Older Men. The Journal of Nutrition [Internet]. 2007 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Nov 1];137(6):1478–82. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/137.6.1478
- Delzenne N, Blundell J, Brouns F, Cunningham K, De Graaf K, Erkner A, et al. Gastrointestinal targets of appetite regulation in humans. Obes Rev. 2010 Mar;11(3):234– 50.
- 78. Gibbs J, Young RC, Smith GP. Cholecystokinin decreases food intake in rats. Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology. 1973;84(3):488–95.
- 79. Buchanan KD. 1 Gastrointestinal hormones: General concepts. Clinics in Endocrinology and Metabolism. 1979;8(2):249–63.
- 80. Raybould HE. Mechanisms of CCK signaling from gut to brain. Vol. 7, Current Opinion in Pharmacology. 2007. p. 570–4.
- 81. Berthoud HR. Interactions between the "cognitive" and "metabolic" brain in the control of food intake. Physiology and Behavior. 2007 Aug 15;91(5):486–98.
- 82. Woods SC. The Control of Food Intake: Behavioral versus Molecular Perspectives. Vol. 9, Cell Metabolism. 2009. p. 489–98.
- Nguyen NQ, Fraser RJ, Bryant LK, Chapman MJ, Wishart J, Holloway RH, et al. The relationship between gastric emptying, plasma cholecystokinin, and peptide YY in critically ill patients. Critical Care [Internet]. 2007 Dec 21 [cited 2022 Nov 7];11(6):R132. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/cc6205
- Liddle RA, Rushakoff RJ, Morita ET, Beccaria L, Carter JD, Goldfine ID. Physiological role for cholecystokinin in reducing postprandial hyperglycemia in humans. J Clin Invest [Internet]. 1988 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Nov 7];81(6):1675–81. Available from: https://www.jci.org/articles/view/113505
- 85. French SJ, Murray B, Rumsey RDE, Sepple CP, Read NW. Is cholecystokinin a satiety hormone? Correlations of plasma cholecystokinin with hunger, satiety and gastric emptying in normal volunteers. Appetite. 1993;21(2):95–104.

- Ballinger A, McLoughlin L, Medbak S, Clark M. Cholecystokinin is a satiety hormone in humans at physiological post-prandial plasma concentrations. Clinical Science. 1995;89(4):375–81.
- Beglinger C, Degen L, Matzinger D, D'Amato M, Drewe J. Loxiglumide, a CCK-A receptor antagonist, stimulates calorie intake and hunger feelings in humans. American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology. 2001;280(4 49-4).
- 88. Kissileff HR, Carretta JC, Geliebter A, Pi-Sunyer FX. Cholecystokinin and stomach distension combine to reduce food intake in humans. American Journal of Physiology Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology. 2003 Nov;285(5 54-5).
- 89. Brennan IM, Feltrin KL, Horowitz M, Smout AJPM, Meyer JH, Wishart J, et al. Evaluation of interactions between CCK and GLP-1 in their effects on appetite, energy intake, and antropyloroduodenal motility in healthy men. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology [Internet]. 2005 Jun [cited 2022 Nov 7];288(6):R1477–85. Available from: https://journals.physiology.org/doi/full/10.1152/ajpregu.00732.2004
- 90. Geary N, Kissileff HR, Pi-Sunyer FX, Hinton V. Individual, but not simultaneous, glucagon and cholecystokinin infusions inhibit feeding in men. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology [Internet]. 1992 Jun [cited 2022 Nov 7];262(6):R975–80. Available from: https://journals.physiology.org/doi/abs/10.1152/ajpregu.1992.262.6.R975
- 91. Lieverse RJ, Jansen JB, Masclee AA, Lamers CB. Satiety effects of a physiological dose of cholecystokinin in humans. Gut [Internet]. 1995 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Nov 7];36(2):176–9. Available from: https://gut.bmj.com/content/36/2/176
- 92. Lieverse RJ, Jansen JB, van de Zwan A, Samson L, Masclee AA, Lamers CB. Effects of a physiological dose of cholecystokinin on food intake and postprandial satiation in man. Regulatory peptides [Internet]. 1993 Jan;43(1–2):83–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8426911
- 93. Carr RD, Larsen MO, Jelic K, Lindgren O, Vikman J, Holst JJ, et al. Secretion and Dipeptidyl Peptidase-4-Mediated Metabolism of Incretin Hormones after a Mixed Meal or Glucose Ingestion in Obese Compared to Lean, Nondiabetic Men. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism [Internet]. 2010 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Nov 7];95(2):872–8. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2009-2054
- 94. Carr RD, Larsen MO, Winzell MS, Jelic K, Lindgren O, Deacon CF, et al. Incretin and islet hormonal responses to fat and protein ingestion in healthy men. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism [Internet]. 2008 Oct [cited 2022 Nov 7];295(4):E779–84. Available from: https://journals.physiology.org/doi/full/10.1152/ajpendo.90233.2008

- 95. Bowen J, Noakes M, Clifton PM. Appetite Regulatory Hormone Responses to Various Dietary Proteins Differ by Body Mass Index Status Despite Similar Reductions in ad Libitum Energy Intake. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism [Internet]. 2006 Aug 1 [cited 2022 Nov 7];91(8):2913–9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2006-0609
- 96. Flint A, Raben A, Astrup A, Holst JJ. Glucagon-like peptide 1 promotes satiety and suppresses energy intake in humans. Journal of Clinical Investigation. 1998 Feb;101(3):515–20.
- 97. Verdich C, Flint A, Gutzwiller JP, Näslund E, Beglinger C, Hellström PM, et al. A metaanalysis of the effect of glucagon-like peptide-1 (7-36) amide on Ad Libitum energy intake in humans. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2001;86(9):4382–9.
- 98. Long SJ, Sutton JA, Amaee WB, Giouvanoudi A, Spyrou NM, Rogers PJ, et al. No effect of glucagon-like peptide-1 on short-term satiety and energy intake in man. British Journal of Nutrition [Internet]. 1999 Apr [cited 2022 Nov 7];81(4):273–9. Available from: https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/british-journal-of-nutrition/article/no-effect-ofglucagonlike-peptide1-on-shortterm-satiety-and-energy-intake-inman/0E695A9DE9764F566494DC79EEFAB9EA#
- 99. Little TJ, Pilichiewicz AN, Russo A, Phillips L, Jones KL, Nauck MA, et al. Effects of Intravenous Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 on Gastric Emptying and Intragastric Distribution in Healthy Subjects: Relationships with Postprandial Glycemic and Insulinemic Responses. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism [Internet]. 2006 May 1 [cited 2022 Nov 7];91(5):1916–23. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2005-2220
- 100. Holst JJ. The physiology of glucagon-like peptide 1. Vol. 87, Physiological Reviews. 2007. p. 1409–39.
- 101. Gutzwiller JP, Göke B, Drewe J, Hildebrand P, Ketterer S, Handschin D, et al. Glucagonlike peptide-1: A potent regulator of food intake in humans. Gut. 1999;44(1):81–6.
- 102. Gutzwiller JP, Hruz P, Huber AR, Hamel C, Zehnder C, Drewe J, et al. Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Is Involved in Sodium and Water Homeostasis in Humans. DIG [Internet]. 2006 [cited 2022 Nov 7];73(2–3):142–50. Available from: https://www.karger.com/Article/FullText/94334
- 103. McKay NJ, Belous IV, Temple JL. Increasing water intake influences hunger and food preference, but does not reliably suppress energy intake in adults. Physiology and Behavior. 2018;194(January):15–22.
- 104. Batterham RL, Cohen MA, Ellis SM, Le Roux CW, Withers DJ, Frost GS, et al. Inhibition of food intake in obese subjects by peptide YY3-36. New England Journal of Medicine. 2003 Sep 4;349(10):941–8.
- 105. De Silva A, Salem V, Long CJ, Makwana A, Newbould RD, Rabiner EA, et al. The Gut Hormones PYY3-36 and GLP-17-36 amide Reduce Food Intake and Modulate Brain

Activity in Appetite Centers in Humans. Cell Metabolism [Internet]. 2011 Nov 2 [cited 2022 Nov 8];14(5):700–6. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1550413111003561

- 106. Sloth B, Holst JJ, Flint A, Gregersen NT, Astrup A. Effects of PYY1–36 and PYY3–36 on appetite, energy intake, energy expenditure, glucose and fat metabolism in obese and lean subjects. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism [Internet]. 2007 Apr [cited 2022 Nov 8];292(4):E1062–8. Available from: https://journals.physiology.org/doi/full/10.1152/ajpendo.00450.2006
- 107. Gibbons C, Caudwell P, Finlayson G, Webb DL, Hellström PM, Näslund E, et al. Comparison of postprandial profiles of ghrelin, active GLP-1, and total PYY to meals varying in fat and carbohydrate and their association with hunger and the phases of satiety. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013 May;98(5):E847-855.
- 108. Savage AP, Adrian TE, Carolan G, Chatterjee VK, Bloom SR. Effects of peptide YY (PYY) on mouth to caecum intestinal transit time and on the rate of gastric emptying in healthy volunteers. Gut. 1987;28(2):166–70.
- 109. Kojima M, Hosoda H, Date Y, Nakazato M, Matsuo H, Kangawa K. Ghrelin is a growthhormone-releasing acylated peptide from stomach. Nature. 1999 Dec 9;402(6762):656–60.
- 110. Asakawa A, Inui A, Fujimiya M, Sakamaki R, Shinfuku N, Ueta Y, et al. Stomach regulates energy balance via acylated ghrelin and desacyl ghrelin. Gut. 2005 Jan;54(1):18–24.
- 111. Davis J. Hunger, ghrelin and the gut. Brain Research [Internet]. 2018 Aug 15 [cited 2022 Aug 5];1693:154–8. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0006899318300386
- 112. Cummings DE, Purnell JQ, Frayo RS, Schmidova K, Wisse BE, Weigle DS. A Preprandial Rise in Plasma Ghrelin Levels Suggests a Role in Meal Initiation in Humans. Diabetes. 2001;50(8):1714–9.
- 113. Druce MR, Wren AM, Park AJ, Milton JE, Patterson M, Frost G, et al. Ghrelin increases food intake in obese as well as lean subjects. International Journal of Obesity. 2005 Sep;29(9):1130–6.
- 114. Lippl F, Erdmann J, Steiger A, Lichter N, Czogalla-Peter C, Bidlingmaier M, et al. Lowdose ghrelin infusion — Evidence against a hormonal role in food intake. Regulatory Peptides [Internet]. 2012 Feb 10 [cited 2022 Nov 8];174(1):26–31. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167011511001881
- 115. Goldstone AP, Prechtl CG, Scholtz S, Miras AD, Chhina N, Durighel G, et al. Ghrelin mimics fasting to enhance human hedonic, orbitofrontal cortex, and hippocampal responses to food. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition [Internet]. 2014 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Nov 8];99(6):1319–30. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.113.075291

- 116. Edholm T, Levin F, Hellström PM, Schmidt PT. Ghrelin stimulates motility in the small intestine of rats through intrinsic cholinergic neurons. Regulatory Peptides. 2004 Sep 15;121(1–3):25–30.
- 117. Levin F, Edholm T, Ehrström M, Wallin B, Schmidt PT, Kirchgessner AM, et al. Effect of peripherally administered ghrelin on gastric emptying and acid secretion in the rat. Regulatory Peptides. 2005 Nov 15;131(1–3):59–65.
- 118. Woods SC, May-Zhang AA, Begg DP. How and why do gastrointestinal peptides influence food intake? Physiology & Behavior [Internet]. 2018 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Nov 8];193:218–22. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0031938418301094
- 119. Goodison T, Siegel S. Learning and tolerance to the intake suppressive effect of cholecystokinin in rats. Behavioral Neuroscience. 1995;109:62–70.
- 120. Brunstrom JM. Mind over platter: pre-meal planning and the control of meal size in humans. Int J Obes [Internet]. 2014 Jul [cited 2022 Nov 8];38(1):S9–12. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/ijo201483
- 121. Llewellyn CH, van Jaarsveld CHM, Johnson L, Carnell S, Wardle J. Nature and nurture in infant appetite: analysis of the Gemini twin birth cohort. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition [Internet]. 2010 May;91(5):1172–9. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/ajcn/article/91/5/1172/4597189 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20335548
- 122. Cecil JE, Tavendale R, Watt P, Hetherington MM, Palmer CNA. An obesity-associated FTO gene variant and increased energy intake in children. New England Journal of Medicine. 2008 Dec;359(24):2558–66.
- 123. Den Hoed M, Westerterp-Plantenga MS, Bouwman FG, Mariman ECM, Westerterp KR. Postprandial responses in hunger and satiety are associated with the rs9939609 single nucleotide polymorphism in FTO. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2009 Nov;90(5):1426–32.
- 124. Wang Y, Wang A, Donovan SM, Teran-Garcia M. Individual genetic variations related to satiety and appetite control increase risk of obesity in preschool-age children in the strong kids program. Human Heredity [Internet]. 2013 Apr;75(2–4):152–9. Available from: https://www.karger.com/Article/FullText/353880
- 125. Wardle J, Carnell S, Haworth CMAA, Farooqi IS, O'rahilly S, Plomin R. Obesity associated genetic variation in FTO is associated with diminished satiety. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism [Internet]. 2008 Sep;93(9):3640–3. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/jcem/article-abstract/93/9/3640/2597494 https://academic.oup.com/jcem/article/93/9/3640/2597494 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18583465
- 126. Wardle J, Llewellyn C, Sanderson S, Plomin R. The FTO gene and measured food intake in children. International Journal of Obesity. 2009 Jan;33(1):42–5.

- 127. McPherson R. Genetic contributors to obesity. Can J Cardiol [Internet]. 2007 Aug [cited 2022 Nov 8];23(Suppl A):23A-27A. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2787002/
- 128. Neale BM, Mazzeo SE, Bulik CM. A Twin Study of Dietary Restraint, Disinhibition and Hunger: An Examination of the Eating Inventory (Three Factor Eating Questionnaire). Twin Research. 2003 Dec;6(6):471–8.
- 129. Wood AC. Gene-Environment Interplay in Child Eating Behaviors: What the Role of "Nature" Means for the Effects of "Nurture." Curr Nutr Rep [Internet]. 2018 Dec 1 [cited 2022 Nov 8];7(4):294–302. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s13668-018-0254-x
- 130. Wardle J, Carnell S. Appetite is a heritable phenotype associated with adiposity. Annals of behavioral medicine : a publication of the Society of Behavioral Medicine [Internet]. 2009 Dec;38 Suppl 1(S1):S25-30. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/abm/article/38/suppl\_1/s25-s30/4569641 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19730964
- 131. Carnell S, Haworth CMA, Plomin R, Wardle J. Genetic influence on appetite in children. Int J Obes [Internet]. 2008 Oct [cited 2022 Nov 9];32(10):1468–73. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/ijo2008127
- 132. Rodenburg G, Kremers SPJJ, Oenema A, van de Mheen D. Associations of Children's Appetitive Traits with Weight and Dietary Behaviours in the Context of General Parenting. Rustichini A, editor. PLoS ONE [Internet]. 2012 Dec;7(12):e50642. Available from: Holsen http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0050642
- 133. Warkentin S, Severo M, Fildes A, Oliveira A. Genetic and environmental contributions to variations on appetitive traits at 10 years of age: a twin study within the Generation XXI birth cohort. Eat Weight Disord. 2022 Jun;27(5):1799–807.
- 134. Elder SJ, Neale MC, Fuss PJ, Lichtenstein AH, Greenberg AS, McCrory MA, et al. Genetic and Environmental Influences on Eating Behavior A Study of Twin Pairs Reared Apart or Reared Together. Open Nutr J. 2012 Apr 6;6:59–70.
- 135. Rodenburg G, Kremers SPJ, Oenema A, van de Mheen D. Associations of Children's Appetitive Traits with Weight and Dietary Behaviours in the Context of General Parenting. Rustichini A, editor. PLoS ONE. 2012 Dec 5;7(12):e50642.
- 136. de Graaf C, Hulshof T, Weststrate JA, Jas P. Short-term effects of different amounts of protein, fats, and carbohydrates on satiety. Am J Clin Nutr. 1992 Jan;55(1):33–8.
- 137. Krotkiewski M. Value of VLCD supplementation with medium chain triglycerides. Int J Obes [Internet]. 2001 Sep [cited 2022 Nov 8];25(9):1393–400. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/0801682

- 138. Cotton JR, Burley VJ, Weststrate JA, Blundell JE. Dietary fat and appetite: similarities and differences in the satiating effect of meals supplemented with either fat or carbohydrate. J Hum Nutr Diet. 2007 Jun;20(3):186–99.
- 139. Leidy HJ, Clifton PM, Astrup A, Wycherley TP, Westerterp-Plantenga MS, Luscombe-Marsh ND, et al. The role of protein in weight loss and maintenance. Am J Clin Nutr. 2015 Jun;101(6):1320S-1329S.
- 140. Duffey KJ, Popkin BM. Energy Density, Portion Size, and Eating Occasions: Contributions to Increased Energy Intake in the United States, 1977–2006. PLOS Medicine [Internet]. 2011 Jun 28 [cited 2022 Nov 9];8(6):e1001050. Available from: https://journals.plos.org/plosmedicine/article?id=10.1371/journal.pmed.1001050
- 141. Higgins KA, Hudson JL, Hayes AMR, Braun E, Cheon E, Couture SC, et al. Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis on the Effect of Portion Size and Ingestive Frequency on Energy Intake and Body Weight among Adults in Randomized Controlled Feeding Trials. Advances in Nutrition [Internet]. 2022 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Nov 9];13(1):248–68. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/advances/nmab112
- 142. Mattes R. Energy intake and obesity: ingestive frequency outweighs portion size. Physiol Behav. 2014 Jul;134:110–8.
- 143. De Castro JM, Bellisle F, Feunekes GIJ, Dalix AM, De Graaf C. Culture and meal patterns: A comparison of the food intake of free- living american, dutch, and french students. Nutrition Research. 1997;17(5):807–29.
- 144. Toschke AM, Thorsteinsdottir KH, Von Kries R. Meal frequency, breakfast consumption and childhood obesity. International Journal of Pediatric Obesity. 2009;4(4):242–8.
- 145. McConahy K, Smiciklas-Wright H, ... LBTJ of, 2002 undefined. Food portions are positively related to energy intake and body weight in early childhood. Elsevier.
- 146. Fox MK, Devaney B, Reidy K, Razafindrakoto C, Ziegler P. Relationship between portion size and energy intake among infants and toddlers: Evidence of self-regulation. Journal of the American Dietetic Association. 2006;106(1 SUPPL.):77–83.
- 147. Smeets AJ, Westerterp-Plantenga MS. Acute effects on metabolism and appetite profile of one meal difference in the lower range of meal frequency. British Journal of Nutrition. 2008 Jun 1;99(6):1316–21.
- 148. McCrory MA, Howarth NC, Roberts SB, Huang TTK. Eating Frequency and Energy Regulation in Free-Living Adults Consuming Self-Selected Diets. The Journal of Nutrition. 2011 Jan 1;141(1):148–53.
- 149. Leidy HJ, Apolzan JW, Mattes RD, Campbell WW. Food Form and Portion Size Affect Postprandial Appetite Sensations and Hormonal Responses in Healthy, Nonobese, Older Adults. Obesity. 2010 Feb 23;18(2):293–9.

- 150. Rolls BJ, Morris EL, Roe LS. Portion size of food affects energy intake in normal-weight and overweight men and women. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition [Internet]. 2002 Dec 1 [cited 2022 Oct 18];76(6):1207–13. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/ajcn/article/76/6/1207/4689551
- 151. Rolls BJ, Roe LS, Kral TVE, Meengs JS, Wall DE. Increasing the portion size of a packaged snack increases energy intake in men and women. Appetite [Internet]. 2004 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Nov 8];42(1):63–9. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S019566630300117X
- 152. Rolls BJ, Roe LS, Meengs JS. Reductions in portion size and energy density of foods are additive and lead to sustained decreases in energy intake. Am J Clin Nutr [Internet]. 2006 Jan [cited 2022 Nov 9];83(1):11–7. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1474143/
- 153. SPEECHLY DP, BUFFENSTEIN R. Greater Appetite Control Associated with an Increased Frequency of Eating in Lean Males. Appetite. 1999 Dec 1;33(3):285–97.
- 154. Jackson SJ, Leahy FE, Jebb SA, Prentice AM, Coward WA, Bluck LJC. Frequent feeding delays the gastric emptying of a subsequent meal. Appetite. 2007 Mar;48(2):199–205.
- 155. Stote KS, Baer DJ, Spears K, Paul DR, Harris GK, Rumpler W V., et al. A controlled trial of reduced meal frequency without caloric restriction in healthy, normal-weight, middle-aged adults. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2007;85(4):981–8.
- 156. Perrigue MM, Drewnowski A, Wang CY, Neuhouser ML. Higher Eating Frequency Does Not Decrease Appetite in Healthy Adults. The Journal of Nutrition. 2016;146(1):59–64.
- 157. Cameron JD, Cyr MJ, Doucet É. Increased meal frequency does not promote greater weight loss in subjects who were prescribed an 8-week equi-energetic energy-restricted diet. British Journal of Nutrition. 2010 Apr 28;103(8):1098–101.
- 158. de Graaf C. Effects of snacks on energy intake: An evolutionary perspective. Appetite [Internet]. 2006 Jul 1 [cited 2022 Nov 9];47(1):18–23. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195666306002078
- 159. Marmonier C, Chapelot D, Fantino M, Louis-Sylvestre J. Snacks consumed in a nonhungry state have poor satiating efficiency: influence of snack composition on substrate utilization and hunger. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition [Internet]. 2002 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Nov 9];76(3):518–28. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/76.3.518
- 160. Eastman P. Obesity-Cancer Link: Public Awareness Rises, But Eating Behavior Changes Little. Oncology Times [Internet]. 2003 Sep 10 [cited 2022 Nov 9];25(17):6–8. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/oncologytimes/Fulltext/2003/09100/Obesity\_Cancer\_Link\_Public\_Awareness\_Rises,\_But.3.aspx
- 161. Cruwys T, Bevelander KE, Hermans RCJ. Social modeling of eating: a review of when and why social influence affects food intake and choice. Appetite. 2015 Mar;86:3–18.

- 162. Herman CP, Polivy J. Normative influences on food intake. Physiology & Behavior [Internet]. 2005 Dec 15 [cited 2022 Nov 9];86(5):762–72. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S003193840500404X
- 163. Mattes RD. Snacking: A cause for concern. Physiology and Behavior. 2018 Sep;193:279– 83.
- 164. Murakami K, Livingstone MBE. Eating Frequency Is Positively Associated with Overweight and Central Obesity in US Adults. The Journal of Nutrition [Internet]. 2015 Dec;145(12):2715–24. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/jn/article/145/12/2715/4616063
- 165. Brunstrom JM, Brown S, Hinton EC, Rogers PJ, Fay SH. "Expected satiety" changes hunger and fullness in the inter-meal interval. Appetite. 2011 Apr;56(2):310–5.
- 166. Smeets PA, Erkner A, de Graaf C. Cephalic phase responses and appetite. Nutrition Reviews [Internet]. 2010 Nov 1 [cited 2022 Nov 10];68(11):643–55. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-4887.2010.00334.x
- 167. Crum AJ, Corbin WR, Brownell KD, Salovey P. Mind Over Milkshakes: Mindsets, Not Just Nutrients, Determine Ghrelin Response. Health Psychology. 2011;30(4):424–9.
- 168. Ueland Ø, Cardello AV, Merrill EP, Lesher LL. Effect of Portion Size Information on Food Intake. Journal of the American Dietetic Association [Internet]. 2009 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Nov 9];109(1):124–7. Available from: https://www.jandonline.org/article/S0002-8223(08)01879-8/fulltext
- 169. Mattes RD, Rothacker D. Beverage viscosity is inversely related to postprandial hunger in humans. Physiology & Behavior [Internet]. 2001 Nov 12 [cited 2022 Nov 6];74(4):551–7. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0031938401005972
- 170. Marciani L, Gowland PA, Spiller RC, Manoj P, Moore RJ, Young P, et al. Effect of meal viscosity and nutrients on satiety, intragastric dilution, and emptying assessed by MRI. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2001 Jun;280(6):G1227-1233.
- 171. Stubbs RJ, Hughes DA, Johnstone AM, Rowley E, Reid C, Elia M, et al. The use of visual analogue scales to assess motivation to eat in human subjects: a review of their reliability and validity with an evaluation of new hand-held computerized systems for temporal tracking of appetite ratings. British Journal of Nutrition [Internet]. 2000 Oct [cited 2022 Aug 3];84(4):405–15. Available from: https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/british-journal-of-nutrition/article/use-of-visual-analogue-scales-to-assess-motivation-to-eat-in-human-subjects-a-review-of-their-reliability-and-validity-with-an-evaluation-of-new-handheld-computerized-systems-for-temporal-tracking-of-appetite-ratings/EA5CB2830671BFFC5E14334C66AC8D7A
- 172. Flint A, Raben A, Blundell JE, Astrup A. Reproducibility, power and validity of visual analogue scales in assessment of appetite sensations in single test meal studies.

International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders : journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2000 Jan;24(1):38–48.

- 173. Jamison RN, Gracely RH, Raymond SA, Levine JG, Marino B, Herrmann TJ, et al. Comparative study of electronic vs. paper VAS ratings: a randomized, crossover trial using healthy volunteers. Pain. 2002 Sep;99(1–2):341–7.
- 174. Wewers ME, Lowe NK. A critical review of visual analogue scales in the measurement of clinical phenomena. Research in Nursing & Health [Internet]. 1990 [cited 2022 Nov 10];13(4):227–36. Available from: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/nur.4770130405
- 175. Lee JY, Stone EA, Wakabayashi H, Tochihara Y. Issues in combining the categorical and visual analog scale for the assessment of perceived thermal sensation: Methodological and conceptual considerations. Applied Ergonomics [Internet]. 2010 Mar 1 [cited 2022 Nov 10];41(2):282–90. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0003687009001045
- 176. Raben A, Agerholm-Larsen L, Flint A, Holst JJ, Astrup A. Meals with similar energy densities but rich in protein, fat, carbohydrate, or alcohol have different effects on energy expenditure and substrate metabolism but not on appetite and energy intake. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition [Internet]. 2003 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Nov 13];77(1):91–100. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/77.1.91
- 177. van der Klaauw AA, Keogh JM, Henning E, Trowse VM, Dhillo WS, Ghatei MA, et al. High protein intake stimulates postprandial GLP1 and PYY release. Obesity [Internet].
  2013 [cited 2022 Nov 13];21(8):1602–7. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/oby.20154
- 178. Mattes R, Hollis J, Hayes D, Stunkard AJ. Appetite: Measurement and Manipulation Misgivings. Journal of the American Dietetic Association [Internet]. 2005 May;105(5):87– 97. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0002822305002890
- 179. Beaulieu K, Blundell J. The Psychobiology of Hunger A Scientific Perspective. Topoi. 2020 Oct;40(3):565–74.
- 180. Andrade AM, Kresge DL, Teixeira PJ, Baptista F, Melanson KJ. Does eating slowly influence appetite and energy intake when water intake is controlled? International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity [Internet]. 2012 Nov 21 [cited 2022 Aug 4];9(1):135. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-9-135
- 181. Bellisle F, Dalix AM, Slama G. Non food-related environmental stimuli induce increased meal intake in healthy women: comparison of television viewing versus listening to a recorded story in laboratory settings. Appetite [Internet]. 2004 Oct;43(2):175–80. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15458803 https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0195666304000571

- 182. Scheer FAJL, Morris CJ, Shea SA. The internal circadian clock increases hunger and appetite in the evening independent of food intake and other behaviors. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2013 Mar;21(3):421–3.
- 183. Yeomans MR, Chambers L, McCrickerd K. Expectations About Satiety and Thirst Are Modified by Acute Motivational State. Front Psychol [Internet]. 2018 Dec 11 [cited 2022 Aug 4];9:2559. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6297679/
- 184. Slater T, Mode WJA, Hough J, James RM, Sale C, James LJ, et al. Effect of the perception of breakfast consumption on subsequent appetite and energy intake in healthy males. Eur J Nutr [Internet]. 2022 Apr 1 [cited 2022 Nov 10];61(3):1319–30. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00394-021-02727-5
- 185. Horner K, Hopkins M, Finlayson G, Gibbons C, Brennan L. Biomarkers of appetite: is there a potential role for metabolomics? Nutr Res Rev. 2020 Dec;33(2):271–86.
- 186. Campfield LA, Smith FJ, Rosenbaum M, Hirsch J. Human eating: evidence for a physiological basis using a modified paradigm. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 1996;20(1):133–7.
- 187. Karl JP, Smith TJ, Wilson MA, Bukhari AS, Pasiakos SM, McClung HL, et al. Altered metabolic homeostasis is associated with appetite regulation during and following 48-h of severe energy deprivation in adults. Metabolism. 2016 Apr;65(4):416–27.
- 188. Mattes RD, Hunter SR, Higgins KA. Sensory, gastric, and enteroendocrine effects of carbohydrates, fat, and protein on appetite. Vol. 4, Current Opinion in Endocrine and Metabolic Research. Elsevier Ltd; 2019. p. 14–20.
- 189. Mattes RD. Appetite: measurement and management. World review of nutrition and dietetics [Internet]. 2015;111:19–23. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25418384
- 190. Ludwig DS, Ebbeling CB. The Carbohydrate-Insulin Model of Obesity: Beyond 'Calories In, Calories Out.' JAMA Intern Med [Internet]. 2018 Aug 1 [cited 2021 Aug 17];178(8):1098–103. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6082688/
- 191. Gielkens HA, Verkijk M, Lam WF, Lamers CB, Masclee AA. Effects of hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia on satiety in humans. Metabolism. 1998 Mar;47(3):321–4.
- 192. Lavin JH, Read NW. The effect on hunger and satiety of slowing the absorption of glucose: Relationship with gastric emptying and postprandial blood glucose and insulin responses. Appetite. 1995;25(1):89–96.
- 193. Chapman IM, Goble EA, Wittert GA, Morley JE, Horowitz M. Effect of intravenous glucose and euglycemic insulin infusions on short- term appetite and food intake. American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology. 1998;274(3 43-3):596–603.

- 194. Schultes B, Panknin AK, Hallschmid M, Jauch-Chara K, Wilms B, de Courbière F, et al. Glycemic increase induced by intravenous glucose infusion fails to affect hunger, appetite, or satiety following breakfast in healthy men. Appetite. 2016 Oct 1;105:562–6.
- 195. Steinert RE, Feinle-Bisset C, Asarian L, Horowitz M, Beglinger C, Geary N. Ghrelin, CCK, GLP-1, and PYY(3–36): Secretory Controls and Physiological Roles in Eating and Glycemia in Health, Obesity, and After RYGB. Physiological Reviews [Internet]. 2017 Jan [cited 2022 Nov 7];97(1):411–63. Available from: https://journals.physiology.org/doi/full/10.1152/physrev.00031.2014
- 196. Cummings DE, Frayo RS, Marmonier C, Aubert R, Chapelot D. Plasma ghrelin levels and hunger scores in humans initiating meals voluntarily without time- and food-related cues. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism [Internet]. 2004 Aug [cited 2022 Aug 5];287(2):E297–304. Available from: https://journals.physiology.org/doi/full/10.1152/ajpendo.00582.2003
- 197. Jebb SA, Siervo M, Frühbeck G, Goldberg GR, Murgatroyd PR, Prentice AM. Variability of appetite control mechanisms in response to 9 weeks of progressive overfeeding in humans. Int J Obes [Internet]. 2006 Jul [cited 2022 Oct 14];30(7):1160–2. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/0803194
- 198. Johnson EC, Muñoz CX, Jimenez L, Le Bellego L, Kupchak BR, Kraemer WJ, et al. Hormonal and thirst modulated maintenance of fluid balance in young women with different levels of habitual fluid consumption. Nutrients. 2016 May;8(5).
- 199. King JA, Deighton K, Broom DR, Wasse LK, Douglas JA, Burns SF, et al. Individual Variation in Hunger, Energy Intake, and Ghrelin Responses to Acute Exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2017 Jun;49(6):1219–28.
- 200. Alfonsson S, Sewall A, Lidholm H, Hursti T. The Meal Pattern Questionnaire: A psychometric evaluation using the Eating Disorder Examination. Eating Behaviors [Internet]. 2016 Apr;21:7–10. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1471015315300295?via%3Dihub
- 201. Lowe MR, Butryn ML, Didie ER, Annunziato RA, Thomas JG, Crerand CE, et al. The Power of Food Scale. A new measure of the psychological influence of the food environment. Appetite [Internet]. 2009 Aug;53(1):114–8. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195666309005352?via%3Dihub
- 202. Arnow B, Kenardy J, Agras WS. The emotional eating scale: The development of a measure to assess coping with negative affect by eating. International Journal of Eating Disorders [Internet]. 1995 Jul;18(1):79–90. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/1098-108X%28199507%2918%3A1%3C79%3A%3AAID-EAT2260180109%3E3.0.CO%3B2-V
- 203. Karlsson J, Persson LO, Sjöström L, Sullivan M. Psychometric properties and factor structure of the Three-Factor Eating Questionnaire (TFEQ) in obese men and women. Results from the Swedish Obese Subjects (SOS) study. International journal of obesity and

related metabolic disorders : journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity [Internet]. 2000 Dec;24(12):1715–25. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11126230

- 204. White MA, Whisenhunt BL, Williamson DA, Greenway FL, Netemeyer RG. Development and Validation of the Food-Craving Inventory. Obesity Research [Internet]. 2002 Feb;10(2):107–14. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1038/oby.2002.17
- 205. Hunot C, Fildes A, Croker H, Llewellyn CH, Wardle J, Beeken RJ. Appetitive traits and relationships with BMI in adults: Development of the Adult Eating Behaviour Questionnaire. Appetite [Internet]. 2016 Oct;105:356–63. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S019566631630201X?via%3Dihub
- 206. Kliemann N, Beeken RJ, Wardle J, Johnson F. Development and validation of the Self-Regulation of Eating Behaviour Questionnaire for adults. International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity [Internet]. 2016 Dec;13(1):87. Available from: http://ijbnpa.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12966-016-0414-6
- 207. Patton JH, Stanford MS, Barratt ES. Factor structure of the Barratt impulsiveness scale. Journal of clinical psychology [Internet]. 1995 Nov;51(6):768–74. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8778124
- 208. Moshfegh AJ, Rhodes DG, Baer DJ, Murayi T, Clemens JC, Rumpler WV, et al. The US Department of Agriculture Automated Multiple-Pass Method reduces bias in the collection of energy intakes. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008 Aug;88(2):324–32.
- 209. Flint A, Raben A, Blundell JE, Astrup A. Reproducibility, power and validity of visual analogue scales in assessment of appetite sensations in single test meal studies. Int J Obes [Internet]. 2000 Jan [cited 2022 Aug 3];24(1):38–48. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/0801083
- 210. Hansen TT, Andersen SV, Astrup A, Blundell J, Sjödin A. Is reducing appetite beneficial for body weight management in the context of overweight and obesity? A systematic review and meta-analysis from clinical trials assessing body weight management after exposure to satiety enhancing and/or hunger reducing pro. Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity [Internet]. 2019 Jul;20(7):983–97. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/obr.12854 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30945414
- 211. McKiernan F, Hollis JH, McCabe GP, Mattes RD. Thirst-Drinking, Hunger-Eating; Tight Coupling? Journal of the American Dietetic Association [Internet]. 2009;109(3):486–90. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2008.11.027
- 212. Hopkins M, Blundell JE. Energy balance, body composition, sedentariness and appetite regulation: pathways to obesity. Clinical Science [Internet]. 2016 Aug 8 [cited 2022 Oct 20];130(18):1615–28. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1042/CS20160006

- 213. Gregersen NT, Møller BK, Raben A, Kristensen ST, Holm L, Flint A, et al. Determinants of appetite ratings: the role of age, gender, BMI, physical activity, smoking habits, and diet/weight concern. Food Nutr Res [Internet]. 2011 Aug 11 [cited 2022 Aug 4];55:10.3402/fnr.v55i0.7028. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3160809/
- 214. Sardá-Espinosa A. Time-Series Clustering in R Using the dtwclust Package. The R Journal [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2022 Oct 19];11(1):22–43. Available from: https://journal.r-project.org/archive/2019/RJ-2019-023/index.html
- 215. Liao, Warren T. Clustering of time series data—a survey. Pattern Recognition [Internet]. 2005 Nov 1 [cited 2022 Dec 1];38(11):1857–74. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0031320305001305
- 216. Cuturi, Marco. Fast Global Alignment Kernels. In Proceedings of the 28th international conference on machine learning (ICML-11),. :929–36.
- 217. Aghabozorgi S, Seyed Shirkhorshidi A, Ying Wah T. Time-series clustering A decade review. Information Systems [Internet]. 2015 Oct 1 [cited 2022 Dec 1];53:16–38. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306437915000733
- 218. Arbelaitz O, Gurrutxaga I, Muguerza J, Pérez JM, Perona I. An extensive comparative study of cluster validity indices. Pattern Recognition [Internet]. 2013 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Oct 19];46(1):243–56. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S003132031200338X
- 219. Drapeau V, King N, Hetherington M, Doucet E, Blundell J, Tremblay A. Appetite sensations and satiety quotient: predictors of energy intake and weight loss. Appetite [Internet]. 2007 Mar;48(2):159–66. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0195666306005964 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17045700
- 220. Hetherington MM, Cunningham K, Dye L, Gibson EL, Gregersen NT, Halford JCG, et al. Potential benefits of satiety to the consumer: scientific considerations. Nutrition research reviews [Internet]. 2013 Jun;26(1):22–38. Available from: http://www.journals.cambridge.org/abstract\_S0954422413000012 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23680169
- 221. Stubbs J, Brogelli D, Pallister C, Avery A, McConnon A, Lavin J. Behavioural and Motivational Factors Associated with Weight Loss and Maintenance in a Commercial Weight Management Programme. The Open Obesity Journal [Internet]. 2012 Nov 16 [cited 2022 Oct 28];4(1). Available from: https://benthamopen.com/ABSTRACT/TOOBESJ-4-35
- 222. Cecil J, Dalton M, Finlayson G, Blundell J, Hetherington M, Palmer C. Obesity and eating behaviour in children and adolescents: Contribution of common gene polymorphisms. International Review of Psychiatry [Internet]. 2012 Jun;24(3):200–10. Available from: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.3109/09540261.2012.685056

- 223. Halford JCG, Masic U, Marsaux CFM, Jones AJ, Lluch A, Marciani L, et al. Systematic review of the evidence for sustained efficacy of dietary interventions for reducing appetite or energy intake. Obesity Reviews [Internet]. 2018 Oct;19(10):1329–39. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29938880 http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/obr.12712 www.crd.york.ac.uk/
- 224. Batra P, Das SK, Salinardi T, Robinson L, Saltzman E, Scott T, et al. Eating behaviors as predictors of weight loss in a 6 month weight loss intervention. Obesity [Internet]. 2013 Nov;21(11):2256–63. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/oby.20404
- 225. Batra P, Das SK, Salinardi T, Robinson L, Saltzman E, Scott T, et al. Relationship of cravings with weight loss and hunger. Results from a 6month worksite weight loss intervention. Appetite [Internet]. 2013 Oct;69:1–7. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2013.05.002 https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195666313001931?via%3Dihub
- 226. Carnell S, Wardle J. Appetite and adiposity in children: evidence for a behavioral susceptibility theory of obesity. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition [Internet]. 2008 Jul 1 [cited 2022 Oct 28];88(1):22–9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/88.1.22
- 227. Jakubowicz D, Froy O, Wainstein J, Boaz M. Meal timing and composition influence ghrelin levels, appetite scores and weight loss maintenance in overweight and obese adults. Steroids [Internet]. 2012 Mar;77(4):323–31. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0039128X11003515?via%3Dihub
- 228. Reed JL, Chaput JP, Tremblay A, Doucet É. The Maintenance of Energy Balance Is Compromised after Weight Loss. Canadian Journal of Diabetes [Internet]. 2013 Apr 1 [cited 2022 Oct 28];37(2):121–7. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1499267113001883
- 229. Rehman AM, Woodd S, Chisenga M, Siame J, Sampson G, Praygod G, et al. Appetite testing in HIV-infected African adults recovering from malnutrition and given antiretroviral therapy. 2014; Available from: https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/42631727.pdf
- 230. Sayer RD, Peters JC, Pan Z, Wyatt HR, Hill JO. Hunger, Food Cravings, and Diet Satisfaction are Related to Changes in Body Weight During a 6-Month Behavioral Weight Loss Intervention: The Beef WISE Study. Nutrients [Internet]. 2018 Jun [cited 2022 Oct 28];10(6):700. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2072-6643/10/6/700
- 231. Thomas EA, Mcnair B, Bechtell JL, Ferland A, Cornier MA, Eckel RH. Greater hunger and less restraint predict weight loss success with phentermine treatment. Obesity [Internet].
  2016 [cited 2022 Oct 28];24(1):37–43. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/oby.21244
- 232. Wilson MMG, Thomas DR, Rubenstein LZ, Chibnall JT, Anderson S, Baxi A, et al. Appetite assessment: simple appetite questionnaire predicts weight loss in communitydwelling adults and nursing home residents. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition

[Internet]. 2005 Nov;82(5):1074–81. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/ajcn/article/82/5/1074/4607521

- 233. Bernstein IL, Zimmerman JC, Czeisler CA, Weitzman ED. Meal patterns in "free-running" humans. Physiol Behav. 1981 Oct;27(4):621–3.
- 234. Horgan AM, Palmbach GR, Jordan JM, Callahan HS, Meeuws KE, Weigle DS, et al. Self-selected meal composition alters the relationship between same-day caloric intake and appetite scores in humans during a long-term ad-libitum feeding study. Eur J Nutr [Internet]. 2022 Nov 8 [cited 2022 Nov 11]; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00394-022-03040-5
- 235. Higgins K, Hudson J, Mattes R, Gunaratna N, McGowan B, Hunter S, et al. Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of the Effect of Portion Size and Ingestive Frequency on Energy Intake and Body Weight Among Adults in Randomized Controlled Trials (P08-007-19). Current Developments in Nutrition [Internet]. 2019 Jun;3(Supplement\_1). Available from: https://academic.oup.com/cdn/article/doi/10.1093/cdn/nzz044.P08-007-19/5606411
- 236. Zhu Y, Hollis JH. Associations between eating frequency and energy intake, energy density, diet quality and body weight status in adults from the USA. British Journal of Nutrition. 2016 Jun;115(12):2138–44.
- 237. Kahleova H, Lloren JI, Mashchak A, Hill M, Fraser GE. Meal Frequency and Timing Are Associated with Changes in Body Mass Index in Adventist Health Study 2. J Nutr. 2017 Sep;147(9):1722–8.
- 238. Bachman JL, Raynor HA. Effects of manipulating eating frequency during a behavioral weight loss intervention: A pilot randomized controlled trial. Obesity. 2012 May;20(5):985–92.
- 239. Cameron JD, Cyr MJ, Doucet É. Increased meal frequency does not promote greater weight loss in subjects who were prescribed an 8-week equi-energetic energy-restricted diet. British Journal of Nutrition [Internet]. 2010 Apr;103(8):1098–101. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19943985 https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0007114509992984/type/journal\_articl e
- 240. Kant AK. Evidence for Efficacy and Effectiveness of Changes in Eating Frequency for Body Weight Management. Advances in Nutrition [Internet]. 2014 Nov;5(6):822–8. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/advances/article/5/6/822/4558123
- 241. Palmer MA, Capra S, Baines SK. Association between eating frequency, weight, and health. Nutrition Reviews [Internet]. 2009 Jul 1 [cited 2022 Oct 31];67(7):379–90. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-4887.2009.00204.x
- 242. Ohkawara K, Cornier MA, Kohrt WM, Melanson EL. Effects of increased meal frequency on fat oxidation and perceived hunger. Obesity [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2022 Nov

9];21(2):336–43. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/oby.20032

- 243. Coutinho SR, With E, Rehfeld JF, Kulseng B, Truby H, Martins C. The impact of rate of weight loss on body composition and compensatory mechanisms during weight reduction: A randomized control trial. Clinical Nutrition [Internet]. 2018 Aug 1 [cited 2022 Oct 17];37(4):1154–62. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0261561417301474
- 244. Beaulieu K, Casanova N, Oustric P, Turicchi J, Gibbons C, Hopkins M, et al. Matched Weight Loss Through Intermittent or Continuous Energy Restriction Does Not Lead To Compensatory Increases in Appetite and Eating Behavior in a Randomized Controlled Trial in Women with Overweight and Obesity. The Journal of Nutrition [Internet]. 2020 Mar 1 [cited 2022 Nov 1];150(3):623–33. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/nxz296
- 245. Polidori D, Sanghvi A, Seeley R, Hall KD. How strongly does appetite counter weight loss? Quantification of the feedback control of human energy intake. Obesity (Silver Spring) [Internet]. 2016 Nov [cited 2022 Oct 16];24(11):2289–95. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5108589/
- 246. Halliday TM, Rynders CA, Thomas E, Bergouignan A, Pan Z, Kealey EH, et al. Appetite-Related Responses to Overfeeding and Longitudinal Weight Change in Obesity-Prone and Obesity-Resistant Adults. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2020 Feb;28(2):259–67.
- 247. Aljuraiban GS, Chan Q, Oude Griep LM, Brown IJ, Daviglus ML, Stamler J, et al. The Impact of Eating Frequency and Time of Intake on Nutrient Quality and Body Mass Index: The INTERMAP Study, a Population-Based Study. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics [Internet]. 2015 Apr 1 [cited 2022 Nov 3];115(4):528-536.e1. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S221226721401764X
- 248. Tetley A, Brunstrom J, Griffiths P. Individual differences in food-cue reactivity. The role of BMI and everyday portion-size selections. Appetite. 2009 Jun;52(3):614–20.
- 249. Leidy HJ, Campbell WW. The effect of eating frequency on appetite control and food intake: brief synopsis of controlled feeding studies. J Nutr. 2011 Jan;141(1):154–7.
- 250. Kral TV, Roe LS, Rolls BJ. Combined effects of energy density and portion size on energy intake in women. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2004 Jun 1;79(6):962–8.
- 251. Leidy HJ, Apolzan JW, Mattes RD, Campbell WW. Food form and portion size affect postprandial appetite sensations and hormonal responses in healthy, non-obese, older adults. Obesity (Silver Spring) [Internet]. 2010 Feb [cited 2022 Oct 18];18(2):293–9. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4297632/
- 252. Ruddick-Collins LC, Morgan PJ, Fyfe CL, Filipe JAN, Horgan GW, Westerterp KR, et al. Timing of daily calorie loading affects appetite and hunger responses without changes in energy metabolism in healthy subjects with obesity. Cell Metabolism [Internet]. 2022 Oct 4

[cited 2022 Oct 18];34(10):1472-1485.e6. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1550413122003448

- 253. Brennan IM, Luscombe-Marsh ND, Seimon RV, Otto B, Horowitz M, Wishart JM, et al. Effects of fat, protein, and carbohydrate and protein load on appetite, plasma cholecystokinin, peptide YY, and ghrelin, and energy intake in lean and obese men. American journal of physiology Gastrointestinal and liver physiology [Internet]. 2012 Jul;303(1):G129-40. Available from: http://www.physiology.org/doi/10.1152/ajpgi.00478.2011 https://www.physiology.org/doi/10.1152/ajpgi.00478.2011 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22556143
- 254. Krop EM, Hetherington MM, Nekitsing C, Miquel S, Postelnicu L, Sarkar A. Influence of oral processing on appetite and food intake – A systematic review and meta-analysis. Appetite [Internet]. 2018 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Aug 2];125:253–69. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195666317315854
- 255. Mourao DM, Bressan J, Campbell WW, Mattes RD. Effects of food form on appetite and energy intake in lean and obese young adults. International Journal of Obesity [Internet]. 2007 Nov;31(11):1688–95. Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/0803667
- 256. Ehrlicher SE, Chui TK, Clina JG, Ellison KM, Sayer RD. The Data Behind Popular Diets for Weight Loss. Med Clin North Am. 2022 Sep;106(5):739–66.
- 257. Dansinger ML, Gleason JA, Griffith JL, Selker HP, Schaefer EJ. Comparison of the Atkins, Ornish, Weight Watchers, and Zone Diets for Weight Loss and Heart Disease Risk ReductionA Randomized Trial. JAMA [Internet]. 2005 Jan 5 [cited 2022 Oct 28];293(1):43–53. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.293.1.43
- 258. Sacks FM, Bray GA, Carey VJ, Smith SR, Ryan DH, Anton SD, et al. Comparison of Weight-Loss Diets with Different Compositions of Fat, Protein, and Carbohydrates. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2009 Feb 26 [cited 2022 Oct 28];360(9):859–73. Available from: https://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJMoa0804748
- 259. Truby H, Baic S, deLooy A, Fox KR, Livingstone MBE, Logan CM, et al. Randomised controlled trial of four commercial weight loss programmes in the UK: initial findings from the BBC "diet trials." BMJ. 2006 Jun 3;332(7553):1309–14.
- 260. Willoughby D, Hewlings S, Kalman D. Body Composition Changes in Weight Loss: Strategies and Supplementation for Maintaining Lean Body Mass, a Brief Review. Nutrients [Internet]. 2018 Dec [cited 2022 Oct 28];10(12):1876. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2072-6643/10/12/1876
- 261. Malik VS, Schulze MB, Hu FB. Intake of sugar-sweetened beverages and weight gain: a systematic review. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition [Internet]. 2006 Aug 1 [cited 2022 Nov 3];84(2):274–88. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/84.2.274

- 262. Schulze MB, Manson JE, Ludwig DS, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC, et al. Sugar-Sweetened Beverages, Weight Gain, and Incidence of Type 2 Diabetes in Young and Middle-Aged Women. JAMA [Internet]. 2004 Aug 25 [cited 2022 Nov 9];292(8):927–34. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.292.8.927
- 263. Chang DC, Penesova A, Bunt JC, Stinson EJ, Kavouras SA, Gluck ME, et al. Water intake, thirst, and copeptin responses to two dehydrating stimuli in lean men and men with obesity. Obesity [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 Nov 3];30(9):1806–17. Available from: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/oby.23520
- 264. Hays NP, Bathalon GP, McCrory MA, Roubenoff R, Lipman R, Roberts SB. Eating behavior correlates of adult weight gain and obesity in healthy women aged 55–65 y. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition [Internet]. 2002 Mar 1 [cited 2022 Oct 21];75(3):476–83. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/75.3.476
- 265. Provencher V, Drapeau V, Tremblay A, Després JP, Lemieux S. Eating Behaviors and Indexes of Body Composition in Men and Women from the Québec Family Study. Obesity Research [Internet]. 2003 [cited 2022 Oct 21];11(6):783–92. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1038/oby.2003.109
- 266. Armstrong LE, Johnson EC, McKenzie AL, Ellis LA, Williamson KH. Endurance Cyclist Fluid Intake, Hydration Status, Thirst, and Thermal Sensations: Gender Differences. International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism [Internet]. 2016 Apr 1 [cited 2022 Nov 3];26(2):161–7. Available from: https://journals.humankinetics.com/view/journals/ijsnem/26/2/article-p161.xml
- 267. Parker BA, Sturm K, MacIntosh CG, Feinle C, Horowitz M, Chapman IM. Relation between food intake and visual analogue scale ratings of appetite and other sensations in healthy older and young subjects. Eur J Clin Nutr [Internet]. 2004 Feb [cited 2022 Nov 1];58(2):212–8. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/1601768
- 268. Zandstra EH, Mathey MF, Graaf C, van Staveren WA. Short-term regulation of food intake in children, young adults and the elderly. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2000 Mar;54(3):239–46.
- 269. Mathey, Marie-Frangoise AM. Aging and appetite: social and physiological approaches in the elderly. Wageningen University and Research; 2000.
- 270. Cox NJ, Morrison L, Robinson SM, Roberts HC, Ibrahim K. Older individual's perceptions of appetite, its loss, influencing factors and adaptions to poor appetite. A qualitative study. Appetite. 2021 Dec 1;167:105609.
- 271. de Souto Barreto P. Poor Appetite & Aging: The Role of Physical Activity under a Geroscience Perspective. J Nutr Health Aging [Internet]. 2022 Oct 1 [cited 2022 Oct 27];26(10):907–8. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s12603-022-1849-x
- 272. Bossingham MJ, Carnell NS, Campbell WW. Water balance, hydration status, and fat-free mass hydration in younger and older adults. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition
[Internet]. 2005 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Nov 3];81(6):1342–50. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/81.6.1342

- 273. de Castro JM. Age-related changes in natural spontaneous fluid ingestion and thirst in humans. J Gerontol. 1992 Sep;47(5):P321-330.
- 274. Farrell MJ, Zamarripa F, Shade R, Phillips PA, McKinley M, Fox PT, et al. Effect of aging on regional cerebral blood flow responses associated with osmotic thirst and its satiation by water drinking: A PET study. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences [Internet]. 2008 Jan 8 [cited 2022 Nov 3];105(1):382–7. Available from: https://www.pnas.org/doi/full/10.1073/pnas.0710572105
- 275. Phillips PA, Rolls BJ, Ledingham JGG, Forsling ML, Morton JJ, Crowe MJ, et al. Reduced Thirst after Water Deprivation in Healthy Elderly Men. New England Journal of Medicine. 1984 Sep;311(12):753–9.
- 276. Stookey JD. High Prevalence of Plasma Hypertonicity among Community-Dwelling Older Adults: Results from NHANES III. Journal of the American Dietetic Association [Internet].
  2005 Aug 1 [cited 2022 Nov 9];105(8):1231–9. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S000282230500636X
- 277. Toffanello ED, Inelmen EM, Minicuci N, Campigotto F, Sergi G, Coin A, et al. Ten-year trends in dietary intake, health status and mortality rates in free-living elderly people. J Nutr Health Aging. 2010 Apr;14(4):259–64.
- 278. Kenney WL, Chiu P. Influence of age on thirst and fluid intake. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise [Internet]. 2001 Sep [cited 2022 Nov 3];33(9):1524–32. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/acsmmsse/Fulltext/2001/09000/Influence\_of\_age\_on\_thirst\_and\_fluid\_intake.16.aspx
- 279. Millard-Stafford M, Wendland DM, O'Dea NK, Norman TL. Thirst and hydration status in everyday life. Nutr Rev. 2012 Nov;70 Suppl 2:S147-151.
- 280. Zheng H, Lenard NR, Shin AC, Berthoud HR. Appetite control and energy balance regulation in the modern world: reward-driven brain overrides repletion signals. Int J Obes [Internet]. 2009 Jun [cited 2022 Oct 15];33(2):S8–13. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/ijo200965
- 281. Mattes RD. Hunger and thirst: issues in measurement and prediction of eating and drinking. Physiol Behav. 2010 Apr 26;100(1):22–32.
- 282. Hill RJ, Davies PS. The validity of self-reported energy intake as determined using the doubly labelled water technique. Br J Nutr. 2001 Apr;85(4):415–30.
- 283. Kim EK, Fenyi JO, Kim JH, Kim MH, Yean SE, Park KW, et al. Comparison of total energy intakes estimated by 24-hour diet recall with total energy expenditure measured by the doubly labeled water method in adults. Nutr Res Pract. 2022 Oct;16(5):646–57.

- 284. Perrigue MM, Drewnowski A, Wang CY, Neuhouser ML. Higher Eating Frequency Does Not Decrease Appetite in Healthy Adults. The Journal of Nutrition. 2016;146(1):59–64.
- 285. Nymo S, Coutinho SR, Eknes PH, Vestbostad I, Rehfeld JF, Truby H, et al. Investigation of the long-term sustainability of changes in appetite after weight loss. Int J Obes [Internet]. 2018 Aug [cited 2022 Nov 12];42(8):1489–99. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41366-018-0119-9
- 286. Hill JO, Wyatt HR, Peters JC. The Importance of Energy Balance. Eur Endocrinol [Internet]. 2013 Aug [cited 2022 Nov 12];9(2):111–5. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6003580/
- 287. Stubbs RJ, Hughes DA, Johnstone AM, Horgan GW, King N, Blundell JE. A decrease in physical activity affects appetite, energy, and nutrient balance in lean men feeding ad libitum. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004 Jan;79(1):62–9.
- 288. Carnell S, Wardle J. Appetitive traits and child obesity: measurement, origins and implications for intervention. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society [Internet]. 2008 Nov;67(4):343–55. Available from: http://www.journals.cambridge.org/abstract\_S0029665108008641 https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0029665108008641/type/journal\_articl e http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18715519
- 289. Tsuruta M, Kawada T, Fukuwatari T, Fushiki T. The orosensory recognition of long-chain fatty acids in rats. Physiology and Behavior. 1999;66(2):285–8.
- 290. Mattes RD. Fat taste and lipid metabolism in humans. Physiology and Behavior. 2005;86(5):691–7.
- 291. Mattes RD. Effects of linoleic acid on sweet, sour, salty, and bitter taste thresholds and intensity ratings of adults. American Journal of Physiology Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology. 2007;292(5):1243–8.
- 292. Galindo MM, Voigt N, Stein J, Van lengerich J, Raguse JD, Hofmann T, et al. G proteincoupled receptors in human fat taste perception. Chemical Senses. 2012;37(2):123–39.
- 293. Ozdener MH, Subramaniam S, Sundaresan S, Sery O, Hashimoto T, Asakawa Y, et al. CD36- and GPR120-mediated Ca2+ signaling in human taste bud cells mediates differential responses to fatty acids and is altered in obese mice. Gastroenterology. 2014;146(4):995-1005.e5.
- 294. Running CA, Craig BA, Mattes RD. Oleogustus: The Unique Taste of Fat. Chemical Senses. 2015;40:507–16.
- 295. Costanzo A, Orellana L, Nowson C, Duesing K, Keast R. Fat taste sensitivity is associated with short-term and habitual fat intake. Nutrients. 2017;9(7):1–12.

- 296. Costanzo A, Nowson C, Orellana L, Bolhuis D, Duesing K, Keast R. Effect of dietary fat intake and genetics on fat taste sensitivity: A co-Twin randomized controlled trial. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2018;107(5):683–94.
- 297. Andersen CA, Nielsen L, Møller S, Kidmose P. Cortical Response to Fat Taste. Chemical Senses. 2020 May 21;45(4):283–91.
- 298. Running CA, Mattes RD. Different oral sensitivities to and sensations of short-, medium-, and long-chain fatty acids in humans. American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology. 2014 Aug 1;307(3):G381–9.
- 299. Green BG, Dalton P, Cowart B, Shaffer G, Rankin K, Higgins J. Evaluating the 'Labeled Magnitude Scale' for Measuring Sensations of Taste and Smell. Chemical Senses. 1996 Jun 1;21(3):323–34.
- 300. Papackova Z, Cahova M. Fatty acid signaling: The new function of intracellular lipases. Vol. 16, International Journal of Molecular Sciences. MDPI AG; 2015. p. 3831–55.
- 301. Kawai T, Fushiki T. Importance of lipolysis in oral cavity for orosensory detection of fat. American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology. 2003 Aug 1;285(2 54-2).
- 302. Teng B, Wilson CE, Tu YH, Joshi NR, Kinnamon SC, Liman ER. Cellular and Neural Responses to Sour Stimuli Require the Proton Channel Otop1. Current Biology. 2019;29(21):3647-3656.e5.
- 303. Tu YH, Cooper AJ, Teng B, Chang RB, Artiga DJ, Turner HN, et al. An evolutionarily conserved gene family encodes proton-selective ion channels. Science. 2018 Mar 2;359(6379):1047–50.
- 304. Mattes RD. Oral detection of short-, medium-, and long-chain free fatty acids in humans. Chemical Senses. 2009;34(2):145–50.
- 305. Bautista DM, Sigal YM, Milstein AD, Garrison JL, Zorn JA, Tsuruda PR, et al. Pungent agents from Szechuan peppers excite sensory neurons by inhibiting two-pore potassium channels. Nature Neuroscience. 2008 Jul;11(7):772–9.
- 306. Chandrashekar J, Hoon MA, Ryba NJP, Zuker CS. The receptors and cells for mammalian taste. Vol. 444, Nature. Nature Publishing Group; 2006. p. 288–94.
- 307. Feeney EL, Hayes JE. Regional Differences in Suprathreshold Intensity for Bitter and Umami Stimuli. Chemosensory Perception. 2014;7(3–4):147–57.
- 308. Matsuda T, Doty RL. Regional taste sensitivity to NaCl: Relationship to subject age, tongue locus and area of stimulation. Chemical Senses. 1995 Jun;20(3):283–90.
- Breslin PAS, Spector AC. Mammalian taste perception. Vol. 18, Current Biology. Curr Biol; 2008.

- 310. Gaillard D, Laugerette F, Darcel N, El-Yassimi A, Passilly-Degrace P, Hichami A, et al. The gustatory pathway is involved in CD36-mediated orosensory perception of long-chain fatty acids in the mouse. The FASEB Journal. 2008 May 27;22(5):1458–68.
- 311. Liu P, Shah BP, Croasdell S, Gilbertson TA. Transient Receptor Potential Channel Type M5 Is Essential for Fat Taste. Journal of Neuroscience. 2011 Jun 8;31(23):8634–42.
- 312. Gilbertson TA, Fontenot DT, Liu L, Zhang H, Monroe WT. Fatty acid modulation of K+ channels in taste receptor cells: Gustatory cues for dietary fat. American Journal of Physiology Cell Physiology. 1997;272(4 41-4).
- 313. Yasumatsu K, Iwata S, Inoue M, Ninomiya Y. Fatty acid taste quality information via GPR120 in the anterior tongue of mice. Acta Physiologica. 2019 May 19;226(1):e13215.
- 314. Obrist M, Comber R, Subramanian S, Piqueras-Fiszman B, Velasco C, Spence C. Temporal, Affective, and Embodied Characteristics of Taste Experiences: A Framework for Design. 2014;
- 315. Motsuo R. Role of saliva in the maintenance of taste sensitivity. Vol. 11, Critical Reviews in Oral Biology and Medicine. Intern. and American Associations for Dental Research; 2000. p. 216–29.
- 316. Schmale H, Holtgreve-Grez H, Christiansen H. Possible role for salivary gland protein in taste reception indicated by homology to lipophilic-ligand carrier proteins. Nature. 1990;343(6256):366–9.
- 317. Neyraud E. Role of saliva in oral food perception. Monographs in Oral Science. 2014;24:61–70.
- 318. Fábián TK, Beck A, Fejérdy P, Hermann P, Fábián G. Molecular mechanisms of taste recognition: Considerations about the role of saliva. Vol. 16, International Journal of Molecular Sciences. MDPI AG; 2015. p. 5945–74.
- 319. Besnard P, Passilly-Degrace P, Khan NA. Taste of fat: A sixth taste modality? Physiological Reviews. 2015;96(1):151–76.
- 320. Liu D, Archer N, Duesing K, Hannan G, Keast R. Mechanism of fat taste perception: Association with diet and obesity. Progress in Lipid Research. 2016;63:41–9.
- 321. Mattes RD. Is There a Fatty Acid Taste? Annual Review of Nutrition. 2009 Aug;29(1):305–27.
- 322. Stewart JE, Feinle-Bisset C, Golding M, Delahunty C, Clifton PM, Keast RSJ. Oral sensitivity to fatty acids, food consumption and BMI in human subjects. British Journal of Nutrition. 2010 Jul;104(1):145–52.

- 323. Chevrot M, Passilly-Degrace P, Ancel D, Bernard A, Enderli G, Gomes M, et al. Obesity interferes with the orosensory detection of long-chain fatty acids in humans. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2014 May 1;99(5):975–83.
- 324. Keller KL, Liang LCH, Sakimura J, May D, van Belle C, Breen C, et al. Common Variants in the *CD36* Gene Are Associated With Oral Fat Perception, Fat Preferences, and Obesity in African Americans. Obesity. 2012 May 1;20(5):1066–73.
- 325. Pepino MY, Love-Gregory L, Klein S, Abumrad NA. The fatty acid translocase gene CD36 and lingual lipase influence oral sensitivity to fat in obese subjects. Journal of Lipid Research. 2012 Mar 1;53(3):561–6.
- 326. Tucker RM, Laguna L, Quinn R, Mattes RD. The effect of short, daily oral exposure on non-esterified fatty acid sensitivity. Chemosensory Perception. 2013 Jun 13;6(2):78–85.
- 327. Zhang J, Jin H, Zhang W, Ding C, O'Keeffe S, Ye M, et al. Sour Sensing from the Tongue to the Brain. Cell. 2019 Oct 3;179(2):392-402.e15.
- 328. Challis RC, Ma M. Sour taste finds closure in a potassium channel. Vol. 113, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. National Academy of Sciences; 2016. p. 246–7.

# APPENDIX A. STUDY MATERIALS OF APPETITE VARIABILITY STUDY

**Recruiting materials – Flyer** 

IRB Protocol #: IRB-2020-1651

# RESEARCH STUDY Purdue University



Participants are needed by the Purdue Nutrition Science Department for a study of examining the relationship between appetite ratings and eating pattern.

We are looking for men and women (18 – 64 y) in good physical health who are not diabetic, or other health problems/disease.

> For more information, please contact: Eunjin Cheon <u>cheone@purdue.edu</u>

Principal Investigator - Professor Richard Mattes

1

## **Recruiting materials – Online Advertisements**

Participants are needed for a research study to examine the relationship between appetite ratings and eating pattern. Men and women ages 18 to 64 with no physical health problems/disease. Participants will be compensated \$100.

The principal investigator for the study is Richard Mattes, Distinguished Professor of Nutrition Science. Those interested in participating should contact Eunjin at cheone@purdue.edu . (IRB-2020-1651)

## **Recruiting materials – Verbal Advertisements**

We are looking for healthy participants who are aged between 18 to 64 to examine the relationship between appetite ratings and eating pattern. Principal Investigator is Professor Richard Mattes. If you are interested in this study and would like to get further information, please contact me through e-mail (cheone@purdue.edu).

### RESEARCH PARTICIPANT CONSENT FORM [Appetite Ratings and Eating Patterns] [Principal Investigator: Richard Mattes, PhD. R.D.] [Department of Nutrition Science] Purdue University

## **Key Information**

Please take time to review this information carefully. This is a research study. Your participation in this study is voluntary which means that you may choose not to participate at any time without penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled. You may ask researchers questions about the study whenever you would like. If you decide to take part in the study, you will be asked to sign this form. Be sure you understand what you will do and any possible risks or benefits.

- This research study aims to determine the association between appetite/thirst ratings and eating patterns.
- You are being asked to participate for 17 weeks. There will be one face-to-face meeting for screening and virtual meetings during weeks 1, 9, and 17.

## What is the purpose of this study?

- This study will examine the relationship between appetite/thirst sensations and eating patterns.
- · We would like to enroll 180 people in this study.

## What will I do if I choose to be in this study?

You will either meet through Zoom or come to our lab (Room 226 of Stone Hall, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN) once for screening and have three virtual meetings at weeks 1, 9, and 17. Throughout the 17-week study period, appetite/thirst ratings, dietary records, and physical activity will be measured at fixed intervals (as described below).

## Specific Procedures

Baseline visit

- You will record selected basic personal information including age, biological sex, race/ethnicity.
- b. Your weight, height, BMI, fat% will be measured.
- You will complete multiple questionnaires about your eating habits and eating environment.
- d. You will get instruction on how to record your dietary intake through the ASA-24 system.
- e. You will receive appetite concept training for about 30 minutes.
  - After training, you will take a quiz for about 20 minutes to check your understanding of the method.
  - If you score at least 90%, you will pass the training. If not, you will have two more opportunities to be trained. If you do not pass the quiz after three trainings, you will not be able to continue the study.

## Weeks 1, 9, and 17

- a. Virtual meetings:
  - i. You will have a virtual meeting through Zoom.
  - You will be reminded about the necessity and method for recording of appetite/thirst ratings, dietary recalls, and physical activity to be completed during three days (2 non-consecutive weekdays and 1 weekend day).

IRB No. IRB-2020-1651

- b. Hourly appetite and thirst rating:
  - You will be asked to record your hunger, fullness, and thirst sensations on a visual analog scale hourly during all waking hours for 24 hours.
- c. 24-Dietary Recall:
  - You will be asked to record your food intake through the ASA-24 system on the same days you record your hourly appetite ratings.
- d. Physical activity
  - You will be asked to record your physical activity through smart-phone app on the same days you record your hourly appetite ratings.



Figure1. Study Timeline

#### How long will I be in the study?

This study will require one physical visit and three virtual meetings as well as three days of data collection on three occasions over 17 weeks

The lengths of the visit and meetings are:

- a. Screening: 1-1.5 hours
- b. Virtual meeting on week 1, 9, 17: 0.5 hour (30 minutes)

### What are the possible risks or discomforts?

All research has risk. This research has minimal risk, defined as the risk found in everyday life. Some inconvenience may be experienced when you rate appetite and record food intake on three days of weeks 1, 9, and 17.

Breach of confidentiality is always a risk with data, but we will take precautions to minimize this risk as described in the confidentiality section below.

COVID-19 presents new risks. In order to best protect participants, certain new procedures will be enacted, including the wearing of a mask by participants and study staff when in contact with one another. All equipment and surfaces used will be disinfected at the end of use. Participant study times will be staggered so that social distancing can be maintained. Lastly, participants will be screened 24-48 hours before each study appointment with the following question: "Have you

Page 2

IRB No. IRB-2020-1651

116

had a new cough, shortness of breath, sore throat, vomiting, diarrhea, muscle ache or fever in the last 14 days OR have you traveled out of the country in the last 14 days?" The participant will not be allowed to come in for their appointment unless the answer is "No" for each system.

## Are there any potential benefits?

You will receive no foreseeable direct benefit from your participation. The knowledge gained may provide insights for studying appetite with the intent to reduce energy intake and manage body weight.

### Will I receive payment or other incentive?

You will receive a total payment of \$100 as compensation for any inconvenience caused by your participation in the full 17-week study. The compensation will be paid by check when your participation in the study is completed.

A payment of \$20 will be made for completion of week1, \$30 for completion of week 9, and \$50 for completion of week 17 should you withdraw or be withdrawn from the study.

You will need to complete a payment log with the Department of Nutrition Science Business Office to receive payment, and some personal information will be required including, name, address and social security number. Non-resident participants will be required to complete additional payment procedures via the Purdue Glacier system.

### Are there costs to me for participation?

There are no anticipated costs to participate in this study.

### This section provides more information about the study

### Will information about me and my participation be kept confidential?

You understand that the record of your progress in the study will be kept in a confidential file in a locked filing cabinet in a secure location on the Purdue Campus. A copy of this consent form and the record of your progress will be retained for three years after termination of the study. At that time, the records will be destroyed. The confidentiality of any computer record will also be carefully guarded by never including your name on any data file. The information will be stored electronically on a password-protected computer file. No information by which you can be identified will be published. However, you understand that it will be necessary to provide your name, social security number and address to the University business office to process any compensation payments. In addition, research records may be inspected by the Purdue University Institutional Review Board or its designees, and (as allowable by law) state or federal agencies including the National Institutes of Health.

#### Clinicaltrials.gov

"A description of this clinical trial will be available on ClinicalTrials.gov, as required by U.S. Law. This website will not include information that can identify you. At most, the Website will include a summary of the results. You can search this Website at any time"

IRB No. IRB-2020-1651

### What are my rights if I take part in this study?

- Your participation in this study is voluntary. You do not have to participate in this research project. If you agree to participate, you may withdraw your participation at any time without penalty.
- · If you do not pass the quiz after three trainings, you will not be able to continue the study.

## Who can I contact if I have questions about the study?

If you have questions, comments or concerns about this research project, you can talk to one of the researchers. Eunjin Cheon (cheone@purdue.edu) would be the point of contact. You may also contact Richard Mattes (765-494-0062, mattes@purdue.edu), the principal investigator of the project.

To report anonymously via Purdue's Hotline see www.purdue.edu/hotline

If you have questions about your rights while taking part in the study or have concerns about the treatment of research participants, please call the Human Research Protection Program at (765) 494-5942, email (irb@purdue.edu) or write to:

Human Research Protection Program - Purdue University Ernest C. Young Hall, Room 1032 155 S. Grant St. West Lafayette, IN 47907-2114

## **Documentation of Informed Consent**

I have had the opportunity to read this consent form and have the research study explained. I have had the opportunity to ask questions about the research study, and my questions have been answered. I am prepared to participate in the research study described above. I will be offered a copy of this consent form after I sign it.

Participant's Signature

Date

Participant's Name

Researcher's Signature

Date

IRB No. IRB-2020-1651

**Demographic questionnaire** 

## **Demographic Information:**

1) Gender: Female \_\_\_\_\_ Male \_\_\_\_\_

2a) Age: \_\_\_\_\_ 2b) Date of Birth: \_\_\_\_\_ (mm-dd-yyyy)

Race:

- American Indian/Alaska Native
- Asian
- African American
- Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander
- Caucasian
- Mexican
- Other, please indicate \_\_\_\_\_\_

4) Ethnicity:

- Hispanic/Latino
- Non-Hispanic/Latino

## Eating Trait questionnaires 1 (Meal Pattern Questionnaire)

In this questionnaire we ask you how often you have had meals or snacks during the last 28 days. Please read these instructions thoroughly and indicate your answers by circling the number that best correspond to your situation. When you answer, please remember to take into account whether your eating habits are different during the weekdays or weekends.

A meal or snack is in this case warm or cold food, sandwiches, salad, <u>yoghurt</u>, cereals, porridge, fruits, nuts, smoothies, or similar.

Foods high in sugar and/or fat such as candy, cake, cookies, buns, crackers, potato chips, chocolate, energy bars, ice cream, dried fruits and similar are NOT considered meals or snacks.

Beverages (e.g. coffee, tea, soft drinks, energy drinks, juice) are NOT considered meals or snacks.

Please note that if you have had "brunch", it should be coded as lunch.

If you find it difficult to choose between two numbers, please circle the higher of the two.

If you find it very difficult to classify your meals (e.g. if you have a night job) please state the reason here \_\_\_\_\_\_

· · ·

Please circle the appropriate number on the right. Remember that the question refers to the past four weeks (28 days) only.

On how many of the past 28 days have you had	No days	1– 5 days	6– 12 days	13– 15 days	16– 22 days	23– 27 days	Every day
Breakfast	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
Mid-morning snack	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
Lunch	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
Mid-afternoon snack	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
Evening meal (dinner)	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
Evening snack	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
Nocturnal eating (eating during the night after having been to sleep)	0	1	2	3	4	5	6

		I don't agree (1)	I agree a little (2)	I agree somewhat (3)	I agree quite a bit (4)	I strongly agree (5)
Q1	I find myself thinking about food even when I'm not physically hungry	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q2	I get more pleasure from eating than I do from almost anything else	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q3	If I see or smell a food I like, I get a powerful urge to have some	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q4	When I'm around a fattening food I love, it's hard to stop myself from at least tasting it	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q5	It's scary to think of the power that food has over me	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q6	When I know a delicious food is available, I can't help myself from thinking about having some	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q7	I love the taste of certain foods so much that I can't avoid eating them even if they're bad for me	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q8	Just before I taste a favorite food, I feel intense anticipation	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q9	When I eat delicious food, I focus a lot on how good it tastes	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q10	Sometimes, when I'm doing everyday activities, I get an urge to eat 'out of the blue' (for no apparent reason)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q11	I think I enjoy eating a lot more than most other people	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q12	Hearing someone describe a great meal makes me really want to have something to eat	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q13	It seems like I have food on my mind a lot	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q14	It's very important to me that the foods I eat are as delicious as possible	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q15	Before I eat a favorite food, my mouth tends to flood with saliva	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)

# Eating Trait questionnaires 2 (Power of Food Scale)

## Eating Trait questionnaires 3 (The Emotional Eating Scale)

We all respond to different emotions in different ways. Some types of feelings lead people to experience an urge to eat. Please indicate the extent to which the following feelings lead you to feel an urge to eat by checking the appropriate box.

		No Desire to Eat (1)	A Small Desire to Eat (2)	A Moderate Desire to Eat (3)	A Strong Urge to Eat (4)	An Overwhelming Urge to Eat (5)
Q1	Resentful	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q2	Discouraged	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(1)
Q3	Shaky	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q4	Worn Out	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q5	Inadequate	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q6	Excited	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q7	Rebellious	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q8	Blue	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q9	Jittery	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q10	Sad	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q11	Uneasy	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q12	Irritated	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q13	Jealous	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q14	Worried	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q15	Frustrated	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q16	Lonely	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q17	Furious	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q18	On edge	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q19	Confused	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q20	Nervous	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q21	Angry	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q22	Guilty	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q23	Bored	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q24	Helpless	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Q25	Upset	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)

Cognitive	Restraint	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)		
Q1	I deliberately ta	nke small helpings as	a means of controll	ing my weight.			
		Definitely False	Mostly False	Mostly True	Definitely True		
Q2	I consciously ho	old back at meals in o	order not to gain we	ight.			
		Definitely False	Mostly False	Mostly True	Definitely True		
Q3	I do not eat som	ne foods because they	v make me fat.				
		Definitely False	Mostly False	Mostly True	Definitely True		
Q4	How frequently	do you avoid `stock	ing up' on tempting	foods?			
		Almost never	Seldom	Usually,	Almost always		
Q5	How likely are	you to consciously ea	it less than you want	t?			
		Unlikely	Slightly likely	Moderately likely	Very likely		
Q6	On a scale of 1 to 8, where 1 means no restraint in eating (eating whatever you want, whenever you want it) and 8 means total restraint (constantly limiting food intake and never `giving in'), what number would you give yourself? Your score:						
		Eat whatever I want, whenever I want it (1)			constantly limiting food intake, never `giving in' (8)		
Uncontro	lled eating	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)		
Q1	When I smell a eating, even if I	sizzling steak or a ju have just finished a	icy piece of meat, I i meal.	find it very difficult	to keep from		
		Definitely False	Mostly False	Mostly True	Definitely False		
Q2	Sometimes whe	n I start eating, I jus	t can't seem to stop.				
		Definitely False	Mostly False	Mostly True	Definitely True		
Q3	Being with som	eone who is eating of	ften makes me hung	ry enough to eat also	).		
		Definitely False	Mostly False	Mostly True	Definitely True		
Q4	When I see a re	al delicacy, I often g	et so hungry that I h	ave to eat right away	y.		
		Definitely False	Mostly False	Mostly True	Definitely True		
Q5	I get so hungry	that my stomach oft	en seems like a botto	omless pit.			
		Definitely False	Mostly False	Mostly True	Definitely True		

# Eating Trait questionnaires 4 (The Eating Inventory)

Q6	I am always hungry, so it is hard for me to stop eating before I finish the food on my plate.							
		Definitely False	Mostly False	Mostly True	Definitely True			
Q7	I am always hungry enough to eat at any time.							
		Definitely False	Mostly False	Mostly True	Definitely True			
Q8	How often do you feel hungry?							
		Only at mealtimes	Sometimes between meals	Often between meals	Almost always			
Q9	Do you go on ea	ating binges though y	ou are not hungry?					
		Never	Rarely	Sometimes	At least once a week			
Emotiona	l eating	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)			
Q1	When I feel anxious, I find myself eating.							
		Definitely False	Mostly False	Mostly True	Definitely True			
Q2	When I feel blue, I often overeat.							
		Definitely False	Mostly False	Mostly True	Definitely True			
Q3	When I feel lon	ely, I console myself	by eating.					
		Definitely False	Mostly False	Mostly True	Definitely True			

# Eating Trait questionnaires 5 (Food Craving Inventory)

	Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Often (4)	Always/almost
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Factor 1: High fats					
Fried Chicken					
Sausage					
Gravy					
Fried fish					
Bacon					
Corn bread					
Hot dog					
Steak					
Factor 2: Sweets					
Brownies					
Cookies					
Candy					
Chocolate					
Donuts					
Cake					
Cinnamon rolls					
Ice cream					
Factor 3: Starches/	<u>Carbohydra</u>	tes	1		
Rolls					
Pancakes or					
waffles					
Biscuits					
Sandwich bread					
Rice					
Baked potato					
Pasta					
Cereal					
Factor 4: Fast-food	fats	1			1
Hamburger					
French fries					
Chips					
Pizza					

Over the past month, how often have you experienced a craving for the food?

AEBQ	AEBQ item
Н	I often feel so hungry that I have to eat something right away
	I often notice my stomach rumbling
	If I miss a meal, I get irritable
	If my meals are delayed, I get light-headed
	I often feel hungry
FR	I often feel hungry when I am with someone who is eating
	When I see or smell food that I like, it makes me want to eat
	Given the choice, I would eat most of the time
	I am always thinking about food
EOE	I eat more when I'm annoyed
	I eat more when I'm worried
	I eat more when I'm upset
	I eat more when I'm anxious
	I eat more when I'm angry
EF	I love food
	I look forward to mealtimes
	I enjoy eating
SR	I often leave food on my plate at the end of a meal
	I often get full before my meal is finished
	I get full up easily
	I cannot eat a meal if I have had a snack just before
EUE	I eat less when I'm worried
	I eat less when I'm angry

# Eating Trait questionnaires 6 (Adult Eating Behavior Scales)

AEBQ	AEBQ item
	I eat less when I'm upset
	I eat less when I'm annoyed
	I eat less when I'm anxious
FF	I refuse new foods at first
	I often decide that I don't like a food, before tasting it
	I enjoy tasting new foods*
	I am interested in tasting food I haven't tasted before*
	I enjoy a wide variety of foods*
SE	I eat slowly
	I am often last at finishing a meal
	I eat more and more slowly during the course of a meal
	I often finish my meal (s) quickly*

H, 'hunger'; FR, 'food responsiveness'; EOE, 'emotional over-eating'; EF, 'enjoyment of food'; SR, 'satiety responsiveness'; EUE, 'emotional under-eating'; FF, 'food fussiness'; SE, 'slowness in eating'.

Response options for the CEBQ: 'never', 'rarely', 'sometimes', 'often' and 'always'.

Response options for the AEBQ: 'strongly disagree', 'disagree', 'neither agree not disagree',

'agree' and 'strongly agree'.

\*Indicates item should be reverse scored for calculating scale means or Cronbach's alphas

## Eating Trait questionnaires 7 (Self-regulation of Eating Behaviour Questionnaire)

## **Screening questions:**

1. Do you find any of these foods tempting (that is, do you want to eat more of them than you think you should)? (Tick those which apply)

	Chocolate		Fizzy drinks		Pizza	
	Crisps		Biscuits		Fried foods	
	Cakes		Sweets		Chips	
	Ice cream		Popcorn		Other foods	
	Bread/toast		Pastries		I don't find any food tempting	
If you have ticked other foods, please specify:						

## 2. Do you intend NOT to eat too much of these foods you find tempting in the previous question?

Yes
No

## 3. Do you intend to have a healthy diet?

	Yes

	No
--	----

## **Self-Regulation of Eating Behavior Questions:**

## 4. Please read the following statements and tick the boxes most appropriate to you.

For the next few questions, please, understand that:

- 'Tempting foods' are any food you want to eat more of than you think you should.

- 'Eating intentions' refer to the way you are aiming to eat, for example you may intend to avoid tempting foods or eat healthy foods.

		Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Always
1	I give up too easily on my eating intentions					
2	I'm good at resisting tempting food					
3	I easily get distracted from the way I intend to eat					
4	If I am not eating in the way I intend to I make changes					
5	I find it hard to remember what I have eaten throughout the day					

## Eating Trait questionnaires 8 (Barratt Impulsiveness Scale)

DIRECTIONS: People differ in the ways they act and think in different situations. This is a test to measure some of the ways in which you act and think. Read each statement and put an X on the appropriate circle on the right side of this page. Do not spend too much time on any statement. Answer quickly and honestly.

0		2	3		(4)		
Rarely/Ne	ever	Occasionally	Often	Almo	Almost Always/Always		
1 I plan tasks ca	arefully.			0	0	3	٩
2 I do things wi	ithout thinki	ng.		0	0	3	٩
3 I make-up my	3 I make-up my mind quickly.					3	(4)
4 I am happy-ge	4 I am happy-go-lucky.					3	(4)
5 I don't "pay attention."					0	3	٩
6 I have "racing	6 I have "racing" thoughts.					3	(4)
7 I plan trips we	ell ahead of	time.		0	0	3	٩
8 I am self cont	trolled.			0	0	3	٩
9 I concentrate	easily.			0	0	3	٩
10 I save regular	dy.			0	0	3	٩
11 I "squirm" at	plays or lect	ures.		0	0	3	٩
12 I am a careful	l thinker.			0	0	3	٩
13 I plan for job	security.			0	0	3	۲
14 I say things without thinking.					0	3	(4)
15 I like to think	about comp	lex problems.		0	0	3	(4)
16 I change jobs.				0	0	3	٩
17 I act "on impo	ulse."			0	0	3	(4)
18 I get easily be	ored when so	lving thought prob	lems.	0	0	3	(4)
19 I act on the sp	pur of the me	oment.		0	0	3	(4)
20 I am a steady	thinker.			0	0	3	٩
21 I change resid	fences.			0	0	3	(4)
22 I buy things o	on impulse.			0	0	3	(4)
23 I can only this	nk about one	thing at a time.		0	0	3	(4)
24 I change hobb	bies.			0	0	3	(4)
25 I spend or cha	arge more th	an I eam.		0	0	3	(4)
26 I often have e	xtraneous th	oughts when thinki	ing.	0	0	3	(4)
27 I am more int	erested in th	e present than the f	uture.	0	0	3	(4)
28 I am restless a	at the theater	or lectures.		0	0	3	(4)
29 I like puzzles.				0	0	3	(4)
30 I am future or	0	0	3	۲			

Patton, Stanford, Barratt (1995). J Clin Psy, vol. 51, pp. 768-774

**Appetite Rating Questionnaire** 

Please enter the last three digits of your participant ID. (e.g. 055-054-xxx)

What time is it now? (HH:MM AM/PM) (e.g. 8:05 AM)

Please rate your appetite sensations below.

How hungry do you feel? (0 = I am not hungry at all , 100 = Extremely hungry)

I am not hungry at all Extremely hungry 0 100 O How full do you feel? (0 = I am not full at all , 100 = Extremely full) I am not full at all Extremely full 0 100 О How thirsty do you feel? (0 = I am not thirsty at all, 100 = I am extremely thirsty) I am not thirsty at all I am extremely thirsty 0 100 О

## **Goldberg cut-offs**

$$EI_{rep}: BMR > PAL \times exp \left[ s. d._{min} \frac{(S/100)}{\sqrt{n}} \right]$$
$$EI_{rep}: BMR < PAL \times exp \left[ s. d._{max} \frac{(S/100)}{\sqrt{n}} \right]$$
$$S = \sqrt{\frac{CV_{wEI}^2}{d} + CV_{wB}^2 + CV_{tP}^2}$$

*EI<sub>rep</sub>*: Reported Energy Intake *BMR*: Basal Metabolic Rate *PAL* = 1.55  $CV_{wEI} = 23$   $CV_{wB} = 8.5$   $CV_{tP} = 15$  d = 9 S = 18.87 *s. d.<sub>min</sub>* = -3 (99% confidence interval) *s. d.<sub>max</sub>* = 3 (99% confidence interval)

 $1.46 < EI_{rep}: BMR < 1.65$ 

# APPENDIX B. STUDY MATERIALS OF APPETITE TRAINING STUDY

**Recruiting materials – flyers** 

IRB Protocol #: IRB-2020-214

# RESEARCH STUDY Purdue University



Participants are needed by the Purdue Nutrition Science Department for a study evaluating the effect of concept trainings on appetite measurement.

We are looking for men and women (18 – 60 y) in good physical health who are not diabetic, and not obese.

> For more information, please contact: Eunjin Cheon <u>cheone@purdue.edu</u>

Principal Investigator – Professor Richard Mattes

## **Social Media Recruiting Script**

Participants are needed for a research study evaluating the effect of concept trainings on appetite measurement. Men and women ages 18 to 60 with a body mass index (BMI) between 18 and 25 are eligible to participate. Participants will be compensated \$100.

The principal investigator for the study is Richard Mattes, Distinguished Professor of Nutrition Science. Those interested in participating should contact Eunjin at cheone@purdue.edu . (IRB-2020-214)

## **Verbal Recruiting Script**

We are looking for healthy participants who are aged between 18 to 60 to evaluate the effect of concept trainings on appetite measurement. Principal Investigator is Professor Richard Mattes. If you are interested in this study and would like to get further information, please contact me through e-mail (cheone@purdue.edu).

### RESEARCH PARTICIPANT CONSENT FORM

[Appetite Lexicon Training] [Principal Investigator: Richard Mattes, PhD. R.D.] [Department of Nutrition Science] Purdue University

### Key Information

Please take time to review this information carefully. This is a research study. Your participation in this study is voluntary which means that you may choose not to participate at any time without penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled. You may ask questions to the researchers about the study whenever you would like. You should be certain you understand what you will be asked to do and any possible risks or benefits associated with your participation before agreeing to participate. If you decide to take part in the study, you will be asked to sign this form.

- This randomized controlled trial aims to improve the reliability and sensitivity of appetite ratings by training on different response scales.
- This research study will last 9 weeks. Visits occur once a week and vary in length from about 1.5 hours to 3.5 hours.

### What is the purpose of this study?

This study will examine the effects of two types of trainings on the reliability and sensitivity of appetite ratings. We would like to enroll 100 people in this study.

## What will I do if I choose to be in this study?

You will come to our laboratory (Room 226 of Stone Hall, Purdue University) every week at about the same time of a day. You will be randomly assigned to appetite lexicon training group or the basic taste lexicon training group. After training, you will take a quiz to check your understanding of the method. If you score 90%, you will pass the training. If not, you will have two more opportunities to be trained. If you do not pass the quiz, you will not be able to continue the study. Throughout the 9-week study period, weekly assessments will be performed at fixed intervals (as described below).

### Specific Procedures

#### Baseline visit

- You will record your basic demographic information including age, biological sex, and race/ethnicity.
- b. Your weight and height will be measured.
- You will complete multiple questionnaires about your health (e.g., disease history, medication, use smoking habit, pregnancy status, body weight history, diet history, allergies)

## Week 1-2, 4-9

a. Pre-load testing:

IRB No.2020-214

- You will arrive at the laboratory having fasted more than 4 hours once a week. You
  will rate the magnitude of your hunger on a scale and a sample of blood will be
  collected to check your blood sugar concentration.
- You will rate your appetite sensations (hunger, fullness, desire to eat, and prospective consumption) 7 times (15 and 0 minutes before the preload and 30, 60, 90, 120 and 180 minutes after a small meal).
- b. Daily Appetite rating:
  - On a separate day of the week, you will be asked to record your appetite sensations hourly during waking hours for 24 hours.

Week 3: Lexicon Training

- a. You will receive appetite or basic taste rating training for about 30 minutes.
- b. You will take a quiz for about 20 minutes.
- c. If you pass the quiz, you will be asked to record your hourly appetite ratings during all waking hours for 24 hours in a separate day of the week.
- d. If you do not pass the quiz, you will be asked to visit another day and undergo training again and take a quiz to verify your understanding of the technique.



### How long will I be in the study?

This study will require ten visits over a ten-week period. On a separate day of the week, you will record your appetite hourly during waking hours for 24 hours.

The length of each visit is:

- a. Screening: 1 1.5 hours
- b. Week1-2, 4-9: 4 3.5 hours
- c. Week 3: 1 1.5 hours

## What are the possible risks or discomforts?

IRB No.2020-214

All research has risk. This research has minimal risk, defined as the risk found in everyday life. The food and beverage samples you will be asked to consume are commercially available and pose no foreseeable risk. Some inconvenience may be experienced when you rate appetite during the visit and record appetite hourly on selected days.

Breach of confidentiality is always a risk with data, but we will take precautions to minimize this risk as described in the confidentiality section.

COVID-19 presents new risks. In order to best protect participants, certain new procedures will be enacted, including the wearing of a mask by participants and study staff when in contact with one another. All equipment and surfaces used will be disinfected at the end of use. Participant study times will be staggered so that social distancing can be maintained. Lastly, participants will be screened 24-48 hours before each study appointment with the following question: "Have you had a new cough, shortness of breath, sore throat, vomiting, diarrhea, muscle ache or fever in the last 14 days OR have you traveled out of the country in the last 14 days?" The participant will not be allowed to come in for their appointment unless the answer is no.

## Are there any potential benefits?

You will receive no foreseeable direct benefit from your participation. The knowledge gained may provide insights for studying appetite with the intent to reduce energy intake and manage body weight.

## Will I receive payment or other incentive?

You will receive \$10 for each week that they remain in the study and you will be compensated up to \$100 for the completion of the study. If you do not meet pre-set eligibility criteria during the screening assessment, a payment of \$10 will be made. A payment of \$10 will be made for each completed week of study (except if training testing is repeated) should you withdraw or be withdrawn from the study. If the tablet is damaged or stolen, the whole compensation (\$100) will be deducted for replacing the tablet.

You will need to complete a payment log with the Department of Nutrition Science Business Office to receive payment, and some personal information will be required including, name, address and social security number. Non-resident participants will be required to complete additional payment procedures via the Purdue Glacier system.

## Are there costs to me for participation?

There are no costs to participate in this study. There is an electronic tablet we ask you to use during the weekly trials. There is no cost to you if the tablet is broken. However, if you lose the tablet or it is stolen, we will use part of your payment to replace the tablet.

### This section provides more information about the study

## What happens if I become injured or ill because I took part in this study?

If you feel you have been injured due to participation in this study, please contact Richard Mattes (765-494-0662; mattes@purdue.edu). Purdue University will not provide medical treatment or financial compensation if you are injured or become ill as a result of participating in this research

IRB No.2020-214

project. This does not waive any of your legal rights nor release any claim you might have based on negligence.

## Will information about me and my participation be kept confidential?

You understand that the record of your progress in the study will be kept in a confidential file in a locked filing cabinet in a secure location on the Purdue Campus. A copy of this consent form and the record of your progress will be retained for three years after termination of the study. At that time, the records will be destroyed. The confidentiality of any computer record will also be carefully guarded by never including your name on any data file. The information will be stored electronically on a password-protected computer file. No information by which you can be identified will be published. However, you understand that it will be necessary to provide your name, social security number and address to the University business office to process any compensation payments. In addition, research records may be inspected by the Purdue University Institutional Review Board or its designees, and (as allowable by law) state or federal agencies including the National Institutes of Health.

"A description of this clinical trial will be available on ClinicalTrials.gov, as required by U.S. Law. This website will not include information that can identify you. At most, the Website will include a summary of the results. You can search this Website at any time"

## Clinicaltrials.gov

"A description of this clinical trial will be available on ClinicalTrials.gov, as required by U.S. Law. This website will not include information that can identify you. At most, the Website will include a summary of the results. You can search this Website at any time"

## What are my rights if I take part in this study?

Your participation in this study is voluntary. You do not have to participate in this research project. If you agree to participate, you may withdraw your participation at any time without penalty.

## Who can I contact if I have questions about the study?

If you have questions, comments or concerns about this research project, you can talk to one of the researchers. You may also contact Richard Mattes (765-494-0062, <u>mattes@purdue.edu</u>), the principal investigator of the project.

To report anonymously via Purdue's Hotline see www.purdue.edu/hotline

If you have questions about your rights while taking part in the study or have concerns about the treatment of research participants, please call the Human Research Protection Program at (765) 494-5942, email (irb@purdue.edu) or write to:

Human Research Protection Program - Purdue University Ernest C. Young Hall, Room 1032 155 S. Grant St. West Lafayette, IN 47907-2114

## Documentation of Informed Consent

IRB No.2020-214

I have had the opportunity to read this consent form and have the research study explained. I have had the opportunity to ask questions about the research study, and my questions have been answered. I am prepared to participate in the research study described above. I will be offered a copy of this consent form after I sign it.

Participant's Signature

Date

Participant's Name

Researcher's Signature

Date

IRB No.2020-214

# Appetite confusion questionnaires for taste training group (group2) to collect baseline understanding on appetite concept

Please enter your participant ID below. (e.g. 055-053-XXX)

# Question 1

Hunger vs. Fullness: Are they opposite sensations on a single continuum?

- Yes, they are opposite sensations
- $\bigcirc$  No, they are not opposite sensations.

# Question 2

Let's move on to the next question.

Please imagine you are in the situation below:

You just had lunch.

However, when you see desserts like ice cream or cakes, you still want to eat them and feel you can eat them even after the satisfying meal.

Which sensation motivates you to eat the desserts?

- O Hunger
- O Desire to Eat
- O Prospective Consumption
- O Fullness

## Question 3

Now, let's assume you had dinner and went to a movie theater.

When you get into the theater, you smell popcorn.

Even though you are full, you still want to eat popcorn.

So, you decide to eat a small size popcorn that you think you could finish.

What is the proper question to measure **the sensation** that makes you decide to choose a small size popcorn?

- O How large a portion do you think you could eat now?
- O How full do you feel?
- O How much hungry do you feel?
- O How strong is your desire to eat?

## **Question 4**

Let's explore another situation.

You went to a buffet which has 50 different kinds of foods.

You have had 5 dishes so far and you feel full.

Even though you can eat more foods, you would like to stop eating.

What is the proper question to measure *the* **sensation** that makes you stop eating?

- O How strong is you desire to eat?
- O How full do you feel?
- $\bigcirc$  How large a portion do you think you could eat now?
- O How much hungry do you feel?

## Question 5

Is the statement below always true?

When your fullness increases, your desire to eat decreases.

- O No, it is not always true.
- Yes, it is always true.

# Question 6

When a person says, "I can eat a horse now." which sensation does this statement reflect?

- O <sub>Hunger</sub>
- O Prospective Consumption
- O Desire to Eat
- O Fullness

# **Question 7**

Now, you have one last question!

When you are hungry, which food would be the most efficient to reduce your hunger?

- $\bigcirc$  Diet (sweetened with low-calorie sweeteners) beverages
- O Sugar sweetened beverages
- O Plain water with lemon slices
- O A celery stick

Taste confusion questionnaires for appetite training group (group1) to collect baseline understanding on taste concept

Please enter your participant ID below. (e.g. 055-053-XXX)

# Question 1

Flavor vs. Taste: Are they the same sensations?

- Yes, they are the same sensations.
- O No, they are not same sensations.

# Question 2

Let's move on the next question.

Is there a specific region on the tongue to detect a specific taste quality as proposed in the picture below?



 ${\rm O}$  No, there is no specific region for a specific taste quality.

 ${igodot}$  Yes, one taste can be detected in specific regions of the tongue
# Question 3

Let's imagine you have a cup of sour solution like lemon juice.

If you add one tablespoon of sugar into a sour solution, will the intensity of sourness change?

O Yes, sourness will be changed.

m O No, there is no change in sourness

# Question 4

Please drag items into the proper box.



# Question 5

Now, let's assume that you are asked to rate the salty intensity of a salty soup after consuming either a piece of bread or potato chips.

In which case do you think you rate salty intensity of the soup highest?

O After consuming bread.

• After consuming potato chips.

O There will be no difference in salty intensity with both cases.

Question 6 Soy sauce vs Salt

Which taste quality is mainly different between soy sauce and salt?

O Sour taste

- O Umami taste
- O Bitter taste
- O Sweet taste
- O Salty taste

# Question 7

Now, we have one last question.

Is a metallic sensation in your mouth a taste response or response from another sensory system?

O Yes, metallic sensation is a taste response.

• No, metallic sensation is a response from another sensory system.

Appetite rating questionnaires at visiting day

(at -15, 0 (right before the meal), 30, 60, 90, 180 min)



Please enter your participant ID. (e.g. 055-053-xxx)

Please rate your appetite sensations below.

How hungry do you feel? (0 = I am not hungry at all , 100 = Extremely hungry)

li am not hungry at all

Extremely hungry

How full do you feel? (0 = 1 am not full at all, 100 = Extremely full)

Ο

О

I am not full at all 0 Extremely full 100 How strong is your desire to eat? (0 = 1 have no desire to eat, 100 = 1 have an extremely strong desire to eat)

I have no desire to eat 0	I have an extremely strong desire to eat 100
	0
How large a portion do you think Nothing at all , 100 = An extremel	you could eat now? (0 = y large amount)
Nothing at all 0	An extremely large amount 100

Taste questionnaires at visiting day (right after participants finished their meals)

```
How sweet does the food taste? (0 = Not sweet at all, 100 =
Extremely sweet)
Not sweet at all
                                                                  Extremely Sweet
0
```

O

100

How bitter does the food taste? (0 = Not bitter at all, 100 =Extremely bitter)

```
Not bitter at all
                                                                        Extremely bitter
0
                                                                                100
How sour does the food taste? (0 = Not sour at all, 100 =
Extremely sour)
Not sour at all
                                                                         Extremely Sour
0
                                                                                 100
                                             С
How savory does the food taste? (0 = Not savory at all, 100 =
Extremely savory)
Not savory at all
                                                                         Extremely Savory
0
                                                                                  100
                                             С
```

**Appetite Concept Training Handouts** 

# **Appetite Rating Training**

Mattes Lab

Eunjin Cheon (cheone@purdue.edu)

1

2

What is appetite?

An array of sensations that guide food intake.

**Major Indices** 

HUNGER

FULLNESS

**DESIRE TO EAT** 

**PROSPECTIVE CONSUMPTION** 



# A Sensation that

motivates the *initiation* of an eating event and stems from a *biological need* for energy.

# Q: How hungry do you feel?





A Sensation that motivates the initiation of an eating event, but stems more from cognitive and sensory cues.

# Q: How strong is you desire to eat?





A Sensation that terminates an eating event.

# Q: How full do you feel?



4 Prospective Consumption

An anticipated portion that may be consumed.

Q: How large a portion do you think you can eat now?



## **Appetite Concept Training**



#### **Default Question Block**

Welcome to Appetite Training!

Please enter your participant ID below. (e.g. 055-053-XXX)

#### Please watch the basic training video carefully.



Great! Let's discuss **common confusions** in appetite sensations by answering the following questions.

Please click the arrow to continue.

Hunger vs. Fullness: Are they opposite sensations on a single continuum?

- $\bigcirc$  No, they are not opposite sensations.
- ${
  m O}$  Yes, they are opposite sensations
- (If incorrect, participant retried until they chose the right answer.)

Oops! Please try it again.

Hunger vs. Fullness: Are they opposite sensations?

 $\bigcirc$  No, they are not opposite sensations.

 ${f O}$  Yes, they are opposite sensations

(If they correct, they move on to the explanation video.)

You are correct!

They are NOT opposite sensations.

Please click the arrow to learn about why hunger and fullness are not opposite sensations.

#### Confusion 1 - explaination



#### Confusion 2 - Hunger vs Desire to eat

Let's move on to the next question.

Please imagine you are in the situation below:

You just had lunch.

However, when you see desserts like ice cream or cakes, you still want to eat them and feel you can eat them even after the satisfying meal.

Which sensation motivates you to eat the desserts?

- O Prospective Consumption
- O <sub>Hunger</sub>
- O Desire to Eat
- O Fullness

(If incorrect, participant retried until they chose the right answer.)

Oops! Please try it again.

Let's move on the next question.

Please imagine you are in the situation below:

You just had lunch.

However, when you see desserts like ice cream or cakes, you still want to eat them and feel you can eat them even after the satisfying meal.

Which sensation motivates you to eat the desserts?

O Prospective Consumption

- O Desire to Eat
- O Hunger
- O Fullness

(If they correct, they move on to the explanation video.)

You are correct!

It is a DESIRE TO EAT sensation.

Please click the arrow to learn more about how our desire to eat is different from hunger

# Confusion 2 - explanation



#### Confusion 3 - Desire to eat vs. prospective consumption

Now, let's assume you had dinner and went to a movie theater.

When you get into the theater, you smell popcorn.

Even though you are full, you still want to eat popcorn.

So, you decide to eat a small size popcorn that you think you could finish.

What is the proper question to measure **the sensation** that makes you decide to choose a small size popcorn?

- O How full do you feel?
- O How much hungry do you feel?
- O How strong is your desire to eat?
- O How large a portion do you think you could eat now?
- (If incorrect, participant retried until they chose the right answer.) Oops! Please try it again.

Now, let's assume you had dinner and went to a movie theater.

When you get into the theater, you smell popcorn.

Even though you are full, you still want to eat popcorn.

So, you decide to eat a small size popcorn that you think you could finish.

What is the proper question to measure **the sensation** that makes you decide to choose a small size popcorn?

- O How full do you feel?
- $\bigcirc$  How large a portion do you think you could eat now?
- O How strong is your desire to eat?
- O How much hungry do you feel?

(If they correct, they move on to the explanation video.)

You are correct!

"How large a portion do you think you could eat now?" is the right question to ask "Prospective Consumption" and it decides the size of popcorn.

Please click the arrow to learn the difference between Desire to Eat and Prospective Consumption.

# Confusion 3 - explanation

٣(	BI
Q: How LARGE A PORTION	do you think you could eat now?
NOTHING	An extremely
n	100 Madawith
	VAnimaker

#### confusion 4 - prospective consumption vs Fullness

Let's explore another situation.

You went to a buffet which has 50 different kinds of foods.

You have had 5 dishes so far and you feel full.

Even though you can eat more foods, you would like to stop eating.

What is the proper question to measure *the* sensation that makes you stop eating?

- O How much hungry do you feel?
- O How full do you feel?
- O How large a portion do you think you could eat now?
- O How strong is you desire to eat?

(If incorrect, participant retried until they chose the right answer.) **Confusion 4 – answer** 

Oops! Please try it again.

Let's assume that you went to a buffet which has 50 different kinds of foods.

You have had 5 dishes so far and you feel full.

Even though you can eat more foods, you would like to stop eating.

What is the proper question to measure **this sensation** that makes you stop eating?

- O How large a portion do you think you could eat now?
- O How full do you feel?
- O How much hungry do you feel?
- O How strong is you desire to eat?

(If they correct, they move on to the explanation video.) You are correct!

"How full do you feel?" is the right question to measure "Fullness" that makes you stop eating.

Please click the arrow to learn the difference between Fullness and Prospective Consumption.

# confusion 4 - explanation

Please watch the explaining video carefully.



### confusion 5 - Fullness vs desire to eat

Is the statement below always true?

When your fullness increases, your desire to eat decreases.

- O No, it is not always true.
- O Yes, it is always true.

(If incorrect, participant retried until they chose the right answer.)

Oops! Please try it again.

Is the statement below always true?

When your fullness increases, your desire to eat decreases.

 ${\rm O}$  No, it is not always true.

O Yes, it is always true.

(If they correct, they move on to the explanation video.) You are correct!

"Fullness" and "Desire to Eat" are independent each other.

Please click the arrow to learn the difference between Fullness and Desire to Eat.

## Confusion 5 - explanation



## confusion 6 - Hunger vs prospective consumption

When a person says, " I can eat a horse now." which sensation does this statement reflect?

- O <sub>Hunger</sub>
- O Prospective Consumption
- O Desire to Eat
- O Fullness

(If incorrect, participant retried until they chose the right answer.)

## Confusion 6 - answer

Oops! Please try it again.

When a person says, "I can eat a horse now." which sensation does this statement reflect?

- O Desire to Eat
- O Fullness
- O <sub>Hunger</sub>
- O Prospective Consumption

(If they correct, they move on to the explanation video.)

You are correct!

"Prospective Consumption" is about "how LARGE a PORTION" that you could eat now.

Please click the arrow to learn the difference between Hunger and Prospective Consumption.

# Confusion 6 - explanation



Please watch the explaining video carefully.

# confusion 7 - Hunger : Energy based

Now, you have one last question!

When you are hungry, which food would be the most efficient to reduce your hunger?

- ${
  m O}$  Plain water with lemon slices
- ${f O}$  Diet (sweetened with low-calorie sweeteners) beverages
- O Sugar sweetened beverages
- O A celery stick

(If incorrect, participant retried until they chose the right answer.)

## Confusion 7 - answer

Oops! Please try it again.

When you are hungry, which food would be the most efficient to reduce your hunger?

- O Sugar sweetened beverages
- ${
  m O}$  Diet (sweetened with low-calorie sweeteners) beverages
- ${\rm O}$  Plain water with lemon slices
- O A celery stick

(If they correct, they move on to the explanation video.) You are correct!

"Energy" is required to reduce "Hunger".

Please click the arrow to learn about how to reduce hunger.

# Confusion 7 - explanation



# **Appetite Lexicon Quiz (20 mins)**

# : Answer

- 1. Define each of the appetite sensations listed below.
  - a. Hunger
  - b. Fullness
  - c. Desire to Eat
  - d. Prospective Consumption
- 2. Explain the difference between each of these two concepts a. Hunger vs. Fullness

  - b. Hunger vs. Desire to Eat
  - c. Desire to Eat vs. Prospective Consumption
  - d. Hunger vs. Prospective Consumption
  - e. Desire to Eat vs. Fullness
  - f. Fullness vs Prospective Consumption

- 3. Please choose one BEST answer. (True or False)
  - a. If the sensation of hunger decreases, the sensation of the fullness must increase. True / False
  - b. After a satisfying meal, people eat dessert because they still feel a desire to eat.
     True / False
  - c. Prospective consumption is very high, your hunger level must be very low. True / False
  - d. Hunger and fullness are attributable to the high concentration of the same hormone.
     True / False
  - e. Having a piece of candy decrease the sensation of hunger but not the sensation of fullness.

True / False

- 4. Please choose one BEST answer. (Multiple Choice)
  - a. Hunger is a sensation that determines how much you could eat.
  - b. Hunger is a sensation that motivates the termination of an eating event.
  - c. Hunger is a sensation that motivates the initiation of an eating event and stems from psychological cues.
  - d. Hunger is a sensation that motivates the initiation of an eating event and stems from energy needs.
- 5. Please choose one BEST answer. (Multiple Choice)
  - a. Fullness is a sensation that determines when you stop an eating event.
  - b. Fullness is a sensation that only stems from sensations from the stomach.
  - c. When fullness increases, hunger must decrease.
  - d. When fullness decreases, prospective consumption must increase.
- 6. Please choose one BEST answer. (Multiple Choice)
  - a. Prospective consumption is a degree of desire to eat.
  - b. Prospective consumption is an anticipated portion that may be consumed.
  - c. Prospective consumption is an anticipated eating frequency.
  - d. Prospective consumption is an index of energy density.

- 7. Please choose one BEST answer. (Multiple Choice)
  - a. Desire to eat is derived from energy needs
  - b. Desire to eat is an index of liking foods regardless of hunger.
  - c. Desire to eat is an index of wanting foods regardless of hunger.
  - d. If desire to eat is high, hunger must be high.

**Taste Concept Training Materials** 

# **Taste Rating Training**

Mattes Lab

Eunjin Cheon (cheone@purdue.edu)

1

What is taste?

A sensation in the mouth when a substance is detected by taste receptors.







# A taste sensation from sugar.

Sugar (sucrose), Low-calorie sweeteners [aspartame (Equal), Sucralose (Splenda), saccharin (Sweet'N Low)]

# Q: How sweet does the food taste?





# A taste sensation from lemon.

Vinegar (acetic acid), lemon (citric acid), and sour-patch candy

# Q: How sour does the food taste?





A taste sensation from meats.

Meats, soy sauce, seaweeds

# Q: How savory does the food taste?



**Taste Concept Training** 



#### **Default Question Block**

Welcome to Taste Rating Training!

Please enter your participant ID below. (e.g. 055-053-xxx)

#### Please watch the basic training video carefully.



#### Confusion 1 - flavor vs. taste

Great! Let's discuss **common confusions** in taste sensations by answering the following questions.

Please click the arrow to continue.

Flavor vs. Taste: Are they the same sensations?

O No, they are not same sensations.

 ${\rm O}$  Yes, they are the same sensations.

(If incorrect, participant retried until they chose the right answer.) **confusion 1 – answer** 

Oops! Please try it again.

Flavor vs. Taste: Are they the same sensations?

 ${\sf O}$  Yes, they are the same sensations.

 ${
m O}$  No, they are not the same sensations.

(If they correct, they move on to the explanation video.)

You are correct!

Flavor and Tate are NOT the same sensations!

Please click the arrow to learn about how taste and flavor are different.

#### **Confusion 1 - explaination**



## Confusion 2 - tongue map

Let's move on the next question.

Is there a specific region on the tongue to detect a specific taste quality as proposed in the picture below?



O Yes, one taste can be detected in specific regions of the tongue O No, there is no specific region for a specific taste quality.

(If incorrect, participant retried until they chose the right answer.) Oops! Please try it again.

Is there a specific region to detect a specific taste quality?



- ${igodot}$  Yes, one taste can be detected in specific regions of the tongue
- $\bigcirc$  No, there is no specific region for a specific taste quality.

(If they correct, they move on to the explanation video.) You are correct!

There is NO tongue map.

Please click the arrow to learn more about truth of tongue map.

# Confusion 2 - explanation

#### Please watch the explaining video carefully.



### Confusion 3 - taste interactions

Let's imagine you have a cup of sour solution like lemon juice.

If you add one tablespoon of sugar into a sour solution, will the intensity of sourness change?

- O Yes, sourness will be changed.
- ${\rm O}$  No, there is no change in sourness

(If incorrect, participant retried until they chose the right answer.)

Oops! Please try it again.

Let's imagine you have a cup of sour solution like lemon juice.

If you add one table spoon of sugar into the sour solution, will the intensity of sourness change?

- O Yes, sourness will be changed.
- ${\rm O}$  No, there is no change in sourness

(If they correct, they move on to the explanation video.)

You are correct!

Sugar (sweet compounds) can affect an intensity of lemon juice (Sour compounds).

Please click the arrow to learn the impact of one taste quality to the other taste qualities.

### Confusion 3 - explanation



# Confusion 4 - Bitter vs sour

Please drag items into the proper box.

Items	Bitter
Coffee	
Green Tea	
Lemon	
Spinach	
Vinegar	Sour

(If incorrect, participant retried until they chose the right answer.) Oops! Please try it again.

Please drag items into the proper box.

Items

Coffee

Lemon

Green Tea

Spinach

Vinegar

Bitter		
	_	
	Sour	
	Sour	
	Sour	

(If they correct, they move on to the explanation video.) You are correct!

Spinach, coffee, and green tea are bitter compounds while lemon and vinegar are sour compounds.

Please click the arrow to learn the reason of bitter/sour confusion.

# Confusion 4 - explanation

Please watch the explaining video carefully.



### confusion 5 - taste adaptation

Now, let's assume that you are asked to rate the salty intensity of a salty soup after consuming either a piece of bread or potato chips.

In which case do you think you rate salty intensity of the soup highest?

- O After consuming bread.
- O After consuming potato chips.
- ${\rm O}$  There will be no difference in salty intensity with both cases.

(If incorrect, participant retried until they chose the right answer.)

Oops! Please try it again.

Now, let's assume that you are asked to rate the salty intensity of a salty soup after consuming either a piece of bread or potato chips.

In which case do you think you rate salty intensity of the soup highest?

O After consuming potato chips.

 ${\rm O}$  There will be no difference in salty intensity with both cases.

O After consuming bread.

(If they correct, they move on to the explanation video.)

You are correct!

The intensity of soup is higher after consuming bread compared to potato chips.

Please click the arrow to learn about the effect of repeated exposure of the same taste quality on the taste intensity.

#### **Confusion 5 - explanation**



#### confusion 6 - umami taste

Soy sauce vs Salt

Which taste quality is mainly different between soy sauce and salt?

O Sweet taste

- O Bitter taste
- O Salty taste
- O Sour taste
- O Umami taste

(If incorrect, participant retried until they chose the right answer.) Oops! Please try it again.

Soy sauce vs Salt

Which taste quality is mainly different between soy sauce and salt?

- O Sour taste
- O Sweet taste
- O Salty taste
- O Bitter taste
- O Umami taste

(If they correct, they move on to the explanation video.)

You are correct!

Soy sauce has umami taste that salt doesn't have.

Please click the arrow to learn how soy sauce has umami taste.
### Confusion 6 - explanation

Please watch the explaining video carefully.



### Confusion 7 - metallic taste

Now, we have one last question.

Is a metallic sensation in your mouth a taste response or response from another sensory system?

- ${
  m O}$  No, metallic sensation is a response from another sensory system.
- O Yes, metallic sensation is a taste response.

(If incorrect, participant retried until they chose the right answer.) Oops! Please try it again.

Is a metallic sensation in your mouth a taste response or response from another sensory system?

O Yes, metallic sensation is a taste response.

 ${
m O}$  No, metallic sensation is a response from another sensory system.

(If they correct, they move on to the explanation video.)

You are correct!

Metallic taste is not a taste response.

Please click the arrow to learn about metallic taste.

### Confusion 7 - explanation

#### Please watch the explaining video carefully.



### Taste Lexicon Quiz (20 mins)

### : Answer

- 1. Define of each taste sensation with the reference taste.
  - a. Taste
  - b. Sweetness
  - c. Bitterness
  - d. Sourness
  - e. Saltiness
  - f. Umami taste
- 2. Explain the concepts / phenomenon below.
  - a. Flavor vs. Taste
  - b. Tongue map
  - c. Repeating exposure of one taste quality
  - d. Impact of one taste quality to another taste quality
  - e. Difference between salt and soy sauce in taste quality.
- 3. Please choose one BEST answer. (True or False)
  - a. There is a metallic taste receptor on the tongue.
     True / False

- b. People feel the saltiness in the specific area of the tongue. True / False
- c. Lemon is a representative compound of bitterness.
   True / False
- d. Sour-patch candies are less sweet than jellybeans due to sour compounds.
   True / False
- e. The sweetness of chocolate can be reduced after the repeated exposure to a candy. True / False
- 4. Please choose one BEST answer. (Multiple Choice)
  - a. Major taste qualities are sweet, bitter, sour, salty, and umami tastes.
  - b. Major taste qualities are sweet, bitter, umami and metallic tastes.
  - c. Major taste qualities are sweet, bitter, sour and umami.
  - d. Major taste qualities are sweet, bitter, umami and fatty acids.
- 5. Please choose one BEST answer. (Multiple Choice)
  - a. Adding sugar does not reduce bitterness of coffee.
  - b. There is only one taste receptor in the tongue.
  - c. Sodium chloride is a reference compound for the saltiness
  - d. Flavor refers to taste.
- 6. Please choose one BEST answer. (Multiple Choice)
  - a. Aspartame is a sour compound.
  - b. Acetic acid is a sour compound.
  - c. Phytochemical is a sour compound.
  - d. Caffeine is a sour compound.
- 7. Please choose one BEST answer. (Multiple Choice)
  - a. Sweet taste is only detected in the frontal tongue.
  - b. Sour taste is detected in the side of the tongue.
  - c. Bitter taste is detected in the back of the tongue.
  - d. Salty taste is detected in all areas of the tongue.

### APPENDIX C. PERCEPTUAL QUALITY OF NON-ESTERIFIED FATTY ACIDS VARIES WITH FATTY ACID CHAIN LENGTH

### Footnotes

This study is a part of my doctoral training. Perceptual qualities of fatty-acids with different chain-length were explored. This manuscript was published by the Chemical Sciences on April 30, 2021. (Eunjin Cheon, Richard D Mattes, Perceptual Quality of Non-esterified Fatty Acids Varies with Fatty Acid Chain Length, Chemical Senses, Volume 46, 2021, bjab023, https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjab023)

### Keywords

Fat taste, fatty acids, sour taste, sour adaptation, taste quality

Author Contribution: EC contributed to the design of the trial, tested participants, analyzed the data and prepared the first draft of the manuscript. RM conceived of the project, secured funding, contributed to study design and analysis and revised drafts of the manuscript.

### **Abbreviations:**

NEFA: nonesterified fatty acids gLMS: generalized labeled magnitude scale DRK: Delayed rectifying potassium channels GPCR: G-protein coupled receptor

#### Abstract

Non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA) are effective taste stimuli. The quality they impart has not been well characterized. Sourness, and "fattiness" have been reported, but an irritation component has also been described and how these transition with gradations of aliphatic chain length has not been systematically studied. This study examined intensity and quality ratings of NEFA's ranging from C2 to C18. Oral sites and the time course of sensations were also monitored. Given all NEFA contain carboxylic acid moieties capable of donating hydrogen ions, the primary stimulus for sour taste, testing was conducted with and without sour adaptation to explore the contribution of sour taste across the range of NEFA. Short chain NEFA (C2-C6) were rated as predominantly sour, and this was diminished in C2 and C4 by sour adaptation. Medium chain NEFA (C8-C12) were rated as mainly irritating with long chain NEFA (C18) described mostly as bitter. The latter may reflect the lack of "fatty" lexicon to describe the sensation. Short chain NEFA were mostly localized to the anterior tongue and were of rapid onset. The sensation from medium chain NEFA was attributed to the lateral tongue while medium and long chain NEFA sensations were predominantly localized to the back of the tongue and throat and had a longer lag time. The findings indicate there is a systematic transition of NEFA taste quality and irritation with increments in chain length and this is consistent with multiple modes of transduction.

#### Introduction

Increasing evidence indicates that dietary fat can be detected, scaled for intensity and, to a limited degree, characterized for its quality by the sense of taste (289–297). The effective stimuli are non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA), defined by a terminal carboxyl group with various aliphatic chain lengths (294). Chain length is a primary determinant of the sensory qualities of NEFA (294,298). There is a strong consensus that NEFA's with chain lengths of 2-6 carbons are predominantly sour. Medium-chain NEFAs (C10, C12) reportedly impart a predominantly "scratchy" sensation (292) likely reflecting trigeminal activation. The sensation evoked by longer chain NEFA (C18:1, C18:2, C18:3, C20:4) is more complex. Some work indicates these fatty acids impart a mixture of "scratchy" and "fatty" sensations with greater sensitivity (lower threshold) to the fatty note (292). Other work used a perceptual mapping approach that does not require the use of semantic labels (294). The latter was not designed to capture the irritancy component, but

documented the quality imparted by a medium (C10) and two long-chain fatty acids (C18:1; C18:2) was differentiated from prototypical stimuli for sweet sour, salty, bitter and umami sensations.

A more definitive characterization of the sensations imparted by fatty acids has not been reported. An improved description would facilitate better identification of its effective stimuli and likely receptors; help elucidate the role of long-chain NEFA's in the flavor profile of foods containing them; and contribute to the evidence base that the "taste" of fatty acids is or is not a primary taste quality. Given the clear sour signal generated by short-chain fatty acids and ability of all NEFA's to donate hydrogen ions, one hypothesis holds that fatty acids of longer chain length retain a sour component. This study examined taste intensity ratings of NEFA's ranging from C2 to C18 with or without sour adaptation to explore this possibility. It was expected that sour adaptation would blunt the perceived intensity of long-chain NEFA and/or alter their sensory quality if sourness is responsible in whole or part for the sensation from these fatty acids. To explore the latter, we analyzed the self-reported sensation quality descriptions of the range of NEFA's by participants via NVivo 12 software. Finally, our pilot studies revealed taste intensity ratings systematically differed before and after expectorating NEFA samples of varying chainlength and that the fatty acid taste sensation was stronger at the back of the mouth than other locations in the oral cavity. Thus, we also quantified taste intensity ratings at different locations (front of the tongue, side of the tongue, back of the tongue, and back of the mouth) before and after expectorating the range of NEFA's to gain further understanding of the time course and sitespecificity of the sensation.

#### Materials and methods

### **Participants**

Participants were recruited through public announcements. Eligibility criteria included: 18 to 64 years of age, self-reported normal taste function, good health, and no known allergies or sensitivities to study stimuli. Demographic information was provided by a questionnaire, and weight and height were measured.

#### Procedures

Participants were tested once per week in 2-h sessions over 2 weeks with fasting 2-h prior to each visit. The experiment entailed two sets of taste intensity ratings without (Test A) or with (Test B) sour taste adaptation. The order of testing procedures was randomized. All responses were recorded via RedJade Online Sensory Software. For test A, participants rinsed their mouth with distilled water for 15 seconds and held one of the eight solutions in their mouth for 15 seconds or one of the solid fatty acids for 2 minutes. Then, they rated its taste intensity on a generalized labeled magnitude scale (gLMS, a logarithmic scale used in sensory studies (299)) and chose one or more oral locations (front of the tongue, side of the tongue, back of the tongue, back of the mouth) as the predominant site of sensation on a provided picture before and after expectorating. They were also asked to retain the quality of the sensation in their memory. They rinsed their tongues thoroughly with 1% ethanol solution for 15 seconds and distilled water for an additional 15 seconds after expectorating the solution. They then masticated about 3 g of unsalted saltine cracker and rinsed their tongue thoroughly again with 1% ethanol and distilled water for 15 seconds. Finally, they described the sensation quality of the sample (without prompts). They then rested for 1 minute and repeated this procedure with the balance of the samples. For test B, participants followed the same procedure but with sour taste adaptation. For sour taste adaptation, the participants held 0.0149 M acetic acid (same concentration as the test sample) in their mouth for 5 seconds and rated its taste intensity. This was repeated with rating the sourness intensity on a gLMS until the intensity of the adapting stimulus was rated as less than weak. Once this criterion was met, participants sampled one of ten NEFA samples and repeated the same procedure as described for test A. They were asked to rest for 1 minute and readapted with the sour solution between each sample. Participants wore nose clips while tasting the samples, and all samples were served in opaque cups with lids. All procedures were approved by Purdue University's Human Subjects Institutional Review Board.

#### Samples

Ten non-esterified fatty acids of graded chain length were tested. These included: Acetic acid (C2), butyric acid (C4), hexanoic acid (C6), octanoic acid (C8), decanoic acid (C10), lauric acid (C12), palmitic acid (C16), stearic acid (C18), oleic Acid (C18:1), and linoleic acid (C18:2).

All were food-grade and purchased from Sigma Aldrich. The blank was prepared by adding 1% sucrose esters, 0.01% disodium-EDTA, 0.01% TBHQ, and 0.05% xanthan gum to distilled water, and mixing with an IKA T18 digital ULTA UTRRAX at 14000 rpm for 5 minutes. Sucrose esters (Modernist Pantry), tert-butylhydroquinone (TBHQ, Aldrich), ethanol (200 proof, Fisher Scientific), disodium EDTA (Sigma) were all food-grade and purchased from commercial vendors. Xanthan Gum (Bob's Red Mill brand), and unsalted saline crackers (Meijer brand) were purchased from local grocers, and the same batch was used for all study procedures. Blank solutions sat overnight to hydrate the xanthan gum fully. This blank was used as a base solution for all samples except for palmitic acid and stearic acid, as the melting points of these compounds were higher than room temperature, so they were solids. Liquid samples were provided as 15 ml and solid samples were provided as 2 g solid portions. Samples were prepared on the day of the experiment. The blank was homogenized at 14000 rpm for 5 minutes and microwaved for 1 minute to reach the lauric acid (C12) melting temperature (43.2 °C). Solutions were prepared by adding each NEFA to the heated blank solution and mixed at 14000 rpm for 10 minutes under  $N_2$  to minimize oxidation. All liquid sample solutions were prepared and stored in amber bottles to reduce exposure to light and were held at 40°C to prevent solidification of solutions during the experiment. However, each liquid solution was cooled to room temperature before providing it to participants (test solution temperature: 26-27°C). The solid samples were provided at room temperature. The rinsing solutions were 1% ethanol and distilled water. Samples were assigned random 3-digit codes. Table 1 lists the concentrations of each NEFA. Concentrations were selected based on pilot work indicating the sensations were comparable in taste intensity (Supplementary Data 1). This was determined by having different participants taste five concentrations of each fatty acid in random order and rate the intensity of each on a gLMS. The regression line comparing intensity ratings and sample concentrations was computed, and the concentration corresponding to "moderate intensity" was selected for the test concentration.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

SAS 9.4 was used for statistical analysis. Continuous data are reported as mean $\pm$ SEM and categorical data as n (%). The criterion for statistical significance was p<0.05, 2-tailed. The taste intensity ratings were analyzed by two-way repeated measures ANOVA to determine the effect of sour taste adaptation and time of ratings (before vs. after expectorating sample) on taste intensity

ratings. Text descriptions were analyzed using NVivo 12 software. It identified words that were used in the sensation descriptions and quantified the reported frequency of each descriptor. Words not related to the sensation (e.g., the, a, I, think, like, etc.) were excluded manually. Associations between age, BMI, weight, height, fat mass or fat mass % with intensity ratings were examined by Pearson correlation and the association between gender and intensity ratings was explored by Polyserial correlation. Descriptors were categorized into either sour, bitter, spicy, other sensation groups. For example, terms like acidic and lemon were classified into the sour taste description group. Fatty acids were classified according to chain-length: short (C:2-C:6) -, medium (C:8-C:12)-, and long (C16-C:20). The percentages of descriptor group usage were compared among the three fatty acid groups using one-way ANOVA for each descriptor group, followed by post hoc analysis using Tukey's test for correction of multiple testing if there was a significant difference in descriptors among the three fatty acid groups using chi-square analyses because these data were categorical.

#### Results

Thirty-eight adults (male=16 women=22, mean age±SE =  $26\pm1.6$  yr) participated. They had a mean BMI of  $25.6\pm0.9$  kg/m<sup>2</sup> and body fat% of  $25.5\pm1.8$  %. There was no sex, age, BMI, weight, height, fat mass, or fat mass% difference in taste intensity ratings (p > 0.05).

#### **Overall Taste Intensity Ratings**

The taste ratings with and without sour adaption are shown in Figure F1. There was no interaction between sour adaptation status and time of sensation ratings (before vs. after expectorating) for any sample (two-way ANOVA– C2, p = 0.2297; C4, p=0.9398; C6, p=0.2995; C8, p=0.5025; C10, p=0.8515; C12, p=0.2181; C18:1, p=0.9584; C18:2, p=0.3507). There was a significant reduction of taste intensity response following adaptation compared with no adaptation for C2 (p<0.001) and C4 (p=0.038). No significant differences were observed in comparisons for the other fatty acid samples (p>0.05). As expected, the two solid samples (C16, C18) were rated less than 'weak' regardless of sour adaptation.

The results of the taste ratings before and after expectorating a sample are provided in Figure F2. Overall, taste intensity ratings before expectorating a sample were significantly greater than after expectoration with short-chain fatty acids (C2, C4, C6) (C2 - p=0.0037, C4 - p=0.002, C6 - p<0.0001) while taste intensity ratings after expectorating a sample were significantly greater in medium- (C10, C12), and long-chain fatty acids (C18:1, C18:2) (C10 p<0.0001, C12 p=0.0080, C18:1 p=0.0006, C18:2 p=0.0002) compared to before expectoration. Without adaptation, the taste intensity before expectorating a sample was greater for short-chain fatty acids (C2 - p=0.0031, C4 - p=0.0490, and C6 - p<0.001) while the taste intensity after expectorating a sample was greater with C10 (p=0.0008) a medium-chain NEFA and among the long-chain NEFA's (C18:1 - p=0.0096, and C18:2 - p=0.0001). With adaptation, the taste intensity before expectorating a sample was greater in medium- (C10 - p=0.0023) while the taste intensity after expectorating a sample to taste intensity after expectorating a sample was greater in the long-chain NEFA's (C18:1 - p=0.0096, and C18:2 - p=0.0001). With adaptation, the taste intensity before expectorating a sample was greater in short-chain fatty acids (C4 - p=0.0114, and C6 - p=0.0023) while the taste intensity after expectorating a sample was greater in medium- (C10 - p=0.0014, C12 - p=0.0123) and the long-chain fatty acid C18:1 (p=0.0212). The solid samples showed no difference between before and after expectorating samples.

#### **Text Quality Description**

A total 874 words related to taste and irritancy were recorded. Five hundred ninety-eight distinct words were identified, with 199 descriptors actually related to taste or irritancy. Terms related to tasteless (21.1%) (e.g., no taste, tasteless, not detectable, can't tell, etc.) and terms accounting for less than 5% of a particular sensation quality (e.g., salty, savory) were categorized into an 'other' group (33.2%). The descriptors used predominantly were "sour" (22.4 %), "bitter" (10.9%), "spicy" (33.5%) related. Because over 90% of the descriptors were "tasteless" for the solid samples (C16, 18), they were excluded from further analyses. As shown in Figure F3 and Figure F4, there were significant differences in the incidence of "sour", "spicy", and "bitter" descriptors used among the three NEFA groups (One-way ANOVA - sour p=0.02; spicy p=0.0153; bitter p=0.0027). Sour related words were used significantly more frequently for short-chain fatty acids (C2, C4, C6) compared to medium-chain fatty acids (C18:1, C18:2) (p=0.0186) and a trend for a difference between short- and long-chain fatty acids (p < 0.5870) (Figure F4 A). Medium-chain fatty acids elicited a greater incidence of spicy descriptors compared to short-(p=0.0159) and long-chain fatty acids (p=0.0477) (Figure F4 B). Descriptors related to bitterness

were more frequently used for long-chain fatty acids compared to short- (p=0.0042) and mediumchain fatty acids (p=0.0033) (Figure F4 C).

#### **Location of Taste Sensations**

As no descriptors were provided for the solid fatty acids (C:16, C:18), they were excluded from analyses related to sensation location. The locations of taste sensations used in the analyses were front, side, and back of the tongue as well as and back of the mouth which included the posterior roof of the mouth and throat. There was a "none" option for participants if they reported no taste sensation (short 9%, medium 3%, long 8%). Taste sensations on the front of the tongue were more frequently reported for short- (C2, C4, C6) (p<0.0001) and medium- (C8, C10, C12) chain fatty acids compared to long-chain (C18:1, C18:2) fatty acids (p<0.0001) (Figure F5). Medium-chain fatty acids were more frequently detected on the side of the tongue compared to short- (p<0.0001) and long-chain fatty acids (p=0.0076). Taste sensations from the back of the tongue were more frequent for medium- (p=0.0002) and long-chain fatty acids (p<0.0001) compared to short-chain fatty acids. Taste sensations at the back of the mouth were greater in medium- (p<0.0001) and long-chain fatty acids (p<0.0001) compared to short-chain fatty acids. Taste sensations at the back of the mouth were greater in medium- (p<0.0001) and long-chain fatty acids (p<0.0001) compared to short-chain fatty acids.

Fatty acids	Molarity
Acetic acid	0.0149 M
Butyric acid	0.0306 M
Hexanoic acid	0.0258 M
Octanoic acid	0.0361 M
Decanoic acid	0.0511 M
Lauric acid	0.0734 M
Oleic acid	0.6833 M
Linoleic acid	0.0428 M

Table F 1. Concentrations of fatty acids for liquid samples.



Figure F 1. Taste intensity ratings with without or sour adaptation (mean  $\pm$  SEM; \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.001).



Figure F 2. The taste intensity ratings before (bars with no pattern) and after (slashed bars) expectorating samples without and with sour adaption (mean ± SEM; \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001). Sample solutions are shown in graph A–J: (A) with C2 solution, (B) with C4 solution, (C) with C6 solution, (D) with C8 solution, (E) with C10 solution, (F) with C12 solution, (G) with C18:1 solution, (H) with C18:2 solution, (I) with C16 solid sample, and (J) with C18 solid sample.</li>



Figure F 3. The percent of sensation descriptors (sour, bitter, spicy, other) for 10 NEFA samples varying from C2 to C18.



Figure F 4. Sensation descriptors for short-, medium-, and long-chain fatty acids. (A) "Sour"-related words, (B) "Spicy"-related words, and (C) "Bitter"-related words (mean ± SEM; \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01



Figure F 5. Percent of sensation responses from 4 locations (back of the mouth, back of the tongue, side of the tongue, and front of the tongue) and none in short-, medium-, and long-chain NEFA (mean %, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001, \*\*\*P < 0.001).

#### Discussion

Fatty acids are signaling molecules throughout the body (300). Numerous evidence supports the efficacy of NEFA as effective taste stimuli in both rodents and humans (289–297,301). However, the taste quality of fatty acids is poorly defined and differs based on chain-length (292,294). The quality of long chain NEFA is subtle and, to-date, defined primarily only as different from the commonly identified basic taste sensations (294). The present study sought to more positively characterize the oral sensation of fatty acids. It was hypothesized that there may be a sour contribution since all fatty acids have a carboxyl group capable of releasing H<sup>+</sup> ions, the effective stimulus for activation of the Otop1 channel on taste receptor cells (302,303).

To explore the sensation quality, the taste intensity of 10 fatty acids ranging in alkyl chain length from C2 to C18 was determined with and without sour adaption. Adaptation to sourness was expected to blunt a potential sour contribution to each of the NEFA tested. As expected, there was a significant reduction in the sensation intensity of the short-chain fatty acids, acetic acid (C2), and butyric acid (C4). It was also predicted that hexanoic (C6) would be rated less intense following sour adaptation, but this was not observed. Based on the sensation quality analysis, 43% of descriptors for C6 were "sour" related words, 33% were "spicy" related words, and 8% were "bitter" related words. In contrast, for C2 and C4 fatty acids, no non-sour quality was reported by more than 20% of respondents. Thus, C6 may be at a transition point with less distinct sourness and growing contributions of other qualities that dominated ratings under the conditions of this trial. Additionally, acetic and butyric acids are more water soluble than hexanoic (Small 1992); potentially contributing to their greater efficacy as sour taste stimuli. There was no statistically significant difference in taste intensity for NEFA's with chain lengths longer than C6 attributable to adaptation. This suggests sourness is not a significant contributor to the intensity of medium and long-chain fatty acids.

Previous work indicated that medium-chain fatty acids (C8, C10, C12) evoke scratchy sensations as measured by thresholds (292). The present findings confirm these reports with suprathreshold stimuli and, given the irritancy nature of the sensation, suggest these fatty acids are more effective somatosensory stimuli than gustatory. 'Spicy' related words accounted for about 80% of C8 and C10 descriptors and about 50% of C12 descriptors. C12 may be another sensory transition point NEFA. Other descriptor groups accounted for less than 15% of the quality. It is

reported that medium-chain fatty acids are also detected under capsaicin desensitization (304). Thus, the irritancy of medium-chain fatty acids may also reflect activation of a receptor different from the TRPV1 receptor such as two-pore-domain potassium channels (KCNK3, KCNK9, and KCNK19) (305).

In the concentrations used, the long chain fatty acids were characterized by a blend of sour, bitter and irritancy terms. Sourness contributed only 26% and 19% of the sensation for C18:1 and C18:2 respectively. The predominant reported sensation was bitterness comprising 33% and 38% of the overall quality. As reported previously (292) spiciness was also present and added 23% and 25% of the quality for C18:1 and C18:2 respectively. Each of the other descriptors represented less than 5% of the total. Thus, in this study, there was no clear representation of "fatty." One interpretation of this observation is that the quality uniqueness reported previously (294) reflects the complexity of the sensation (i.e., mixture of bitter and irritancy) rather than a single unique quality. Alternatively, as hypothesized previously, the generally negative terms used were applied to describe an unpleasant sensation in the absence of a clear, commonly accepted descriptive term. A third possible explanation is that the present study may not have used an effective stimulus. In prior work, it was noted that the "fatty" quality was present only in a vehicle that contributed viscosity to the stimulus and that the sensation may stem from a combination of gustatory and somatosensory inputs (292). This may be the case or the compound used in the vehicle to mask viscosity, lubricity, mouthfeel sensations could also alter solution stability and effective free fatty acid availability (298). Further study will be required to differentiate between all of these hypotheses.

An anatomical taste map is largely discounted (306). However, spatial variation in intensity ratings (307,308) and onset/decay times (309) may still hold. The fatty acids tested in this trial were all detected in all regions of the oral cavity but varied in intensity and time course according to chain length. Medium- and long-chain fatty acids were predominantly detected at the back of the mouth or on the back of the tongue compared to short-chain fatty acids which were localized more to the anterior tongue. Numerous putative fatty acid receptors may exist which vary in ligand specificity and distribution across the oral cavity (292,310–313). Lack of detailed knowledge of this is a substantive gap in understanding of the sensations attributable to fatty acids in the oral cavity.

Taste intensity ratings also varied systematically with NEFA chain length. Ratings were stronger for short-chain fatty acids (C2, C4, C6) before expectorating compared to intensity ratings after expectorating these samples while medium- (C10, C12) and long-chain fatty acids (C18:1, C18:2) showed greater intensity after expectoration. This pattern of results indicates that the taste impression of short-chain fatty acids is rapid and, consistent with prior work, acute (314). The short duration of sensation may stem from greater sensitivity to salivary buffering (315). The longer latency to peak intensity for medium and long-chain fatty acids may be due to different transduction mechanisms and/or interactions with salivary compounds that may delay or block the binding of alkyl chains of fatty acids to their receptors (315–317). It is well established that von Ebner's gland secretion of organic transporter proteins may enable detection of hydrophobic molecules by facilitating their access to taste receptors (316,318). In that fatty acids are amphipathic, perhaps, NEFA with long alkyl chains require transport to receptors in the circumvallate papillae resulting in delayed onset of sensation. It has also been suggested that increased ATP release by long chain NEFA taste transduction signaling leads to serotonin secretion resulting in increased signaling duration (319,320). The present observed differences in onset time for fatty acids of varying chain length in different regions of the oral cavity also support the possibility of multiple transduction mechanisms.

The present study has several limitations. First, the participants did not have a lexicon to describe the quality of long-chain free fatty acids and the stimuli were novel. Pre-test training to improve familiarity and development of a descriptive vocabulary could improve the sensitivity, specificity and accuracy of responses. Second, there are multiple reports that responses to NEFA are non-normal (321–323). This may be because of learning, genetic and/or recent dietary effects (296,322,324–326) Participants in this trial were not recruited based on these potential confounding effects. This would have reduced study power by adding variability to responses. Third, the mechanism of sour taste transduction has yet to be fully resolved (302,327,328) so it is possible the approach of adapting to a single NEFA (acetic acid) may not have fully captured the role of sourness of FA responses. Fourth, we asked participants to rate the taste intensity of samples, but it is possible they reported the overall sensation intensity (i.e., taste and irritancy). It now appears NEFA have complex qualities and, if true, it would be useful to quantify the contribution of each component. This may be best approached with panelists trained to evaluate the sensory qualities of fatty acids. Lastly, we did not test a range of NEFA concentrations, and this could be

revealing as different receptors may be recruited at different concentrations (i.e., role of GPCR 120 versus CD36) (293).

In summary, the present findings indicate that fatty acids have distinct sensory qualities that range from sour to scratchy to bitterness with increasing chain length. The sour component for the short-chain fatty acids tested was demonstrated through adaptation effects, perceptual self-reports by participants, and distinct topical and temporal specificity. In contrast, there was little overlap in these outcomes between long and short-chain NEFA, indicating the basis of the sensations they impart is likely distinct and partly based on a sourness gradient. Long-chain NEFA were mostly rated as bitter, but it remains unclear if this is a default term for an unpleasant sensation or a true bitter perception. The predominant sensation of medium-chain NEFA was irritancy suggesting they most effectively activate the trigeminal system, though there was some overlap in spatial and temporal properties with long-chain NEFA. These observations suggest the involvement of multiple receptors for the range of NEFA detectable to humans – sour for short chain; trigeminal for medium chain and fat or a mixture of receptors for long-chain NEFA.

### VITA

# **Eunjin Cheon**

Department of Nutrition Science, Purdue University 700 West State St., Rm G4, West Lafayette, IN 47907-2059

# **EDUCATION**

2017-2022	<b>Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.)</b> in <i>Nutrition Science</i>
(anticipated)	(Interdepartmental Nutrition Program & Ingestive Behavior Research Program)
	(Dietetic Program in Nutrition and Dietetics)
	Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, USA.
	<b>Dissertation</b> : "Appetite Measurement and Management"
	Primary advisor: Dr. Richard D. Mattes, PhD, MPH, RD

2012 - 2017Bachelor of Science (B.S.) in Food & Nutrition Sciences<br/>Seoul National University, Seoul, South Korea.<br/>Primary advisor: Dr. Hoonjeong Kwon, PhD, RD

### **RESEARCH EXPERIENCE**

### Graduate Research Assistant

### Sensory & Ingestive Behavior Research (Human model)

### **2019 – Present** Research Topic: *Appetite Measurement and Management* (Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, USA - Dr. Richard D. Mattes Lab)

- Developed appetite concept training materials including training videos, comprehensive questionnaires, and protocol documentation to improve the validity of appetite measurement
- Tested efficacy of appetite concept training by executing a 9-week randomized controlled trial with five different preloads
- Investigated variability of appetite sensations within and between individuals by conducting a 17-week observational study
- Communicated with 200 + recruited participants and collected and managed study progress using Qualtrics
- Characterized attributes of appetite variation by analyzing data through time series analysis and multiple regression using SAS

# **2018 – 2021** Research Topic: *Fat Taste Spectrum Depending on Chain-Length* (Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, USA - Dr. Richard D. Mattes Lab)

• Designed and conducted sensory studies by evaluating quantitative and qualitative aspects of fat taste.

	<ul> <li>Performed sample formulation studies to develop stable fat solutions not interfering with taste quality and fat oxidation.</li> <li>Screened 100 + people and trained 40 recruited participants on sensory tests to collect valid data.</li> <li>Collected, analyzed, and interpreted data to get new insights on taste qualities of fats with different chain-length using Red Jade, SAS, and NVivo software.</li> </ul>
2018 Sep. – 2018. Dec.	Research Topic: Systemic Review and Meta-analysis of the Effect of Portion Size and Ingestive Frequency on Energy Intake and Body Weight Among Adults. (Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, USA - Dr. Richard D. Mattes Lab)
	<ul> <li>Conducted systematic review using six electronic databases</li> <li>Collaborated with 10+ researchers for study selection, quality rating, data extraction and statistical analysis</li> </ul>

### **Biochemical & Molecular Research (Animal model)**

2017 – 2018Research Topic: Dlk1 Expression Regulation on Dedifferentiated Liposarcoma<br/>(DDLPS) of Notch1 Activation Mouse.<br/>(Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, USA - Dr. Shihuan Kuang Lab)

- Designed animal study with genetically modified mice.
- Generated and managed genetical modified mice breeding and performed mice dissection, primary cell-culture, vector recombination expression and liposarcoma (lipid cancer) transplantation

### Undergraduate Research Assistant

### Clinical & Eating Behavior Research (Human model)

2016 - 2017	<ul> <li>Research Topic: <i>Physiological Differences between Korean Diet and Western Diet</i></li> <li>(Seoul National University, Seoul, Republic of Korea - Dr. Dong-Mi Shin Lab supported by Korean Rural Development Administration)</li> </ul>
	Contribution: Sampling serum of PBMC and urine
2016 Mar. – 2016 May	Research Topic: <i>The Effects of Bisphenol A on Human Health</i> (Seoul National University, Seoul, Republic of Korea - Dr. Dong-Mi Shin Lab)
	Contribution: Literature review, NCBI GEO data deposit survey, Meta- analysis

### **Biochemical & Molecular Research (Animal Model)**

**2016 - 2017** Research Topic: *The Effect of Sweet Taste on Appetite Regulation with Hunger* (Seoul National University, Seoul, Republic of Korea - Dr. Dong-Mi Shin Lab supported by Seoul Nation University Undergraduate Research Program)

	Contribution: High-throughput microarray data analysis using Python, RT- qPCR measurement and analysis, Literature review, and Project budget management, Writing a funding proposal
2016 May – 2016 Dec.	Research Topic: Elucidating the Impact of Chronic Dehydration on Depression and Cognitive Function in Aged Mice (Seoul National University, Seoul, Republic of Korea - Dr. Dong-Mi Shin Lab)
	Contribution: Mice tail suspension test

### **Database Development**

2013 Sep. – 2013 Dec.	Research Topic: <i>Development of Naver World Food Encyclopedia Database</i> (Seoul National University, Seoul, Republic of Korea – Dr. Jihyun Yoon Lab collaborated with Naver Corporation)
	Contribution: Researching origins, stories, and recipes of world foods
2013. Jun - 2013. July	Research Topic: <i>Development of Food and Nutrient Database</i> (Seoul National University, Seoul, Republic of Korea – Dr. Jihyun Yoon Lab collaborated with Korea Health Industry Development Institute)
	Contribution: Converting unit of measurement, Measuring weight and volume of food

# **PUBLICATIONS**

### **Published Articles**

- 1. **Cheon, E.**, Davis L. A., Valicente V. M., Wang Y. & Mattes, R. D.\* (2022). Chapter 35: Obesity and Dietary Intake, Handbook of Obesity 5<sup>th</sup> edition, CRC Press (In process).
- Higgins, K. A.\*, Hudson, J.L., Hayes, A.M.R., Braun, E., Cheon, E., ... Mattes, R. D. Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis on the Effect of Portion Size and Ingestive Frequency on Energy Intake and Body Weight among Adults in Randomized Controlled Feeding Trials, Advances in Nutrition, Volume 13, Issue 1, January 2022, Pages 248–268 <u>DOI:</u> <u>10.1093/advances/nmab112</u>.
- 3. Cheon, E. & Mattes, R. D.\* (2021). Perceptual Quality of Nonesterified Fatty Acids Varies with Fatty Acid Chain Length, *Chemical Senses*, 46, bjab023. DOI:10.1093/chemse/bjab023.
- Cheon, E., Reister, E. J., Hunter, S. R., & Mattes, R. D.\* (2020). Finding the Sweet Spot: Measurement, Modification, and Application of Sweet Hedonics in Humans, *Journal of Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, nmab055. DOI: 10.1093/advances/nmab055.
- 5. Cheon, E.\*, Kazandjian, M., Jones, T., & Henry, B. (2020). Session 5: End of life feeding. *Physiology & behavior*, 224, 113049. DOI: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2020.113049.
- 6. Hunter, S. R., Reister, E. J., Cheon, E., & Mattes, R. D.\* (2019). Low calorie sweeteners differ

in their physiological effects in humans. Nutrients, 11(11), 2717. DOI: 10.3390/nu11112717

 Higgins, K., Hudson, J., Mattes, R.\*, Gunaratna, N., McGowan, B., Hunter, S., Braun, E., Reister, E., Cheon, E., ... & Couture, S. (2019). Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of the Effect of Portion Size and Ingestive Frequency on Energy Intake and Body Weight Among Adults in Randomized Controlled Trials (P08-007-19). *Current Developments in Nutrition*, 3(Supplement\_1), nzz044-P08. DOI: 10.1093/cdn/nzz044.P08-007-19

# **PROFESSIONAL PRESENTATIONS**

- Cheon, E., Mattes, R. D., "Fatty Acids Taste Intensity Ratings Before and After Sour Taste Adaptation", *ASN Annual Meeting*, 2020. Mar., Virtual Meeting (https://www.eventscribe.com/2020/ASN/).
- Cheon, E., Mattes, R. D., "Barriers of Ethical Food Labels to Encourage Consumption of the Sustainability Produced Foods", 8<sup>th</sup> Ingestive Behavior Research Center (IBRC) Conference, 2019. Sep., Purdue, U.S.
- 3. Cheon, E., Son, W., Shin, D., "Effects of Aspartame Consumption on Appetite Regulation through Modification of Hypothalamic Fatty Acid Metabolism in Mice", *51st International Conference of the Korean Nutrition Society*, 2016. Oct., Jeonju, Republic of Korea.
- 4. Cheon, E., Kim, Y., Shin, D., "Functions and Signalings of Retinoic Acid in Embryonic Development and Investigation of Actual Vitamin A Consumption of Korean Childbearing Females", *Undergraduate Graduation Conference*, 2015. Dec., Seoul, Republic of Korea.
- 5. Cheon, E., Kwon, H., "Physiological Effect of Coffee Consumption and Biological Active Quantity", Undergraduate Food and Nutrition Symposium, 2015. Dec., Seoul, Republic of Korea.

# **FUNDING & AWARD**

### Funding

08/15/2022- 12/23/2022	Bilsland Dissertation Fellowship Department of Nutrition Science, Purdue University Amount: <b>\$ 24,697</b>
08/16/2021 – Present	Research & Teaching Assistantship Department of Nutrition Science, Purdue University Amount: <b>\$20,706</b>
08/17/2020 – 08/15/2021	Research Assistantship Department of Nutrition Science, Purdue University Amount: <b>\$20,706</b>

05/18/2020 – 08/12/2019	Research & Teaching Assistantship Department of Nutrition Science, Purdue University Amount: <b>\$20,706</b>
08/15/2018 – 05/17/2020	Teaching Assistantship Department of Nutrition Science, Purdue University Amount: <b>\$20,706</b>
08/15/2017 – 08/14/2018	Lynn Fellowship (Students who receive admission to a PhD interdisciplinary program at Purdue are considered for the Lynn Fellowship) Purdue University Amount: <b>\$19,900</b>
04/25/2016 - 03/28/2017	Seoul National University Seoul Nation University Undergraduate Research Program Amount: <b>\$3,000</b>
06/01/2014 – 12/20/2016	Korea Student Aid Foundation National Scholarship for Science and Engineering Student Amount: <b>\$3,000</b> (Full scholarship)
Award	
05/06/2022	Purdue University Teaching Academy Graduate Teaching Award
10/21/2016	Best Poster Presentation Award in 51th International Conference of the Korean Nutrition Society Amount: <b>\$100</b>

# **TEACHING EXPERIENCE**

### **Teaching Certificate**

- Certificate of Foundations in College Teaching, Purdue University Center for Instructional Excellence in 2018 (https://www.purdue.edu/cie/CTDP/index.html)
- 2018 Certificate of Foundations in College Teaching, Purdue University Center for Instructional Excellence

### **Teaching Assistant**

2018 Fall NUTR 205: Food Science Teach 3-hour lab to 20 sophomore nutrition science students on chemical and physical changes of foods during processing, storage, and preparation with hands-on experiences. Generating quiz/exam questions related to teaching materials and grading with feedback.

- 2018 Fall NUTR 453: Food Chemistry 2019 Fall Teach 3-hour lab to 20 junior and senior nutrition science students on application of fundamental laws and concepts of chemistry, physics, and biology to foods and eating. Generating quiz/exam questions related to teaching materials and grading with feedback. 2019 Spring NUTR 436: Nutrition Assessment 2020 Spring Teach 3-hour lab to junior and senior nutrition science students on techniques 2022 Spring used to assess the nutrition status of individuals and groups in clinical, community and research settings including principles of anthropometry, biochemical, analysis, clinical assessment, and assessment of dietary intakes. Generating quiz/exam questions related to teaching materials and grading with feedback. 2019 Summer NUTR 437: Macronutrients and Metabolism 2020 Summer Leading discussion on metabolism of the macronutrients, carbohydrate, lipid and protein in humans integrating physiology, biochemistry, and nutrition with a focus on maintaining optimal health and preventing disease. Grading with feedbacks. **2019 Summer** NUTR 438: Micronutrients and Phytochemical Metabolism Leading discussion on regulation of micronutrients including vitamin, minerals, and phytochemical metabolisms. Generating quiz/exam questions related to teaching materials and grading with feedback. 2021 Fall NUTR 303: Essentials of Nutrition Teach 1-hour hybrid (face-to-face/virtual) lecture to about 100 students on basic nutrition and its application in meeting nutritional needs of all ages. Grading assignments with feedback and interacting with students in virtual discussion space (Packback). PRACTICAL EXPERIENCE
- 2015 2016 Practice in Dietetics at Seoul National University Hospital, Republic of Korea
   : Learning medical nutrition therapy in practice, Meal planning, and preparing for specific disease states, Assessing nutrition status, Communicating with patients.
- 2014 2015 Internship at KOFRUM (Korean Food Forum), Republic of Korea : Writing articles, Project design, and Assistant of public hearing for food product

# **CERTIFICATES & LICENSES**

 April 2022 ServSafe Food Protection Manager Certification National Restaurant Association Educational Foundation, United Sates
 2014 – 2015 Certificate of Foundations in College Teaching Center for Instructional Excellence, Purdue University

# **PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS**

- **2020 Present** Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics (AND)
- 2018 Present American Society for Nutrition (ASN)
- 2017 Present American Association for the Advancement of Science (AAAS)
- 2016 Present Korean Nutrition Society (KNS)

# **ENGAGEMENT & SERVICE**

2018 - 2020	Nutrition Science Graduate Student Organization (NSGSO)
	Social Chair
	- Organize social activities for nutrition department (Under/Graduate students, faculty, and staff) (Monthly Yoga class, Coffee & Bagels, Department Picnic, Thanksgiving Dinner)
	- Community engagement (Canned food donation to Food Bank)
2018 - 2020	Ingestive Behavior Research Center Graduate Student Association (IGSA)
	Social Chair
	Organize social activities for IGSA Members (Visit corn fields and farm)
2018 – 2020	<b>Volunteer of Science Night</b> hosted by PULSe (Purdue University Interdisciplinary Life Science Program)
	:Sharing the science knowledge with kids and their family using fun experiments who have low accessibility to learning sciences
2012 - 2014	<b>Volunteer of SNU (Seoul National University) Buddy</b> :Volunteering club for helping foreign students in Korea.